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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Magyar Telekom Telecommunication Public Limited Company
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Magyvar Telekom Telecommunication
Publie Limited Company (the “Company”) which comprise the statements of financial position as at
31 December 2018 (in which the total of statements of financial position is MHUF 1 075 go4), the
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (in which the total comprehensive
income for the year is MHUF 37 666 profit), the statements of cash flows, the statements of changes
in equity for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of the
significant accounting policies,

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
adopted by the EU and they have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
supplementary requirements of Act C of 2000 on Accounting (“Accounting Act”) relevant for the
annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee,
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordanee with Hungarian National Standards on Auditing (“HNSA™ and
with applicable laws and regulations in force in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements”
section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the applicable laws of Hungary, with the
Hungarian Chamber of Auditors’ Rules on ethics and professional conduct of auditors and on
disciplinary process and, for matters not regulated in the Rules, with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board (IESBA Code of Ethics)
and we also comply with further ethical requirements set out in these.

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Company, in the period from 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018, are disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements,

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to
the Company are in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in Hungary and that we have
not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5 of Regulation of the Furopean
Parliament and Committee No 537/2014 and Subsection (1) and (2) of Section 67/A of Act LXXV of
2007 on the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors, the Activities of Auditors, and on the Public Oversight
of Auditors.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Kényvvizsgald Kft., 1055 Budapest, Bajesy-Zsilinszky it 78,
T: +36 1 461 9100, F: +36 1 461 9115, www.pwe.com/hu
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Our andit approach
Overview
Overall materiality Overall materiality applied was MHUF 3 8oo, which is
approximately 2.5% of EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Taxes,
. | .. DEPTECIation and Amortizationy
Key Audit Matter Accuracy of revenue recognition due to complex billing

systems and adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts

with customers.
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
maldng assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our
audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among
other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to frand or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below.,
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole,

Materiality ______ MHUF38o0(2017:MHUFggo0)

Determination  Approximately 2.5% of the EBITDA.
Ratienale for the materiality We chose EBITDA as the benchmark because, in our view, it is
benchmark applied the benchmark against which the performance of the Company

is most commonly measured by users, and is a generally
accepted benchmark in the telecommunication industry.

We chose 2.5%, which is consistent with quantitative
materiality thresholds used for profit-oriented companies in
this sector. This is consistent with the basis for our materiality
caleulation in the previous year.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accuracy of revenue recognition due to
complex billing systems and adoption
of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers.

The accuracy of revenues recorded is an
inherent industry risk. This is because
telecommunication  billing  systems are
complex and process large volumes of data
with a combination of different products sold
and price changes during the year, through a
number of different systems.

The Company adopted IFRS 15 as at 1 January
2018, applying the medified retrospective
method. The Company opted for the portfolio
approach. The adoption resulted in a material
initial catch-up adjustment and required
booking of such amendments which invalve
management estimates and assumptions as
well.

Total revenue of the Company was MHUF 493
317. Detailed disclosures and related
accounting policies are in notes 2.1.1. and 18 of
the finanecial statements.

Other information: the business report

We evaluated the relevant IT systems and the
design of controls, and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the:

+ Capturing
transactions;

* Authorization of price changes and the input of
those to the billing systems;

s Calculation of amounts hilled to the customers;
and

» Monitoring of assumptions and judgements
related to IFRS 15, including those related to
contract assets, contract costs, and contract
liabilities.

and recording of revenue

We also tested a sample of items from the customer
hilling systems to the invoices raised and checked
these to the cash received from the eustomers. Our
testing included eustomer hills for both consumers
and corporate customers.

In respect of adoption of IFRS 15, we performed
detailed testing, on a sample basis, of the catch-up
adjustment as at the transition date, and of the
contract assets, contract costs, and contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2018.

Other information comprises the business report of the Company. Management is responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated business report in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting
Act and other relevant regulations. Our opinion on the financial statements expressed in the
“Opinion” section of our independent auditor’s report does not cover the business report.



e

pwc

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the business
report and, in doing so, consider whether the business report is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If based on our work performed we conclude that the business report is materially
misstated we are required to report this fact and the nature of the misstatement.

Based on the Accounting Act, it is also our responsibility when reading the business report to consider
whether the business report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting
Act and other relevant regulations, if any, and fo express an opinion on this and on whether the
business report is consistent with the financial statements.

Because the Company’s transferable securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of a
Member State of the European Economic Area, our opinion on the business report shall cover the
information prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, and state whether
the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B of the
Accounting Act has been provided.

As the Company is a public interest entity and the conditions in Paragraph a) and b) of Subsection (1)
of Section 95/C of the Accounting Act are met at the balance sheet date, the Company shall publish a
non-financial statement required by 95/C in its business report. In this respect, we shall state whether
the business report includes the non-financial statement required by Section 95/C of the Accounting
Act.

In our opinion, the 2018 business report of the Company, also including the information prepared
under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 65/B of the Accounting Act, is consistent with
the 2018 financial statements in all material respects, and the business report has been prepared in
accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act. As there is no other regulation preseribing
further requirements for the business report, we do not express an opinion in this respect.

We are not aware of any other material inconsistency or material misstatement in the business report,
therefore we have nothing to report in this respect.

We state that the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section
95/B of the Accounting Act has been provided. The business report includes the non-financial
staternent required by Subsection (1) of Section 95/C of the Accounting Act.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the [nternational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and to
prepare the financial statements in accordance with the supplementary requirements of the
Accounting Act relevant for the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting in the financial statements unless management either intends
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HNSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HNSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit, We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial staierments, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

« [Dvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the ecurrent period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonablv be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We were first appointed as auditors of the Company on 31 December 1991, Our appointment has been
renewed annually by shareholder resolutions representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement

appointment of 27 years.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Arpid Balazs.

Budapest, 27 February 2019

Ve

/”:__—_’{_ //’—‘7
Armin Krug Arpad Baldzs
Partner Statutory auditor
PricewaterhoydeCoopers Auditing Lid, Licenece number: 006931
1055 Budapgt, Bajesy-Zsilinszky it 78.
Licence Nughber: 001464
Nate:

Our report has been prepared in Hungarian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of
information, views or opinions, the Hungarian version of our report takes precedence over the
English version.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EGYUTT. VELED

HUF millions
Note 12.31.2017 12.31.2018
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,5 948 1,315
Trade receivable and other assets 4,5,12,18 110,694 138,219
Other current financial assets 4517 11,173 22,271
Current income tax receivable 6 189 33
Inventories 7 13,743 15,192
136,747 177,030
Assets held for sale 8 161 -
Total CUITENt ASSELS ..ivvececceeererrrrcrrnnreee e e e e e errsene e e e e e e rnneeeeeeeeennanns 136,908 177,030
Non currentassets
Property, plant and equipment 9 371,732 359,584
Intangible assets 10 378,630 379,986
Investments 11 131,500 132,665
Deferred tax assets 6 - -
Othernon current financial assets 4,518 19,775 22,458
Othernon current assets 12 128 4181
Total NON CUITENt ASSELS ....ueeeeeiiiiciieereee i i renre e e sssse e e e e e nnnns 901,765 898,874
o) LI T=T-T=Y 1,038,673 1,075,904
LIABILITIES
Currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 4 39,336 117,781
Other finanCial HADIIILIES ....vvvvmsvssvvseeesesssssmmssssssseessssssssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssenss 4,17 5,621 6,044
Trade payables 4 111,033 149,425
Currentincome tax payable 6 16 35
Provisions 13 2,312 2,270
Other current liabilities 14 28,783 26,956
187,101 302,511
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 8 - -
Total currentliabilities ......cccceeeiieeiiimmeieiiccc e 187,101 302,511
Non currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 4 231,647 123,350
Otherfinancial ADIIILIES . ssm—————n 417 44,783 45313
Deferred tax liabilities 6 12,358 15,789
Provisions 13 8,674 10,870
Othernon current liabilities 15 286 -
Total non current [iabilities ..........ccceemeeiiicciieeeee e 297,748 195,322
Total lHabilities ..ureriiiereriiirericrerericsre s e ssre s s ssee s e sse e s s ssse s e s nneessnnnes 484,849 497,833
EQUITY
Common stock 16 104,274 104,274
Capital reserves 16 25,078 23,359
Treasury stock 16 (27) (45)
Retained earnings 16 424,499 450,483
L0} 71 =Y [V 553,824 578,071
Total liabilitiesand €qUItY .......ccceeieereriririr e 1,038,673 1,075,904
Budapest, February 20, 2019 ‘f\ 7z
"/\\j /\ —

Tibor Rékasi
Chief Executive Officer, Board nber

= Y S -

ChsfFinancial Officer
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REVENUE .ceeeeeerccceereee s e eeeeee e e e ee e

Direct costs

Employee related expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Otheroperating expenses

Operating eXPeNSeS ....cccceeeeereeeereeerseesersenns

Other operating income

Operating profit .......cccceveveeerrevceerrssseeeeessnennns

Interest income

Interest expense

Otherfinancial expense-net

Netfinancial result........cccceveveerrciceerrrvseeeennnns

Results from investments

Profitbefore income taX.......ccccevreverrrcvnennenns

Income tax

Profitfor the year .....cccovvcevccnrccnnccensceenneen,

Other comprehensive income forthe year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share (EPS) information:

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding
(thousands) used for basic EPS

Average number of dilutive share options

(thousands

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding
(thousands) used for diluted EPS

Basic earnings per share (HUF)

Diluted earnings per share (HUF)

HUF millions
(except per share amounts)

Note 2017 2018
18 471,532 493,317
19 (174,583) (197,219)
20 (56,613) (56,868)
9,10 (87,847) (93,833)
21 (93,302) (92,842)
(412,345) (440,762)
22 5057 8,712
65,144 61,267
23 421 265
24 (13,342) (13,233)
25 (7,939) (3,930)
(20,860) (16,898)
26 10,717 4,166
55,001 48,535
6 (13,144) (10,869)
41,857 37,666
41,857 37,666
46,727 43,318
1,040,073 1,035,394
4585 6,074
1,044,658 1,041,468
27 4493 4184
27 4493 41.59

The accompanying Notesform an integral part of these Standalone Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

EGYUTT. VELED

HUF millions
Note 2017 2018
Cash flows from operatingactivities
Profitforthe year ... 41,857 37,666
Depreciation and amortization 87,847 93,831
Income tax expense 13,144 10,869
Net finance costs 10,239 13,251
Results from associated and joint venture COMPanies ... 97) (519)
Changein current assets (20,239) (20,795)
Changein provisions (1,405) 1,454
Changein liabilities carried as working capital 20,632 29,134
Income tax paid (7,821) (9,218)
Dividend received 7,753 4,066
Interest and other financial charges paid (19,492) (18,441)
Interest received 549 337
Othernon-cash items (1,675) (6,528)
Net cash generated from operatingactivities ........cccceeeereveerriinnns 131,292 135,107
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchase of property plant and equipment (PPE) and intangible assets 28 (75,097) (74,882)
Purchase of subsidiaries 29 (1,789) -
Sale of otherfinancial assets 5,639 6,946
Purchase of other financial assets (3,984) (2,150)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and other investments ............. 26 35,924 -
Proceeds from disposal of PPE and intangible assets 2,288 10,053
Net cash used in investing activities .......ccceceeeerrieeennne (37,019) (60,033)
Cash flows fromfinancing activities
Dividends paid (26,081) (26,068)
Proceeds from loans and other borrowings 4 106,841 82,122
Repayment of loans and other borrowings 4 (169,310) (126,797)
Repayment of other financial liabilities 4 (5,285) (3,928)
Treasury share purchase (750) (36)
Net cash used in financing activities ......cceeeveeerrrrererrsseeersvsneeresanes (94,585) (74,707)
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents ...
Change in cash andcash equivalents ........ccccceerrveerrrveeerecieennnns (312) 367
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,260 948
Cash and cash equivalents, end of vear 4 948 1315

The accompanying Notesform an integral part of these Standalone Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGESIN EQUITY

Balance atJanuary 1,2017

Dividend (f)

EGY(TT. VELED

Equity settled share based transactions (c)

Treasury share purchase (g) ......—————-
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Profit or 0SS ..cceeeeeeieeeeeee e
Total comprehensive iINCOME .......cceeveeuceiiiiieieenicee s
Balance at December 31, 2017......ccooeeeeeeeceeerreeeeeeeeeeeeeeees

Adoption of new standards (IFRS 15, IFRS 9) (h)

Revised balance atJanuary 1, 2018
Dividend (f)

Equity settled share based transactions(c)

Treasury share purChase (g) .....m———————-

Transferring the result of MRP2.0 program (i)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Profit or 0SS ..oceveeeeieeeeeee e

Total comprehensive iINCOME ........ceeevnieeeiiiieieinccce s
Balance at December 31, 2018........cccooeeceerrerriecceeeeeeeeee

Of which treasury StOCK .......ccouvieieimerrmiiiieieer e

Shares of common stock outstanding

at December 31, 2018........ceuuuuurminerinieiiaes

The accompanying Notesform an integral part of these Standalone Financial Statements.

pieces HUF millions
Capital reserves
Shares of Common Additional paid Reserve for equity Treasury Retained Total Equity
common stock (a) stock in capital settled share stock earnings
(a) (b) based (d) (e)
transactions
(c)

1,042,742,543 104,274 27,379 (260) (55) 408,708 540,046
- - (26,067) (26,067)
(2,041) 7 - (1,264)
(749) - (749)
(2,041) 28 (26,067) (28,080)
- 41,857 41,857
- - - - - 41,857 41,857
1,042,742,543 104,274 27,379 (2,301) (27) 424,499 553,824
) . . 3 . 14,476 14,476
1,042,742,543 104,274 27,379 (2,301) (27) 438,975 568,300
- - - - - (26,068) (26,068)
(1,809) 18 - (1,791)
- (36) (36)
90 (90) -
(1,719) (18) (26,158) (27,895)
- - 37,666 37,666
- - - 37,666 37,666
1,042,742,543 104,274 27,379 (4,020) (45) 450,483 578,071

(103,585)

1,042,638,958
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NOTESTO THE STANDALONE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(a)

(h)

(i)

The total amount of issued shares of common stock is 1,042,742,543 (each with a nominal value of HUF 100) as of December 31,
2018. The number of authorized ordinary shares on December 31, 2018is 1,042,742,543.

Voting Rights and Voting

The holder of eachSeries “A” ordinary share shall be entitled to one vote at the General Meeting of the Company. The names of
shareholders and nomineeswho intend to participate at the General Meeting shall be registered in the Share Register on the
second working day priorto the starting date of the General Meeting. The General Meeting shall adopt its resolutions by a simple
majority vote except for resolutions on issues listed in the Articles of Associations, whichshall require at least a three-quarters
majority of the votes cast. There isno limitation on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or exercise voting
rights on the ordinaryshares. There isno limitation of voting rights for ordinary shares in the Articles of Association. The Company
has no shares assigned with special management rights.

Transfer of Shares

For the transfer of dematerialized share acontract fortransfer or other legal title is required and, inthat context, the transferor's
securities account shall be debited and the new holder'ssecurities account shall be credited with the transferred dematerialized
shares. The holder of dematerialized share shall be considered the holder of the securities account on which the dematerialized
shares are recorded.

The transfer of any Series “A” ordinary shares isnot bound to any restriction or attainment of agreement.

Additional paidin capital represents the amount above the nominal value of the shares that wasreceived by the Company during
capital increases.

Reserve for equity settled share based transactionsincludes the share-based payment expenses accrued in this reserve related to
share settled compensation programs. The December 31, 2018 and 2017 balances of this reserve represent the amount reserved
for the Share MatchingPlans (Note 20.1.2.).

Treasury stock represents the cost of the Company’s own shares repurchased. When the Company purchases itsequity shares,
the consideration transferred including any attributable incremental external costsare deducted from the Equity of the owners of
the parent as Treasury stock until they are re-sold or cancelled. When such shares are subsequently sold, thetreasury share
balance decreases by the original cost of the shares, thereby increasing equity, while any gains or losses are also recognized in
equity (Retained eamings). Treasurystock transactionsare recorded on the transaction date.

Retained earnings include the accumulated and undistributed profit of the Company. The distributable reserves of the Company
at December 31, 2018 amounted to approximately HUF 450 billion (HUF 424 billionat December 31, 2017). Untied retained
earnings is available for the payment of dividends which contains retained earnings fromthe last financial year (Note 16.1).

Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholdersare recognised as a liabilityand debited against Retained eamings in the
periodin which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

In 2018 Magyar TelekomPlc. purchased 4,251,418 ordinaryshares (2017:4,534.758 shares) forthe purpose of the new
employee incentive program (Note 20.1.2.5).In 2016 Magyar TelekomPlc. purchased 1,252,616 ordinaryshares forthe purpose
ofthe Employee Share Ownership Program (ESOP) (Note 20.1.2.4), of which the ESOP sold 25,764 shares due to the revision of
the number of the participants in the program. These share transactions were carried out on the Budapest Stock Exchange
through UniCredit Bank Hungary Zrt., as investmentservice provider.

Asof January 1, 2018, the Companyadopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15. Details of the adoption are disclosedin Note 1.2 and 2.1.1.

Transferring the result of ESOP2.0 programinto Retained earnings.

Together with the approval of thesefinancial statementsfor issue, the Board of Directors of the Company proposes a dividend
distribution intotal HUF 26,068 million to be approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Company in April 2019.1n 2018 Magyar
Telekom Plc. paid HUF 26,068 million dividend.

The accompanying Notesform an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTESTO THE STANDALONE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

1 GENERALINFORMATION

1.1 About the Company

Magyar Telekom Telecommunications Public Limited Company (the Company or Magyar Telekom) isthe principal provider of
telecommunicationsservicesin Hungary. These servicesare subject to various telecommunications regulations.

The Company was incorporated in Hungaryon December 31, 1991 and commenced businesson January 1, 1992. The Company's
registered office isKonyves Kalman kérat36., 1097 Budapest, Hungary. Name of the Court of Registration and the registration
number of the Company: Metropolitan Court as Court of Registration, Cg.01-10-041928.

Magyar Telekomis listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange and its shares are traded on the Budapest Stock Exchange. Magyar
Telekom’s American Depository Shares (ADSs) each representing five ordinary shares were alsotraded on the New York Stock
Exchange until November 12, 2010, whenthe ADSswere delisted. Magyar Telekomterminated the registration of its shares and ADSs
inthe US in February 2012. The Companymaintainsits American Depositary Receiptprogram on aLevel | basis.

The ultimate contralling parent of the Company is Deutsche Telekom AG (DT or DT AG) who fully consolidates Magyar Telekom
Group. Deutsche TelekomEuropeB.V. (Stationsplein 8, 6221 BT Maastricht, the Netherlands), a member of the Deutsche Telekom
Group, isthe direct owner of 59.21% of the Company’s issued shares and voting rights.

The consolidated financial statementsof DT AG are available at DT AG’s website (www.telekom.com/en).

The Company’s Board of Directors (the Board) accepted the submission of these Standalone Financial Statements of the Company on
February 20, 2019 to the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the owners, which is authorized to approve these financial statements, but
also has the rightto require amendments before approval. Asthe controlling shareholders are represented in the Board of the
Company that accepted the submission of thesefinancial statements, the probability of any potential change required by the AGM is
extremely remote, and has never happened in the past

Persons authorized to sign the annual report:
Tibor Rékasi - Chief Executive Officer, member of the Board (residence: Szentendre)
Janos Szabd - Chief Financial Officer (residence: Budapest)

In Magyar TelekomPlc., the accounting servicesare coordinated by Melinda Modok (certificate number: 18128. Areaof speciality:
IFRS entrepreneurial activity. Status: registered. Registration number: MK 199521, Residence: Budapest).

The Company is subject to compulsory audit. The Company’sauditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers Konywizsgald Kft. (its register
number is 01-09-063022, itstaxationnumberis 10256161-2-44), the responsible personfor carrying out the audit is Arpad Balazs
(membership number at Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 006931).

The Standalone Financial Statements of Magyar Telekom Plc. and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Magyar Telekom Group
are available atthe Company's registered office and on its corporate website.

Magyar Telekom's corporate website is: www. telekom.hu
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1.2 Financial information - impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15

As a major change comparedto 2017, the Company adopted IFRS9 and IFRS 15 as of January 1, 2018. The following tables showthe
amounts by which each financial statement lineitem is affected in2018 due to the application of the new standards. We show the
impact of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards together since that of IFRS 9 accounting standard is not significant. For further
details please seeNote 2.1.1. 2018 figures are presented in accordance with the new standardsin the Notes to the Financial
Statements, whilethe 2017 comparatives are presented as in the previous yearin accordance with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 transition
requirements.

The tables below show theimpacts of these on the 2018 Statement of financial position and Statements of profit orloss and other
comprehensiveincome for the yearended December 31, 2018. Asthe impacts appearin a separate linein the Statement of Changes
in Equity, this is not presented here. As these changes had no impact on the Statement of cashflows, this isnot presented here either.

The column Catch-up & reclass of IFRS 9 & IFRS 15 includes the accumulated effect of the first-time application of IFRS9 and IFRS 15
together with the related reclassifications that were required by these standards at the adoptiondate, i.e. as of January 1, 2018. The
column IFRS 9 & IFRS 15 effects includes the impact resulting fromthe application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 throughout 2018. Other
changesincludethe changes resulting from the usual business operations of the Company.

(in HUF millions, except pershare Catch-up &
amounts) reclass of AtJanuary 1, IFRS9 & At
At December IFRS9 & 2018 IFRS 15 Other December
31,2017 IFRS 15 effect changes 31,2018
ASSETS
Currentassets
Cash and cash equivalents.......c.uuen 948 - 948 - 367 1,315
Trade receivables and other assets...... 110,694 8,140 118,834 1,044 18,341 138,219
Thereof: Contract assets ... - 10,074 10,074 1,044 637 11,755
Other current financial assets....... 11,173 - 11,173 - 11,098 22,271
Current income tax receivable.. 189 (339) (150) - 183 33
Inventories 13,743 - 13,743 - 1,449 15,192
136,747 7,801 144,548 1,044 31,438 177,030
Assets held for sale 161 - 161 - (161)
Total currentassets........ccceeuveeen.. 136,908 7,801 144,709 1,044 31,277 177,030
Non currentassets
Property, plant and equipment .............. 371,732 - 371,732 - (12,148) 359,584
INtangible aSSELS ..mmmmisssssissesen 378,630 - 378,630 - 1,356 379,986
Investments 131,500 - 131,500 - 1,165 132,665
Deferred tax aSSets ...
Othernon current financial assets ...... 19,775 3,269 23,044 (126) (460) 22,458
Thereof: Contract assets............. - 3,269 3,269 (126) 3,143
Othernon current assets ... 128 4,982 5110 (940) 11 4,181
Thereof: Contract CoStS....unnn - 4,982 4,982 (940) 1 4,043
Total non currentassets................ 901,765 8,251 910,016 (1,066) (10,076) 898,874
Total assets ....cccvveerverrrerseerserenesienns 1,038,673 16,052 1,054,725 (22) 21,201 1,075,904
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(in HUF millions, except pershare
amounts)

LIABILITIES

Currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties.....
Otherfinancial labilities ...
Trade payables
Currentincome tax payable.......nn

Provisions

Other current llaDIlitIES ....wveeemnssseesssinnn

Thereof: Contract liabilities

Liabilities associated with assets held
forsale

Total currentliabilities...................

Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties.....
Otherfinancial iabilities ...
Deferred tax iabilities w..mmwmmeeemresersisene
Provisions

Othernon current liabilities ...
Thereof: Contract liabilities..............
Total non current liabilities............

Total liabilitieS ....ccccveeevvmereerrrneinnns
EQUITY

Equity of the owners of the parent
Common stock

Capital reserves

Treasury stock

Retained arnings ...
Total EQUItY c.evvveeeeerecerereceeennaeas
Total liabilitiesand equity...............

EGYUTT. VELED

Catch-up &
reclass of AtJanuary 1, IFRS 9 & At
AtDecember IFRS9 & 2018 IFRS 15 Other December
31,2017 IFRS 15 effect changes 31,2018
39,336 39,336 78,445 117,781
5,621 (64) 5557 487 6,044
111,033 (55) 110,978 38,447 149,425
16 356 372 (337) 35
2,312 2,312 (42) 2,270
28,783 119 28,902 (1,946) 26,956
6,408 6,408 985 7,393
187,101 356 187,457 115,054 302,511
187,101 356 187,457 115,054 302,511
231,647 231,647 (108,297) 123,350
44783 44,783 530 45313
12,358 1,221 13,579 2,210 15,789
8,674 8,674 2,196 10,870
286 286 (286)
297,748 1,221 298,969 (103,647) 195,322
484,849 1,577 486,426 11,407 497,833
104,274 104,274 104,274
25,078 25,078 (1,719) 23,359
(27) (27) (18) (45)
424,499 14,475 438,974 (22) 11,531 450,483
553,824 14,475 568,299 (22) 9,794 578,071
1,038,673 16,052 1,054,725 (22) 21,201 1,075,904
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The table below shows the above impact on the 2018 Statements of profit orlossand other comprehensive income. In order to present
comparable data of the Statements of profitor loss and other comprehensive income, 2018 figuresare also shown underIAS 18 and

IAS 11 inthe table below.

(in HUF millions, except pershare 2017 2018 2018 Effects 2018
amounts) of
IFRS9 &
IAS18/1AS 11 IAS18 /IAS 11 IFRS15 IFRS9 & IFRS15

Revenues 471,532 491,446 1,871 493,317

Direct costs (174,583) (195,567) (1,652) (197,219)

Employee related eXpenses....mn (56,613) (56,627) (241) (56,868)

Depreciation and amortization . . (87,847) (93,833) - (93,833)

Other operating eXPeNSES ... (93,302) (92,842) - (92,842)
Operating expenses (412,345) (438,869) (1,893) (440,762)
Otheroperating iNCOME...uvmmmseesmnsssssssinns 5957 8,712 - 8,712
Operating profit 65,144 61,289 (22) 61,267

Interestincome 421 265 265

Interest expense (13,342) (13,233) (13,233)

Otherfinance expense — NEt..... (7,939) (3,930) (3,930)
Netfinancial result (20,860) (16,898) (16,898)
Result from investments........mmmmrssmmmisnn: 10,717 4,166 - 4,166
Profit before income taX.........ccnreressiins 55,001 48,557 (22) 48,535
Income tax (13,144) (10,869) - (10,869)
Profitfor the year 41,857 37,688 (22) 37,666
Othercomprehensive income forthe year,
net of tax - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 41,857 37,688 (22) 37,666

Earnings per share (EPS) information:

Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company 46,727 43,574 (256) 43,318
Weighted average number of common stock
outstanding

(thousands) used for basic EPS 1,040,073 1,035,394 1,035,394
Average number of dilutive share options 4,585 6,074 6,074
Weighted average number of common stock
outstanding

(thousands) used for diluted EPS 1,044,658 1,041,468 1,041,468
Basic earnings per share (HUF) 4493 42.09 (0.25) 41.84
Diluted earnings per share (HUF) 4493 41.84 (0.25) 41.59
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The Standalone Financial Statements of Magyar Telekom have been prepared inaccordance withIntemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU). All standards and interpretations endorsed by the EU effective as at
December 31, 2018 and applicableto Magyar Telekomhad been adopted. These Standalone Financial Statements also comply with
the Hungarian Accounting Act on Standalone Financial Statements, which refers to the IFRS as endorsed by the EU.

The Company as parent company also prepared consolidated financial statements inaccordance withIFRS as endorsed by the EU
which were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on February 20, 2019.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment inthe process of applyingthe Company’s accounting policies. The areas involvinga higher
degree of judgment or complexity, orareaswhere assumptions and estimatesare significant to the Standalone Financial Statement,
are disclosedin Note 3.

2.1.1 Standards, significantamendments and interpretations effective and adopted by the Company in2018

Title of Nature of change Impact on financial statements

standard

IFRS 9 Financial | IFRS 9 addresses the The adoption of the new standard and its amendments did not

Instruments classification, measurement and resultin material changes in the financial statements of the
derecognition of financial assets Company. The new provisionson the classification of financial
and financial liabilitiesand assets gave rise to changes in measurement and presentation of
introduces newrulesfor hedge certain debt instruments failing to meet the” solely payments of
accounting. principalandinterest” (SPPI) criterion.

In December 2011, in November
2013 andinJuly 2014, the IASB OnJanuary 1, 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9),

amendedthe standardin orderto | Company’s management assessed which business models apply to
make furtherchangesto the the financial assetsheld by the group and classified its financial
classification and measurement instruments into the appropriate IFRS 9 categories. The effects
rules and also introduced a new resulting from thisreclassification are disclosed in Note 4.
impairment model. These latest
amendments completed the new
financial instruments standard.

From 1 January2018, the Company classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

= those to be measured subsequently at fair value (eitherthrough
OCl, or through profit or loss), and
= those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assetsand the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losseswill either be
recorded in profit orlossor OCI.

Atinitial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its
fair valueplus,inthe caseof a financial asset not atfairvalue
through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributableto the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.
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customers in amountsthat reflect
the consideration (that is,
payment)to which the company
expectsto be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. The
new standard will also resultin
enhanced disclosures about
revenue, provide guidance for
transactions thatwere not
previously addressed
comprehensively (for example,
service revenue and contract
modifications) and new guidance
for multiple-element
arrangements.

0 1 T I A I

The new provisions on the accounting of impairment losses led to
expected losseshaving to be expensed earlierin case of trade
receivables. Application of the simplified approach forfinancial
assets with a significant financing component also led to a minor
increasein impairment losses (HUF 0.6 billion). The impairment
losses on contract assets recognized for thefirst time as of January
1, 2018 in accordancewith IFRS 15 is disclosed within the effects
of IFRS 15.
The cumulative effect arising from the transition is recognized as
adjustment to the opening balance of equityin the year of initial
application. Prior-year comparatives are not adjusted.

Title of Nature of change Impact on financial statements

standard

IFRS 15 The core principle of the new The adoption of the new standard resulted in significant changesto

Revenue from standardis for companiesto the financial statements, primarilyin respect of the timing of

Contracts with recognize revenueto depictthe revenue recognition and in respect of capitalization of costs of

Customers transfer of goods or services to obtaining a contract with a customerand cortract fulfilment costs.

= Magyar Telekomapplied the modified retrospective method, i.e.,
contracts that were not completed by January 1, 2018 were
accounted for as iftheyhad beenrecognized in accordance with
IFRS 15 from the verybeginning. The cumulative effect arising
from the transition (catch-up) wasrecognized as an adjustment
to the opening balance of Retained earningsin 2018. Prior-year
comparatives were not adjusted; however, anexplanation of the
reasons for the changes in items in the statementof financial
position and the income statement for the current period are
provided as a result of applying IFRS 15 for thefirst time. The
effects wereanalyzed ina Group-wide project on
implementation of the new standard. The changeover to the new
standard resulted ina cumulative increasein retained eamings
of HUF 17 billion before taxes. As a consequence, HUF 1.9
billion incometax arose. This effect was mainly attributableto
the first-time recognition of

= Contractassets (HUF 13 billion includingalso
reclassifications of HUF 5 billion that resulted mainly from
construction contract receivables under|AS 11 and the
discount given to customers of unbilled receivables
under IAS 18)that, under IFRS 15, led to the earlier
recognition of revenue from the sale of goods and
merchandise, and

= Deferred customeracquisition costs (HUF 5 billion) that,
under IFRS 15, resulted in the later recognition of selling
expenses.

As regards to the newstandard’s impact on the Statement of
Income, Magyar Telekom’sshare of overall revenue from the
provision of services decreased, whilst the overall share of
revenue fromthe sale of goods and merchandise increased. As
described, IFRS 15 meansrevenueis recognized earlierand
expenses are recognized later for contracts notyet concluded by
January 1, 2018. However, as the accounting effects of the
changeoverto the new standard were recognized directly in
equity, the only effects on the Statement of Income in 2018 were
related to changes in the point in time at which revenue and
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expenses are realized. On the assumption that business
development remainsunchanged, this means fora mass market
characterized by a large number of customer contractsthat are
being concluded at different points in time the following:

For existing contracts, lower service revenues and higherselling
expenses from the amortization of capitalized contract assets
and customer acquisition costs are largely compensated for by
higher revenue, on the conclusion of new contracts, from the
sale of goods and lower sellingexpenses from the capitalization
of contract assets and customer acquisition costs. Compared
with the previous accounting method, major effects on eamings
thus arise onlyif business development changes, forexample, if
volumes or prices change orifthere are changesto business
models or productsoffered.

Inthe case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile
contract plushandset) with subsidized products delivered in
advance, a larger portion of the total remunerationis attributable
to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset),
requiring earlier recognition of revenue. This lead to the
recognition of what is known as a contract asset - a receivable
arising fromthe customer contract that has not yet legally come
into existence - in the Statement of Financial Position.

On first-time application of the standard, both total assets and
shareholders’ equity increased due to the capitalization of
contract assets and customeracquisition costs.

Later recognition of revenuein caseswhere “material rights” are
granted, such asoffering additional discounts forfuture
purchases of further products.

Contract liabilities (which, as deferred revenue, were already
recognized as liabilities inthe past and withthe transition
reclassified) are now netted off against the contract assets for
each customer contract.

For the purposes of determining whether Magyar Telekom sells
products for its own account(principal = gross revenue) or for
the account of others (agent = netrevenue), there wasno
material change.

Assignificant financing component is not considered for the
amount and timing of revenue recognition if the period between
when a promised good or serviceis transferred to the customer
and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one
year or less.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been adjusted to ensure
consistencywith the policies adopted by the Company.

2.1.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective as at December 31, 2018 and have notbeen early

adopted by the Company

Certain newaccounting standards, interpretations and theiramendments have been published that are not mandatoryfor reporting
periods ending December 31,2018 and have not beenearlyadopted by the Company. Magyar Telekom’s assessment of the impact of

these new standards and interpretations is set out below.
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= recognize aright-ofuse
asset representing its right
to use the underlying
leased assetand a lease
liability representing its
obligation to make lease
payments on the statement
of financial position, initially
measured at the present
value of non-cancellable
lease payments (including
inflationdinked payments),
and payments to be made
in optional periods ifthe
lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise an optionto
extendthe lease;

= recognize amortization of
right-of-use assets and
interest on lease liabilities
over the leaseterm; and

= separate the total amount
of cash paidintoa
principal portion
(presented within financing
activities) andinterest
(presented within
operating activities)in the
statement of cashflows.

rooftops, office buildings and retail shops, network
assets, spaceon mastsor towersand cars that will be
affected by the new standard. IFRS 16 standard will
have a significant effect on the Standalone Financial
Statements and introduces a single lease accounting
model by taking right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
onthe balance sheet. The transitional effect on both
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities will be in the
range of HUF 90.3 and 112.6 billion (excluding the
finance leases recognized as at December 31, 2018
under IAS 17, prior to transition). Asa result of adopting
IFRS 16, the 2018 operating lease expenses will be
presented as depreciationand interest expense from
January 1, 2019. For the agreements already concluded
by the end of 2018, the transition effect on profit or loss
is expected to be between HUF 16.2 and 19.8 billion in
2019 thatincludes the depreciation and interest
expense excluding the leases whichwere previously
accountedfor as finance leases under|AS 17. Details of
the Company’s leases (including lease commitments)
are disclosedin Note 17.0n the lessor side, Magyar
Telekom mainlyanalyzes the revised definition of leases
including the head and sublease constructions. Other
than that, Magyar Telekom doesnot expect a
considerable impact on the Standalone Financial
Statements at this time, as lessor accounting itself is not
changing significantlythrough the introduction of IFRS
16.

Regardingthe transition to IFRS 16, Magyar Telekom
decided:

= not to apply the practical expedient in IFRS 16.C3
(“Grandfathering approach”). As a result, are-
assessment was performed whether existing
contracts are or contain a lease at the date of initial
application, i.e. as of January 1, 2019.

= not to use the low value exemption,

= to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics (suchas
leases witha similarremaining leasetermfor a
similar class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment) as a lessee,

= not to apply the practical expedient regarding short-
term leases except for some minorand insignificant
lease arrangements with a lease term of one month
orless,

= to use hindsight such asin determining the lease
term ifthe contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.

mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED
Title of Nature of change Impacton financial statements Application date and EU
standard endorsement
IFRS 16 IFRS 16 requires entities when | Magyar Telekomapplied the modified retrospective An entity is required to apply
Leases they are a lessee, to approach. The Company mainly leases cell sites, IFRS 16 for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January
2019 and permits to apply the
new Leases Standard early, if
the entity also applies IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers at or before the date
of early application.

The European Union has
endorsed this standard.
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There are no other standards or amendmentsthat are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a materialimpacton the
Company inthe current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2. Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates, that is the Hungarian forint (HUF), which is the functional currency of the Company.

The Standalone Financial Statements are prepared and presented in millions of HUF, unless stated otherwise, as the Company’s
presentationcurrency is the HungarianForint.

Foreign currencytransactions aretranslated into HUF using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and lossesresulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated inforeign currenciesare recognized in the Profit forthe year (Otherfinance expense -
net).

3 CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATESAND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events thatare believed to be reasonable under the prevailing circumstances. The Company makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. The estimatesand
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitiesare outlined
below.

3.1 Useful lives of assets

The determinationof the useful lives of assets is based on historical experience with similar assets as well as any anticipated
technological development and changes in broad economic or industry factors. The appropriateness of the estimated useful lives is
reviewed annually, or wheneverthere isan indication of significant changes in the underlying assumptions. Management believes that
thisis a critical accounting estimate since it involves assumptionsabout technological deve lopment inan innovative industry and
heavily dependent on the investment plans of the Company. Further, due to the significant weight of depreciable assets in our total
assets, the impact of anychangesin these assumptions can be material to the financial position of the Company, and results of
operations. See Notes 9 and 10 for the changes made to useful lives in2018.

The Company constantly introduces a number of new services or platforms including, but not limited to, the 3G and 4G based
broadband services in the mobile communications and the fiber-to-the-home rollout in the fixed line operations. In case of the
introductionof such new services, the Company conductsa revisionof useful lives of the already existing platforms, but in the vast
majority of the cases these new services or assetsare designed to co-exist with the existing platforms, resulting in no change-overto
the new technology. Consequently, the usefullives of the existing platforms usually do not require shortening.

3.2 Estimated impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is notamortized, but tested forimpairment annually or more frequently. OnMagyar Telekom Group (“Group”) level the
Company has a considerable part in assets and liabilities presented in MT-Hungary segment besides it contributes with a significant
proportion to the resultof MT-Hungary segment. The Group’s segments are reported in a manner consistent with the interal reporting
providedto the chief operating decisionmakers, the members of the Management Committee (MC) of Magyar Telekom Plc. The
goodwill presented in the Company was tested asthe considerable part of this segment when MT-Hungary segment was examined.

Since the Company as a whole s the non-separable part of MT-Hungary segment therefore theimpairment test presented hereinafter
isinreferenceto MT-Hungary segment of Magyar Telekom Group. Therecoverable amounts of the operating segmentsare calculated
based on fair value less cost to sell determined by the discounted projected cash flows of the operating segments overthe next 10
years with a terminal value. This is highly judgmental, which carries the inherent risk of arriving at materially different recoverable
amounts if estimatesused in the calculations proved to be inappropriate. The Company has animplemented policyto makethe
impairment test based on a 10-year cash flow projection on reasonable and supportable assumptions that present the management’s
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best estimate on market participants’ assumptionsand expectations. The MT-Hungary segment uses 10 year cash flow projectionsas
the payback period of ourinvestments in the telecommunications operations oftenexceeds 5 years.

The recoverable amounts of the operating segments determined by the operating segments’ fair values | ess cost to sell. In the
calculations, Magyar Telekomuses weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and estimated perpetual growthrate (PGR). The WACC s
are determined based on CAPM(capital asset pricing model) using the average betas of the peer group, 10 year zero coupon yields
and a debt ratio in line with the usual indebtedness of listed peertelecommunications companies, while the PGRs used arein linewith
the long-term average growth rate for the particular segment.

Costs of certain central functions that are notcross charged are also considered inthe fair value calculations, when conducting the
goodwill impairment tests. The costs of these central functions are allocated to the operating segmentsbased on the segments’
revenue share of the Group’s total revenue.

The FVLCS of MT-Hungary segment far exceeds itscarrying amount and Magyar Telekom Plc. represents a non-separable but
significant partof MT-Hungary segment therefore impairment of goodwill did not need to be recognized neither in2018 norin 2017.
See Note 10.4 for details of carrying amountof goodwill allocated to segments.

The tables below show the WACCs and PGRs used in the fairvalue calculations of the Group’s operating segments for the goodwill
impairment test conductedin 2018 and 2017. The tablesbelowalso include sensitivity analyses that show how much impairment
would have been recognized asat December 31, 2018 or2017 for the goodwill allocated to the operating segments if we changed the
sensitive parametersin the calculations.

In2018 we disclosewhat impact a 4 percentage point increase of the WACC would have on the goodwill compared to that applied in
calculation. Incase of the PGRs we disclose what impact an 9 percentage point decrease of the PGR would have on the goodwill
compared to that applied in calculation. In case of the cash flow projections we disclose whatimpact a 20% or a 40% lowerthan
projected cash flow stream would have on the goodwill.

In2017 we disclosed whatimpact a 4 percentage point increase of the WACC would have on the goodwill compared to that applied in
calculation. Incase of the PGRs we disclose what impact a 8 percentage point decrease of the PGR would have on the goodwill
comparedto that applied in calculation. In case of the cash flow projections we disclose whatimpact a 20% or a 40% lowerthan
projected cash flow stream would have on the goodwill.

2017 2018
MT-Hungary

WACC
Usedinthe calculation.........ccoceiiennne 6.39% 7.85%
[fchangedto....ocvceiceciciecee e 10.39% 11.85%
Potential impairment (HUF million)........ . 69,029
PGR
Usedinthe calculation......c..cccccervenennae 1.00% 1.0%
[fchangedto.. ..o -7.00% -8.0%
Potential impairment (HUF million)........ . 17,211
Cash-flow
[fchanged by ..o -20% -20%
Potential impairment (HUF million)........ B}
[fchanged by ..o -40% -40%
Potential impairment (HUF million)........ B, 63,911

Magyar Telekom’'s management believes that preparing the valuein use (VIU) calculationwas unnecessary, since it would have
resultedin a lowervaluethan the FVLCS. The VIU method is assuming a model withoutfuture investments, meaning thatadditio nal
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capex and related revenues and gains to be recognized inthe future cannotbe considered in the calculations. Assuring therevenue
onlongterminatelecom businessvery much dependson futureinvestments. In Magyar Telekom on average only approximately 20%
ofthe capex spentin a year is related to maintenance. Others are new investments, also related to providing new connections to the
network. Itis obvious, that withoutthis the revenue generation would start to decline sharply on along term. Consequently, we did not
prepare the valuein use calculations.

3.3 Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

We calculate impairment for doubtful accounts receivable based on estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customersto
make required payments. Theloss allowance is recognized in respect of not only losses already incurred as of the reporting date
(incurred losses) but also losses which have not yet incurred as of the reporting date but which are expected to be incurred in the
future (expected losses). Forthe largestcustomers and other telecommunications service providers, impairment is calculated on an
individual basis, while for other customers itis estimated on a portfoliobasis, forwhich we base our estimate on the aging of our
accounts receivable balance and our historical write-off experience, customer credit-worthiness and recent and expected changes in
our customer payment terms. These factors are reviewed annually, and changes are made to the calculations when necessary. In
addition, we consideralso the nature of the business(residential, business, fixed line, mobile, intemet, cable TV, etc.) and the
environment in which the Company’s entities operatein the various markets. If the financial condition of our customers were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs of currently existing receivables may be higherthan expected and may exceed the level of the impairment
losses recognized so far. The Company applied IFRS 9 from2018. See also Notes 4.and 5.1.2.

3.4 Contracts with customers

From 2018 with the adoption of IFRS 15 the Company applies the guidanceto a group of contracts with similar characteristics instead
oftoasingle contractwitha customer. The characteristics considered include mainly the business segment of the customer, business
model of the contract, and whether the contract iscommitted or not.

Contract assets are recognized for unbilled amountstypically resulting from sales under long-term contracts when revenue recognized
exceeds the amount billed to the customer in that period. This is a temporary difference so that revenue recognized and revenue billed
are the same by the end of the commitmentterm. The amount of the contract assetsis determined considering the estimated chum
rate of the relevant group of contracts. The time frame for reclassification of contract assets to a receivable isthe minimum contract
term of the relevantgroup of contracts.

Furthermore, the Company recognizes assets for costs incurred in connection with the signing of customer contracts which would not
have been incurred if the customer contracthad not beenconcluded (contract cost). Capitalization is subject to the expectation that
those costs will be recovered by future revenues resultingfrom the contract.

Costs of obtaining acontract with a customer generally includes sales commissions both direct and indirect distribution channels.
Capitalizing incremental costs of obtaining a contract does not only referto contracts concluded with a new customer but also to
contract renewals. Accounting treatment of acquisition and retention related contract costs is the same.

Costs of obtaining acontract with a customerare amortised on a portfolio basis overthe period that the related goods or services are
transferred to the customer which is

= based on historical customer retention data and past experiences in that business segment in case of uncommitted contracts (e.g.
prepaid)
= andin case of committed contracts the commitment period is considered asamortisation period.

The Company decided not to use the practical expedientto expense incremental costs of obtaining a contract immediatelywhich are
amortized over a period of one year orless.

See Note 18.4 for the amount of contract assets, contract liabilities and contract costs as at December 31, 2018.

Under IAS 18 andIAS 11 until 2017 subscriber acquisitionand retention costs primarily included the loss on the equipment sales and
fees paidto subcontractorsthat acted as agents to acquire new customers or retain the existingsubscribers. The Company’s agents
also spend a portion of their agent feesfor marketing the Company’s products, while a certain part of the Company's marketingcosts
could also be considered as part of the subscriberacquisition and retention costs. The up-front fees collected from customersfor
activation or connection were marginal compared to the incremental acquisition and retention costs. These revenuesand costs were
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recognized when the customer was connected to the Company's fixed or mobile networks. No suchcostsor revenues were capitalized
or deferred. These acquisition and retentioncosts (losses) were recognized immediately asthey were not accurately separable from
other marketing costs.

3.5 Annual fees of mobile licenses

Magyar Telekom's primaryactivities are the fixed line and mobile operations in Hungary. These services are in most cases reg ulated by
the Hungarian laws or otherlegislations. These services inmost cases require the acquisition of a license or concession, which usually
requires a one-offfee and annual payments. Itis judgmental whetherthe management considersthe annual feesto be reliably
estimable ornot. If the management considers that these annual fees can reliably estimated, the present value of those are capitalized
as part of the cost of the license, otherwise these are recognized as costs in the period they relate to.

As the conditions of the new license contract concluded inHungaryin 2014 and 2013 (see Note 34.1) substantially changed
compared to the old ones, in addition to theinitial cost of the new frequencies in 2014 (HUF 59 billion) and the renewal of the old ones
in 2013 (HUF 38 billion) we also recognized the discounted present value of the future annual license fees (HUF 39 billionin 2014 and
HUF 17 billionin 2013).

In 2013 Magyar Telekomconcluded an Authority Contract with the National Media and Infocommunications Authority (NMIAH) on the
prolongation of thethen existing 900 MHz and 1800 MHz frequencies until April, 2022. The Contract included provisions on lowering
the annual fee of these and the 2100 MHz bands in the form of a legislation. The reduction of the annual fees was a result of the
Hungarian mobile operators' years of interest enforcement efforts as formerfeeswere far higherthan the European average. The
probability of the modification of these Authority Contract based feesprior to the expiry of the term has become verylow as the parties
agreedin allterms and provisions of the contract, including the reduced fees of the bands, until 2022. It would be unprecedented that
the annual fees change priorto the expiry of thetermof the contract. While the mobile operators took significant efforts priorto the
recentamendment to reduce thefees, the lowered feesin the newly concluded contract are more favorable for MT than thefee inthe
authority decree. Based on the same consideration, the mobile operators also initiated the reductionof the feesof those bandsthat
were outside the scope of the modificationof the Authority Contract. Thefee of the 2100 MHz band, whichcanbe used until 2019,
was reduced by 50% pursuant to the relevant National Media and Infocommunications Authority decree and thiswas such an
extensive reductionthat it makes the revision of the fees until the expiry of the contracts in 2019 very unlikely. The mobile operators
had reached theirobjectives as the annual fee obligation was significantlyreduced and it is nowaligned to the EU trends.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAH in October 2014 on the use of the new 800MHz 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands also includes annual fees that are inline with the ones achievedin 2013, i.e. we considered them
reliablyestimable to capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAHin August 2018 on the prolongation of the 26 GHz frequency
until May, 2024 also includes annual fees that are in line with the ones achieved in 2013, i.e. we considered themreliably estimableto
capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAH in December 2018 on the prolongation of the 2100 MHz
frequency until June, 2027 also includes annual feesthat are inline with the ones achieved in 2013, i.e. we considered them reli ably
estimable to capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

In case of the other frequency license fees of the Company, the management did not considerthe annualfees to be reliably estimable
atthe time of acquisition, therefore, those were not capitalized.

4 FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS

Afinancialinstrument is any contract thatgives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.

Financial assetsof the Companyinclude cash and cash equivalents, equity instruments of another entity and contractual rightsto
receive cash(tradereceivables) or another financial asset from another entity or to exchange financial assets orfinancial liabilities with
another entityunder conditions thatare potentially favorable to the entity (derivatives) a contractthat will or may be settled in the
entity’s own equity instruments and is a non-derivative forwhich the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the
entity’s own equity instruments; ora derivative that will or may be settled otherthan by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
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another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s ownequityinstruments. Forthis purpose, the entity’s own equity instruments
do notinclude puttablefinancial instruments classified as equity instruments, instruments that impose on the entityan obligationto
deliver to another party a pro ratashare of the net assets of the entityonly on liquidation and are classified asequity instruments, or
instruments that are contractsfor the future receipt or delivery of the entity’sown equity instruments.

Financial liabilities of the Companyinclude liabilities that originate fromcontractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial
assetto another entity (non-derivatives); or to exchange financial assets orfinancial liabilities withanother entity under conditions that
are potentiallyunfavorable to the entity (derivatives) or a contract that will or may be settled inthe entity’s ownequityinstrumentsand is
anon-derivative forwhich the entity isor maybe obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity's own equity instruments; or a
derivativethat will ormaybe settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash oranother financial asset for a fixed number
of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own equity instruments do not include puttable financial
instruments that are classified asequity instruments, instruments that impose on the entity anobligation to deliverto another partya
pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and are classified as equity instruments, or instruments that are
contracts forthe future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities, in particular, include liabilities to banks and related parties, finance lease payables, trade payable sand derivative
financialliabilities and other financial liabilities.

4.1 Financial assets - accounting policies

4.1.1 Financial assets - accounting policies relevant from 2018

From January 1, 2018 with the application of IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial assets on the basisof both:

= the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and
= the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset

inthe following categories:

= atamortised cost if both of the following conditionsare met:

« the financial asset is held within abusiness model whose objective is to hold financial assets in orderto collectcontractual cash
flows and
« the contractualterms of the financial asset give rise on specified datesto cashflows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
= atfair valuethrough othercomprehensive income (FVOCI) if both of the following conditions are met:

« the financial asset is held within abusiness model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and
« the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified datesto cashflows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.
= atfairvaluethrough profit or loss (FVTPL) unless itisclassified inthe previous categories.

For the purpose of the above classification:

= principalisthe fairvalue of thefinancial asset atinitial recognition
= interest consistsof considerationfor the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.

Standard purchases and sales of financial assetsare recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the Company commitsto
purchase or sellthe asset. Investments are initially recognized at fairvalue plus transaction costs forallfinancial assets not carried at
fair valuethrough profit or loss. Financial assetscarried at fair value through profit orloss are initially recognized at fairvalue, and
transaction costs are expensed in the Profit for theyear.

Financial assetsare derecognized when therights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired orhave been transferred.

Financial assetshave been transferred when the contractual rights to receive cash flows of the financial assets have beentransferred
or the contractual rights to receive cashflows of the financial assets have beenretained but there is a contractual obligation to paythe
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cash flows to one ormorerecipients inan arrangement compliant with the conditions set outby IFRS 9. Any gains orlosses on
derecognition are recognized in Profit for the yearand are calculated as the difference between (a) the sum of the consideration
received and any cumulative gain or loss thathad been recognised in other comprehensive income and (b) the carrying amount
derecognized.

4.1.1.1 Impairment of financial assets

Depending on the business model of the Company and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial assets,
financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income or at fairvalue
through profit or loss.

Aloss allowance must be recognized for financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The loss allowance must be recognized through profit or loss and reduces the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset;
inthe case of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the corresponding offsetting entry is
recognized in othercomprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Loss allowances must alsobe recognized for lease receivables asdefinedin IAS 17 and IFRS 16, contract assetsas defined in IFRS
15, financial guarantee cortractsand loan commitments relating to loans bearing an off-market interest rate.

From January 1, 2018 with the transition to IFRS 9, loss allowance is recognized in respect of not onlylosses alreadyincurred as of the
reporting date (incurred losses) but also losses which have not yet incurred as of the reporting date but which are expected to be
incurred inthe future (expected losses).

Based on the changesin credit risk, it mustbe assessed at each reporting date whether the current loss allowance must be me asured
atan amount equal to the lifetime expected credit lossesor at anamount equalto the 12-monthexpected credit losses. Ifitis not
possible to assess whetherthe credit risk has increased significantly based on the individual financial asset, it must be assessed at the
portfolio level.

The simplified and the general approachesareto be applied to assessand account for credit losses.
= Simplified approach

All financial instruments underlying simplified approach are measured with lifetime expected credit loss. Therefore, except for
insolvency, neither any indicators forincreasein credit risk nor any default events arerelevant withinsimplified approach.

The simplified approach is applicable for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables without a significant financial
component. The Company has chosen the right to use the simplified approach forthese receivables with a significant financial
componentas well.

= General approach

According to the expected credit loss model the financial instruments are classified into three buckets. The classification into the three
buckets is based upon the changesof the credit risk forthe financial asset. A relative credit risk modelis used for the evaluation of an
increased creditrisk. The increase of credit risk in comparison to the initial recognition isreflected in the transfer of the financial
instrument between the buckets.

According to the expected credit risk model the impairmentis determined differentlyfor thethree buckets. The impairment for
financialinstruments in bucket 1 is calculated based upon the 12 months expected credit loss. The impairment for financial
instruments inbucket 2 and 3 is calculated based upon the lifetime expected creditlosses. Once a long termasset moved to bucket 3
effective interestmethod has to be applied to reach net value afterimpairment.

The general approach is applied for bank accourts, factoring receivables, other financial receivables and e mployee loans.
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4.1.1.2 Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The following itemsare assigned to this category:

= cashandcash equivalents;
= deposits over 3 months;

= trade receivables;

= otherreceivables.

Financial assetsat amortised cost are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method (relevant only forthe receivables with longterm maturity).

Cashandcash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdrafts.

Trade and other receivables

Ifthere is significantincrease inthe credit risk of trade receivables carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flowsdiscounted at
the receivable’soriginal effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). In case of shortterm trade
receivables estimation is made on the amount of expected future cashinflowsand compared to the carrying amount, the differenceis
accounted for as allowancefor trade receivables. The carryingamount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account.
The amount of the loss is recognized asBad debt expense.

When itis determined thatthereis no significant increasein the creditrisk for anindividuallyassessed accountsreceivable, theitem
should be included in a group of accounts receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and assessed collectively forimpairment.
Receivables that areindividually assessed for impairmentand for which an impairment loss is or continuesto be recognized are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

There are three categories of calculating impairment loss for trade receivables:

= forinvoiceswhichare overdue
= forinvoiceswhicharenot yet due (‘zero day impairmentcalculation’)
= for unbilled revenue.

In case of collective assessment there is significant increase in the credit risk ifthere are overdueitems ina group of receivables. An
ageing listis prepared on overdue receivablesand the amount of impairment is calculated by multiplying impairment ratesbased on
historical loss experience withthe amount of receivables.

Impairmentrates are calculated based on historical loss experience, howeverit is adjusted on the basis of current observabl e data to
reflect the effects of current conditionsthat did not affect the period on which the historical loss experienceis based and to remove the
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. During the impairment calculationforward looking information is
also considered. Such kind of information can be for example internal changes in the billing and dunning processes and extermnal
extreme changes e.g.in unemployment rates, credit crisis etc.

When a trade receivable isestablished to be uncollectible, it is written off against Trade receivables and other assets. Impairment and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are accounted for againstthe period’s Direct costs.
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4.1.1.3 Financial assets atfair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

The “financial assets at fairvalue through other comprehensive income” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= |isted and unlisted equity instruments thatare neitherfully consolidated norincluded using the equitymethod in the consolidated
financial statements, not held for trading and OCI option has been applied;

= debt instruments within a business model whose objective isachieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets.

Financial assetsat fair value through other comprehensive income areinitially recognized at fairvalue and are also subsequently
carried atfairvalue. The unrealized changes in the fairvalue of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognized in equity, in the Revaluationreserve for FVOCI financial assets for both equity instruments and debt instruments.

When securities classified as financial assets at fairvalue through other comprehensiveincome are sold, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognized in equity before are recognized in the profit or loss except forequity instruments, where it will be reversed to
equity.

The Company assessesat each balance sheet date whetherthereis significant increasein the creditrisk. Thereis significant increase
inthe creditrisk of a financial asset as a result of one or more events that occurred afterthe initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) andthat lossevent has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be estimated reliably.

If any such evidence exists for FVOCIfinancial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
andthe current fairvalue, less anyimpairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the profit or loss - is removed from
equity and recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the profit or loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through the profit or loss.

4.1.1.4Financial assets atfair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Debt instruments which do not meet the conditionsset out to be initially classified either at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensiveincome must be measured at fairvalue through profit or loss.

The “financial assets at fairvaluethrough profit or loss” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= Debtinstruments that are designated as “at fairvalue through profit or loss” using the fairvalue option.

= Equity instruments acquired forthe purpose of selling immediately orin the neartermand thus classified as “held for trading” and
equity instruments not held fortrading where the OCl optionhas not been applied.

= Derivativefinancial assets.

= Debt instruments not fulfilling conditions of eitherfinancial assetsat amortized cost orfinancial assets at fairvalue through other
comprehensiveincome.

Financial assetsat fair valuethrough profit orloss are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair

value of the financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss category are recognized in the profit orlossin the period in which they
arise.

Housing loans to employees

Employee loans generallydo not meetthe SPPI criteria, hence are classified in fairvalue through profit or loss category.

4.1.2 Financial assets - accounting policies relevantin 2017

In 2017 and before the transition to IFRS 9,the Company classified its financial assetsin the following categories:

= atfairvaluethrough profit or loss (FVTPL)
= |oansandreceivables
= availablefor-sale (AFS)
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The classification depends on the purpose for whichthe financial asset was acquired. Management determines the classification of
financial assets at theirinitial recognition and the characteristics of the asset itself.

Standard purchases and sales of financial assetsare recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the Company commitsto
purchase or sellthe asset. Investments are initially recognized at fairvalue plus transaction costs forallfinancial assets not carried at
fair valuethrough profit or loss. Financial assetscarried at fair valuethrough profit orloss are initially recognized at fairvalue, and
transaction costs are expensed in the Profit for the year.

Financial assetsare derecognized when therights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired orhave been transferred
andthe Company has transferred substantially all risksand rewards of ownership. Anygains or losses on derecognitionare
recognized in Profit for the yearand are calculated as the difference between (a) the sum of the considerationreceived and any
cumulative gain or loss that had beenrecognised in other comprehensive income and (b) the carrying amount derecognized.

4.1.2.1 Impairment of financial assets

The Company assessesat each financial statement date whetherthere is objective evidence thata financial assetisimpaired. There is
objective evidence of impairment if as a result of loss eventsthat occurred after theinitial recognition of the asset have animpact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Impairmentlosses of financial assets are recognized in the Prdfit forthe yearagainstallowance accounts to reduce the carrying
amount until the derecognition of the financial asset.

(a) Financial assets measured atamortised cost

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, and collectivelyfor financial assets that are not individually significant. If no objective evidence of impairmentexists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it isassessed collectively forimpairment. Assets that are individually
assessed forimpairment and forwhichan impairment loss is recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
Collectiveassessmentiscarried out by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

Individual assessment of impairment is carried outfor debtors underlitigation; bankruptcy proceedings and for the total receivables of
customers with more than 1 year overdue receivables. Individual assessment is also performed in special circumstances, if thereis an
overdue receivable from any designated customer with differentcredit risk attributes. The carrying amount of loansand receivables,
which would otherwise be past due, whoseterms have been renegotiated is notimpaired if the collectability of the renegotiated cash
flows are considered ensured.

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historical information on the timing of recoveriesand the amount of loss
incurred,and makesan adjustment ifcurrent economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likelyto be greateror
lesser than suggested by historical trends. The Company’s benchmark policy for collective assessment of impairment of trade and
other receivables is based on the aging of the receivables due to the large number of relatively similar type of customers.

Animpairmentlossis calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have notbeen incurred) discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carryingamount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the lossis recognized in the Profit for the year.

Impairmentloss on cashand cash equivalents and bank depositswithoriginal maturities over 3 months and its reversal are re cognized
in the Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net). Impairment losson trade and other receivablesand its reversal are recognized
in Direct costsin the Profit forthe year (Bad debt expense). Impairment losses on Employee loans and any reversal isrecognized in the
Profit for the year (Employee related expenses).

Ifthe amount of impairment loss subsequently decreasesand the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring afterthe
impairment wasrecognised (such asan improvement inthe debtor's credit rating), then the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through the Profit forthe year by adjustingthe allowance account. Thereversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset thatexceeds what the amortized cost would have been had theimpairment not been recognized at the datethe
impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal shall be recognized in the Profit forthe yearas a reductionto Direct costs (Bad
debt expense).
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When the Company considersthat there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset (i.e. uncollectible), the relevant amounts are
written off. The amounts written off and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in the same line item
of the Statements of profit orlossand other comprehensive income asthe impairment losses.

(b) Available-for-sale (AFS)financial assets

Impairmentlosses on available-forsale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the Revaluation
reserve for AFSfinancial assets to the Profit forthe year (Otherfinance expense - net). The amountreclassified is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and the current fairvalue, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the Profit for theyear. If the fairvalue of an impaired available-forsale debt security subsequentlyincreases
andthe increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss wasrecognised, thenthe impairment loss is
reversed through the Profit forthe year (Otherfinance expense - net).

Impairmentlosses recognised in Profit forthe year foran investment in an equityinstrument classified as available-for-sale are not
reversed through the Profit forthe year.

4.1.2.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The “financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= Financial assetsincurred forthe purpose of sellingimmediately orin the nearterm and thus classified as “held for trading”
= Derivativefinancial assetsnot involved in aneffective hedge relationship are classified as “held for trading”

Assets in this category are normally classified as current assets (Other current financial assets). Derivatives aimed to hedge the cash
flow risk of non current financial instruments are classified as non current assets (Non current financial assets).

No reclassification between categories has beenmade in the pastand no reclassifications are expected in the future.

Assets in this category are initially recognized and subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or lossesarising fromchanges in the fair
value are recognized inthe Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net) in the period in which they arise. The Company classifies
derivativefinancial instruments only in this category.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fairvalue on the date a derivative contract is entered into and their fair values are re-measured at
subsequent financial statementdates. Magyar Telekom does notapply hedge accounting forits financial instruments, therefore all
gains and losses are recognized in the Profit forthe year (Other finance expense - net).

4.1.2.3 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable paymentsthat are not quoted in an active market.
Receivables are included in current assets, except those with maturities over 12 months after the financial statement date. Theseare
classified as Non-current financial assets.

The following itemsare assigned to the “loans and receivables” measurement category:

= cashandcash equivalents

= bank deposits withoriginal maturities over 3 months
= trade receivables

= employee loans

= other receivables

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fairvalue plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequentlycarried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
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(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdrafts.

(b) Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months

Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months include bank deposits and other liquid deposits and securities with original
maturities overthree months.

(c) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables include the receivables for the services rendered and goods sold from the customers of the Company while other
receivables mainly include advancesand prepayments.

(d) Employee loans

Employee loans are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment loss.

The difference betweenthe nominal value of the loan granted and the initial fair value of the employee loan is recognized as prepaid
employee benefits (Other non current assets). Interest income on the loan granted calculated by using the effective interest method is
recognized as Interest income, while the prepaid employee benefits are amortized to Employee related expenses evenly overthe term
ofthe loan.

4.1.2.4 Available-for-sale (AFS)financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified inany of the other
categories. They are included inNon currentfinancial assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the financial statement date. In this latter case they are included in Other current financial assets.

The AFS measurement categoryincludes:

= equity instruments that are neither consolidated norincluded using the equitymethod in the consolidated financial statements
= debtinstruments

AFS financial assets are initially recognized and also subsequently carried at fair value. The unrealized changes inthe fair value of AFS
financial assets are recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (Revaluation reserve for AFS financial assets).

Interest on AFS debt securities calculated using the effective interest method isrecognized in the Profit forthe year (Interest income).
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized inthe Profit for the year (Interest income) when the Company’s right to receive
payments is established.

4.2 Financial assetsin the statement of financial position

4.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdratts. These financial assets are exposed to credit risks, for which see more detailsin Note
5.1.2. Noimpairment had to be recognized for any of these balances inthe reported years.
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Cashonhand.......c.ccocvevviiviiiicciiiin,

Cashinbank (demand deposits).........curemeremeerrmemeenrnees

Total cash and cash equivalents.............

Average interestrates

Cashonhand.......cccocevvveiiiineiiniinnns
Cashin bank (demand deposits) .............

Average interestrate

Cash and cash equivalents by currency

4.2.2 Trade receivables and contract assets

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
81 115
867 1,200
948 1,315
Datain percent
12.31.2017 12.31.2018
0.00 0.00
0.06 0.00
0.06 0.00
12.31.2017 12.31.2018
42 41
863 1,257
43 17
948 1,315

EGYUTT. VELED

Trade receivables and other assetsin the Statement of financial position includes both trade receivables and contract assets and other

assets see (Note 12).

4.2.2.1 Trade receivables and contract assets - carrying amount

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Trade receivables from third parties..........oceevvieivenenn. (a) 92,298 108,939
Trade receivables from subsidiaries...........c.coeoreieene. 4,894 3,360
Trade receivables from joint ventures..........ccocoovverveeenn. 314 548
Trade receivables from other related parties.................. 6,012 7,268
Total trade receivables.........cocerurceeeererescneresesenesnenes (b) 103,518 120,115
Contractassets-current (Notes 1.2 and 18.4)............... 11,755
Total trade receivables and contractassets ............... 103,518 131,870

(a) The change of Trade receivables from third parties from 2017 to 2018 includes also the effect of the reclassification due to the
transition to IFRS 15 (i.e. partial recognition of contract assets). See also Note 1.2 and 2.1.1.
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(b) Age profile of trade receivables

The following tables showthe age profile of the Company’strade receivables by days outstanding (past due). The carrying amounts of
receivables are shown net of impairmentlosses charged as of the financial statement dates.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Notpastdue.......ccceevrvrvrrennn. 90,118 101,394
Past due by

lessthan 30 days........ccccvenens 8,860 13,885

30-60days.......cccerrerrrirrennnn. 1,689 2,245

61-90days.....cccceveivrerinnn. 525 639

91-180days.....ccccoevvrrererennnn, 659 921

181-360days......cccevvvvrvererenes 509 549

over 360 days ......ccccvrvereiannnn 1,158 482
Carryingamount...........cccecu.... 103,518 120,115

The vast majority of trade receivables is impaired on a portfolio basis using the simplified approach. The vast majority of past due trade
receivables is partly or fullyimpaired depending mainly on the period of delay of payments. In determining whether to recognize
impairment on past due trade receivables fromcertain business and governmental customers past experience of payment behavior of
these customers are also takeninto account. As these amounts are not significant, these are not disclosed separately.

The Company uses the following rates for impairment

Overdue Rate of impairment'
Not due yet 0%-16%

1-30 days 0%-16%
31-60 days 0%-65%
61-90 days 09%-80%
91-180days 0%-90%
181-360 days 0%-95%
361-720 days 50%-100%
more than 720 days 50%-100%
Customers in state of bankruptcy 100%

" The Company uses different impairment rates for differentgroups of customers withinoverdue terms based on the previous year s
payment experiments. Considering the basis of impairmentthe installment receivables fromequipmentsales is treated asa separate
group of customers and the used rates of impairment are generallyin the higher sections of theindicated intervals.

4.2.2.2 Impairmentlosses of trade receivables and contractassets

The table below shows theimpairment losses and changes for trade receivablestherein for 2017 and 2018.

2017 2018
Impairment loss, beginning of period ... 19,694 18,652
Charged toexpense - net (included in DireCtCoStS). ..o, 4,962 7,216
Firsttime adoption of new Reporting Standards (Note 1.2)......c.ccccevevviiviininnns } 572
UZEG. ..o (@) (6,004) (6,598)
Impairment loss, end of Period........cccuvrrrrerrerrersersersersersersessersessessessessenas 18,652 19,842

(a) Utilized means reversed on derecognition (setlement, write-off or factoring).

36



mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

The table below shows theimpairment losses and changesfor contractassets therein for 2017 and 2018.

2017 2018
Impairment loss, beginning of period..........ccovviiiiiiice
Charged toexpense - net (included in DireCtCOStS)...vovvivviiiiviiiiiiiiiiicinns ) 953
Firsttime adoption of new Reporting Standards (Note 1.2)........ccccovvveeenne. i 475
UEIIZEA e (a) ; (399)
Impairmentloss, end of Period........c.cccvvrrninnnnnnsrrsses e seses - 1,029

(a) Utilized means reversed on derecognition (setlement, write-off orfactoring).

The line Firsttime adoption of new Reporting Standards includes in2018 the increase in impairment losses as aresult of thefirst-time
adoption of IFRS 9 (HUF 572 million), as newimpairment rateswere applied and the increase in impairmentlosses as a result of the
first-time adoption of IFRS 15 (HUF 475 million), as the newly recognized contract assets had to be impaired as at the application date
(see alsoNotes 1.2and 2.1.1).

See also Note 5.1.2 forfurtheranalysis of credit risks related to Trade receivables.

4.2.3 Other financial assets

Other financial assets include receivables due within 12 months (current) and due after 12 months (non current) fromthe end of the
reporting period (financial statement date). These financial assets are exposed to credit risks, for which see more details in Note 5.1.2.
The impairment loss recognised or reversed for other current and non currentfinancial assets is not material.

4.2.3.1 Other currentfinancial assets

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Finance lease receivable from unrelated paries..........ccccoeveivcnennnn, (a) 4 4
Loansand receivables from employees..........cccoevvevvvieiviiiescieen, (b) 180 236
Derivative financial instruments contracted with related parties........ (c) 2,978
Loansandreceivables from related parties...........c.cccoeevvivvivviinienns 7,302 21,385
OtNET it 709 646
11,173 22,271

37



4.2.3.2 Other non currentfinancial assets

EGYUTT. VELED

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Borrowings fromrelated paries.........covvivveveeieiecececicreeee e, 2,800 650
Finance lease receivable from unrelated parties..........ccoovveervrinine. (a) 64 62
Loansand receivables from employees. ..o, (b) 1,186 914
Trade receivables OVEr ONE YBar.........ccvvcvieieieie e (d) 15,221 16,294
Derivative financial instruments contracted with related partes........... (c) - 1,026
CONTACT ASSEES. ittt (e) - 3,143
OFNET . 504 369

19,775 22,458

a)See Note 17.2 for moreinformation on Finance lease receivable.
)

(
(
(

b) Loans and receivables from employees primarily represent the housing loans provided to the employees of the Company.
c) Derivativefinancial instruments contracted with related partiesinclude the fairvalue of opencurrencyforwards and cross-currency

interest rate swaps (see more details in Note 5.1.1.1).

(d) Trade receivables overone year mainly includes receivables from customers paying over 1-2 years in installments for
telecommunicationsequipment sold. Theimpairment on trade receivablesoverone yearwasHUF 1,467 million as of December 31,
2018 (HUF 1,358 millionin 2017).

(e) See Note 18.4 for more informationon Contract assets.

4.3 Financial liabilities - accounting policies

The accountingpolicies of the Company did not change regarding the financial liabilties with the transitionto IFRS 9 and they are
disclosed below.

There are two measurement categories forfinancial liabilities used by the Company:

= Financial liabilitiescarried at amortized cost
= Financial liabilitiesat fair valuethrough profit orloss

No reclassification between categories has beenmade in the pastand no reclassifications are expected in the future. Both ty pes of
financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, while subsequentmeasurements are different(see below). We derecognize a
financial liability (ora partof a financial liability) from the Statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished - i.e.
whenthe obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

4.3.1 Financial liabilities carried atamortized cost

The measurement categoryfor “financial liabilities measured at amortized cost” includes all financial liabilities notclassified as “at fair
value through prdfit orloss”.

(a) Loans and other financial liabilities

Loans and other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized
costs using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest is recognized in the Profitfor the year (Interest expense) overthe
period of the liabilities.

(b) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (includingaccruals) are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized ¢ ost using
the effectiveinterest method.
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4.3.2 Financial liabilities atfair value through profit or loss

Derivativefinancial instruments and the liabilities from the obligation of repurchasing shares from ESOP are assigned to this category.
The Company does not apply hedge accounting, therefore, all derivatives are measured at fairvalue through profitor loss.

Derivatives areinitially recognized at fairvalue on the date a derivative contract is entered into and theirfairvalues are re-measured at
subsequent financial statement dates. The Company does not apply hedge accounting for its financial instruments, therefore all gains
and losses are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net).

4.4 Financial liabilities in the statement of financial position

4.4.1 Financial liabilities to related parties

Financial liabilitiesto related parties include HUF and EUR denominated loans taken from DTIF, DT AG and the Company’s
subsidiaries, cashpoolliabilities and liabilities related to the ESOP incentive program (see Note 20.1.2.5.). Forthe whole nominal
amount and interest paymentof loans denominated in EUR granted by DTIF we have cross-currency interest rate swap agreements in
place (with DT AG) so that Magyar Telekom’s exposure in fact remains in HUF. The loans and the related swap agreementsare
accounted for and disclosed on a gross basis.

The tables below show the details of the financial liabilities towards related parties as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

12.31.2017
Carrying Effective Fixed/ Original
amount Lender Currency interestrate floating Maturity Term
15,555 DTIF EUR 4.08% fixed Nov2018  7years
12,982 DT AG HUF 0.30%  floating Cashpool n/a
468 DT AG USD 1.48%  floating Cashpool n/a
(97) DTAG EUR 0.00%  floating Cashpool n/a
1,835 Investel Zrt. HUF 0.65%  floating Cashpool n/a
253  Other
Due within 1 year ......... 30,996
Accruedinterest........... 5,973
Derivatives........ccco.vu... 249
ESOP ..o, 2,118
Total current................ 39,336
35,000 DTAG HUF 5.89% fixed Mar2019  5years
20,000 DTAG HUF 4.98% fixed Jun2019  bSyears
50,000 DTAG HUF 4.33% fixed Oct2019  byears
35,000 DTAG HUF 3.83% fixed Jun2020  5years
40,626 DTIF EUR 1.99% fixed Jan 2021 Byears
45,657 DTIF EUR 1.60% fixed Jul 2021 5years
Noncurrent .......cccoue.... 226,283
Derivatives......ccovvevanna, 5,364
Total non current......... 231,647
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Due within 1year .........
Accruedinterest...........
Other financial liabilities

Noncurrent.......cc........
Derivatives.........coueue...
Total non current.........

HUF denominated loans

Atfixedrate ..o
Atfloatingrate.......ccoovvvvevviieiiee,

EUR denominated loans

Atfixedrate....ocovveeeieiiieceeece,
Atfloatingrate........ccccovvviviiiiininans

USD denominated loans

EGYUTT. VELED

Atfixedrate....ocooovviiiiiiiciic
Atfloatingrate.....cccccvvvvvevviiieiie,

Accruedinterest ........cocoeeeveeieiccieennnn,

Other financial liabilities

12.31.2018
Carrying Effective Fixed/ Original
amount Lender Currency interestrate floating Maturity Term
35,000 DTAG HUF 5.89% fixed Mar 2019 5
20,000 DTAG HUF 4.98% fixed Jun2019 5
50,000 DTAG HUF 4,33% fixed Oct 2019 5
1,841 Investel Zrt. HUF 0.71%  floating Cashpool 4
26 KIBU HUF 0.71%  floating Cashpool 4
988  Other
107,855
5,875
122
87
3,842
117,781
35,000 DTAG HUF 3,83% fixed Jun 2020 5
42,013 DTIF EUR 1.99% fixed Jan 2021 6
45812 DTIF EUR 1.60% fixed Jul 2021 5
122,825
525
123,350
The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair values of the related party loans.
12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value
140,000 154,475 140,000 147,860
15,070 15,070 2,067 2,067
155,070 169,545 142,067 149,927
101,838 109,122 87,825 93,553
(97) (97) 788 792
101,741 109,025 88,613 94,345
468 468 -
468 468 -
5,973 5,973 5,875 5,875
122 122
5,613 5,613 612 612
2,118 2,118 3,842 3,842
13,704 13,704 10,451 10,451
270,983 292,742 241,131 254,723

Total related party financial liabilities.....
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The weighted average interestrate on related party loans was 3.54% in2018 (3.61% in 2017). Any decrease of market interest rates
will resultin an increase of the fairvalue of thefixed interest rate liabilities.

Borrowings subject to floating interest rates are exposed to cash flow risks. Ifinterest rates rise, itwill resultinhigher cash outflows
through interest payments.

Derivatives contracted with related parties include cross-currency interestrate swaps and FX forwards concluded with DT AG to
change the Company’s exposure to HUF incase of the EUR denominated loans and to cover FX needs of expected future foreign

currencyoutflows.

There were no defaults or breaches in connection withthe financial liabilities to related parties.

4.4.2 Other financial liabilities

4.4.2.1 Otherfinancial liabilities - Balances
The tables below show the current and non current balances of Other financial liabilities.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Annual frequency fee payable........cooveeiiiiiiciiciciee (a) 3,492 3,723
Finance lease payable........cccovviiiiiiiie e (b) 552 613
Debtor OVerpaymMeNt......ccccvcveeieiiecieeie e 1,110 1,327
OtNEI e 467 381

Total other financial liabilities - current...........ccvcevieeeiennns 5,621 6,044

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Annual frequencyfee payable............cccooveveiiiiiiiiiciie, (a) 41,723 42,393
Finance 1ease payable.......c.ccvoviiiiiiieceicr e (b) 3,060 2,920
(01 1<

Total other financial liabilities - non current.........cccveevene. 44,783 45,313

There were no defaults or breaches in connection with otherfinancial liabilities.

(a) Annual frequency fee payable

On October 15, 2014 Magyar Telekomand the NMIAH signed the Authority Contractfor the use of the 800 MHz 900 MHz and 1800
MHz frequencybands that came into force on that day. Frequencyusage rights and wirelesslicence for the new brands were released
on October 17, 2014. Magyar Telekom acquired the frequency usage rights in the above listed spectrums till June 15, 2034. See Note
34.2 for more details of the agreement. This agreement provides sufficient basis fora reliable estimate of the future annual fees
payable related to these Hungarianfrequency licenses, as a result of which the present value of the annual fees payable (HUF 39,038
million) was recognized as part of the carrying amountof the licensesas intangible assets, with corresponding currentand non current
financialliabilities falling due from2015 to 2034.

On September 6, 2013 Magyar Telekom and the NMIAH signed the modification of the Authority Contract forthe use of the 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands. See Note 34.2 formore details of the agreement. This agreement provides sufficientbasisfor a
reliable estimate of the future annual fees payable related to these Hungarian frequency licenses, asa result of which the present value
of the annual fees payable (HUF 17,332 million) wasrecognized as part of the carrying amount of the licenses asintangible assets,
with corresponding current and non current financial liabilities falling due from 2014 to 2022.

In December 2018 based on the resolution of the NMIAH Magyar Telekom’s frequency usage rights in the 2100 MHz frequency band
otherwise expiring on December 27, 2019 were prolonged until June 27, 2027. For the three duplex 5 MHz frequency blocks Magyar
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Telekom is required to paya price of HUF 11 billion, due in the first quarter of 2019. As this agreement provides sufficient basis fora
reliable estimate of the future annual fees payable related to these Hungarian frequency licenses, the present value of the annual fees
payable (HUF 4.2 billion) were recognized as part of the carrying amount of the licensesas intangible assets with corresponding
currentand non currentfinancial liabilitiesfalling due from2018 to 2027.

(b) Finance lease payable

See Note 17.2 for the details of finance leases.

4.4.2.2 Proceeds/repayments of loans and other borrowings

Cash payments forrelated party loansareincluded in the Repayment of loansand other borrowings line of the Statements of c ash
flows.

4.4.2.3 Additional disclosure about changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following tables include changes in net debt reconciled withtheir effects on the Statement of cash flows in orderto enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising fromfinancing activities.

Changes in financial liabilities without cash movement are mainly due to FX effects of financial liabilities denominated in EUR and
transactions where future cash flowsare recognized at the present value of the annualfee payable (e.g.: frequency fees and finance
leases).
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Changes that Addition to Changes that Changes that effect the cash flows from financing activities
Changesin  effect the cash financial effect the cash
Opening cash and flows from liabilities flows from Proceeds from  Repayment of Repayment of Closing Balance
Balance at cash operating without cash investing loans and financial other financial at December
January 1,2017  equivalents activities movement activities borrowings liabilities liabilities Other 31,2017

Related party loans 321,494 4,273 (403) (1,293) 95,315 (154,016) 265,370
Derivatives from related parties........... 3,452 5512 (3,351) 5,613
BanK [08NS....uvveerereersereeesneereesnnes 11,501 1) 3,794 (15,294) -
Frequency fee payable.......ccvnnrrire 48,490 (87) (3,188) 45215
Finance lease liabilities........co.vmrrvrnnns 5,478 229 (2,095) 3,612
Debtors overpayment.........ccocvevvnniin 1,144 (34) 1,110
Other financial liabilities .........cccooeevennt 673 (205) 1) 467
-Less cash and cash equivalents......... (1,260) 312 (948)
-Less other current financial assets (18,941) (487) (3,873) 4,398 7,730 (11,173)
Net debt 372,031 312 3,459 1,465 (246) 106,839 (169,310) (5,284) 309,266
TrEASUIY SNAIE PUICNASE ccvvvvvvvveesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss (750)
DIVIAENA PAIG. ettt b4 S 4444444444444 44444 S L E b 4444444444444 bbb (26,081)
Net cash used in financing activities (94,585)
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Changes that Addition to Changes that Changes that effect the cash flows from financing activities
Changesin  effect the cash financial effect the cash
Opening cash and flows from liabilities flows from Proceeds from  Repayment of Repayment of Closing Balance
Balance at cash operating without cash investing loans and financial other financial at December
January 1,2018  equivalents activities movement activities borrowings liabilities liabilities Other 31,2018

Related party loans 265,370 (10,401) 14,970 97,377 (126,797) 240,519
Derivatives from related parties........... 5,613 (3,652) (1,349) 612
Bank 10ans.....ccocovvmiinciniecii - -
Frequency fee payable.......ccocvuviienrinns 45,215 (2,604) 6,924 (3,419) 46,116
Finance lease liabilities..........ccccouninne. 3,612 430 (509) 3,533
Debtors overpayment 1,110 217 1,327
Other financial liabilities 467 29 (115) 381
-Less cash and cash equivalents........ (948) (367) (1,315)
-Less other current financial assets (11,173) (254) 1,501 2,910 (15,255) (22,271)
Net debt 309,266 (367) (13,013) 20,058 1,561 82,122 (126,797) (3,928) 268,902
TreaSUIY SNAIE PUICNASE ccuvvvvvvvviesimsiseesssssssssissssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees (36)
DIVIAENA PAIA. . 1veevviesiiieiiiiis s s8R 8 4444444444444 81 R84 848484844844k (26,068)
Net cash used in financing activities (74,707)
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4.4.3 Trade payables

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Payable to SubSIdIaries. ........coveveeieieiecece e, 11,268 17,614
Payable to associated companiesand jointventures ............. 2 447
Payable to otherrelated parties .......c.ccoveveevieeviiie e, 10,215 8,852
Payable to NONTelated PAMIES «...ov.vvvvveeeeereeeeeeeeeereeeeienon, 89,548 122,512
o] | 111,033 149,425

4.5 Additional disclosures on financial instruments

4.5.1 Financial assets and liabilities

The Company classifies fairvalue measurements using a fair value hierarchythat reflects the significance of the inputs used inmaking
the measurements. The fairvalue hierarchy has the followinglevels:

= quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
= inputs other than quoted pricesincluded withinLevel 1 observable for the asset or liability, either directlyor indirectly (Level 2)
= inputs for the asset orliability that are not based on observable market data (Level 3)

The level in the fairvalue hierarchy within which the fairvalue measurement is categorized in its entiretyis determined on the basis of
the lowest levelinput that is significant to the fair value measurement inits entirety. The significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. As at the date of initial application there were no changes in the carrying amounts arising from
the change in measurement attribute on transition to IFRS 9. No fair value gain or loss was recognised in profitor loss or other
comprehensiveincome during the reporting period at the reclassification.

There was no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 financial instruments except foremployee loanswithrepayment option before the
due date, as these were designated in the fairvalue through profit and loss category.

Most of the financial assets and most of the financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, but fairvalue informationis also
provided for these. The fairvaluesof these assets and liabilities were determined using level 3 type information. The fair value of
financialinstruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by usingvaluation techniques, mainly by applying the
discounted cashflow method. The cash flow estimationsare based on the relevant underlying contracts and the discount rates are
calculated based on the interestrate benchmarks applicable forthe relevant maturities and currencies (BUBOR, BIRS, EURIBOR, EUR
swapyields). Foreign exchange conversion is made based on central bank FXfixings (preferably that of the Central Bank of Hungary).
There are no assets or liabilities carried at fair value where the fairvalue was determined using level 3 type information.

Level 2 information are availableto determine derivatives assetsand liabilities, also for calculatingthe fair value of employee loans
designated at FVTPL.

The tables belowinclude the carrying amountsand fairvalues of the Company's financial assetsand liabilities as at December 31,2018
and2017.
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4.5.1.1 Financial assets - Carrying amounts and fair values

Carrying amounts, fairvalues and fair value hierarchy of financial assetsare the following:

12.31.2017 Carrying amount
Loans and
recei- Available-

vables  Held-to- for-sale FVTPL Fair

(Level 3) maturity (Levell) (Level?2) Total value
Cash and cash equivalents ... 948 - - - 948 948
Clearing receivables fromrelated parties........ 5014 - - - 5014 5014
Trade receivables within one year...... 103,518 - - - 103,518 103,518
Trade receivables Over 0N Year ... 15,221 - - - 15,221 16,376
Loans and receivables from employees........... 1,366 - - - 1,366 1,505
Derivative financial instruments contracted

with related parties - - - 2978 2978 2978

Loans given to related parties ... 5,089 - - - 5,089 5,089
Finance lease receivable ... 68 - - - 68 80
Othercurrent receivables ........mmemmrines 708 - - - 708 708
Othernon current receivables ... 503 - - - 503 734
Total.eeereeerer e 132,435 - - 2,978 135,413 136,950
12.31.2018 Carrying amount

Amortized FVTPL FVTPL Fair

cost (Level2) (Level 3) Total value
Cash and cash equUIVAIENTS v 1,315 - - 1,315 1,315
Clearing receivables from related parties........ 18,768 - - 18,768 18,768
Trade receivables within ONe Year. .. 120,115 - - 120,115 120,115
Trade receivables OVEr ONe YEar . 16,294 - - 16,294 17,434
Contract assets 14,898 - . 14,898 -
Loans and receivables from employees......... 400 750 - 1,150 1,225
Derivative financial instruments contracted
with related parties - 1,026 - 1,026 1,026

Loans given to related Parties ... 3,266 - 3,266 3,266
Finance 16ase recevable.... ... 67 - - 67 76
Other current receivables ... 646 - - 646 646
Other non current receivables 369 - - 369 303
L] 1 176,138 1,776 - 177,914 164,174

As a result ofthe first-time application of IFRS 9, financial assets were categorized in the new measurement categories. All of the financial
assets fromthe 2017 loans and receivables category were classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost in 2018 except for
employee loans with repayment option before the due date, as these generally do not meet the SPPI criteria. Therefore they were
designated in the fair value through profit and loss category. Fair Values of these financial assets are determined using level 2 type
information.

Fair valuethrough profit or loss assetsinclude derivative financial instruments, the fair values of which are based on a discounted cash
flow method. The calculation is prepared by Magyar Telekom based on money market interest rate curves, basis swap points and spot
FXrates from Reuters database published at the last working day of the reporting period. The present value of the expected future
cash flows is discounted to the reporting date using money market interest rates and basis swap pointsin the specific currency from
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Reuters and exchanged to HUF using spot FX rate. The HUF present value of the payable and receivable is accounted for as assets or
liabilities.

The carrying values of assets measured at amortized cost with short times to maturity approximate their fair values.

4.5.1.2 Financial liabilities

Carrying amounts, fairvalues and fair value hierarchy of financial liabilities are the following:

12.31.2017 Carrying amount
Measured at
amortized cost FVTPL FVTPL Fair
(Level 3) (Level 2) (Level 1) Total value
Financial liabilities to related parties ......... 263,253 5612 2,118 270,983 292,724
Bank loans - - - -
Trade payables 111,033 - - 111,033 111,033
Frequency fee payable. .. 45215 - - 45215 55,131
Finance lease abilitieS.....mmmmmsmmesssseen 3,612 - - 3,612 7,825
Debtors’ overpayment .. 1,110 - - 1,110 1,110
Other current liabilities 467 - - 467 467
Total 424,690 5,612 2,118 432,420 468,290
12.31.2018 Carrying amount
Measured at FVTPL FVTPL Fair
amortized cost (Level 2) (Level 1) Total value
Financial liabilities to related parties .......... 236,676 612 3,842 241,130 263,596
Bankloans - - - -
Trade payables 149,425 ) ) 149,425 149,425
Frequency fee payable 46,116 ) ) 46,116 52,846
Finance lease liabilities 3,533 - - 3,533 7,180
Debtors’ overpaymMent ... 1,327 - - 1,327 1327
Other current liabilities ... weecmerreseeesssseeeesns 381 ) - 381 381
Total 437,458 612 3,842 441,912 474,755

Derivatives and liabilities on obligation of repurchasing the MT shares from ESOP are measured atfairvalue, while all other financial
liabiliies are measured atamortized cost.

Additional fair value information on financialliabilities is provided in Notes 4.4.1. and 4.4.2.
The carrying valuesof the current financial liabilities measured at amortized cost approximate their fairvalues.
FVTPL liabilities include both of derivative financial instruments, the fair values of which are calculated the samewayas FVTPL assets

disclosedin Note 4.5.1.1.,and liabilities from the obligation of repurchasing shares from ESOP the fairvalues of whichare determined
based on market prices (Levell information).
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4.5.2 Items of income, expense, gains and losses arising on financial instruments
The tables below include gains and lossesarising on financial instruments in2017 and 2018.

2017

From subsequent measurement

. . From Total net
From Changein Currency Impair- Fromfee .
. . derecog- gain/
Interest fairvalue translation mentloss . expense
nition (loss)

FVTPL financial instruments
(Level 2) - (4511) - - (325) - (4,836)
Loans and receivables .......nnisneenn 340 - 202 (4,962) - (4,320) (8,740)
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost (13,220) - 1,037 - - (28) (12,211)
Net gain/(loss) on financial
INSrUMENts ....occeveeeereeere e _(12,880) (4,511) 1,239 (4,962) (325) (4,348)  (25,787)
2018

From subsequent measurement

From Changein Currency Impair- From Fromfee Tota.l net
. . derecog- gain/
Interest fairvalue translation mentloss o expense
nition (loss)

FVTPL financial instruments
(Level 2) - 3,048 - - 2,236 - 5,284
Financial assets measured at
amortized cost 212 - 24 (8,169) - (3,811) (11,744)
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost (11,950) - (5,571) - - (29) (17,550)
Debtinstruments (Level 2) .. - 37 - - - - 37
Netgain/(loss) on financial
INStrUMENts ....covvveveerrcceer e (11,738) 3,085 (5,547) (8,169) 2,236 (3,840) (23,973)

The tables above include the amounts before capitalization of borrowing costs (See Note 24).

Impairmentlosses on Financial assets measured at amortized cost (2017: Loans and receivables) includes all expenses incurred or
expectedto be incurred in relation to the default of our customers. Before writing off orfactoring, we impairthe receivables to their
recoverable amounts through the use of an impairment allowance account, as aresult of which the actual write-off or factoring of these
receivables results in no derecognition gains orlosses.

4.5.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable netting arrangements, each agreement between the Company and the
counterparty (typically roaming and interconnect partners) allows for netsettlement of the relevant trade receivable and pay able.

The following trade receivables and trade payables are subjectto offsetting agreements, and are presented after netting in the
Standalone statements of financial position.

48



mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Trade Trade Trade Trade
receivableand  payables receivable and payables
other assets other assets

Gross amounts of recognized financial instruments......... 111,984 112,323 139,092 150,298
Gross amounts of financial instruments set off................. (1,290) (1,290) (873) (873)
Netamounts of recognized financial instruments

presentedin the statement of financial position............ 110,694 111,033 138,219 149,425

4.5.4 Other disclosures about financial instruments

Magyar Telekom isalsoexposed to risks that arise fromthe possible drawdown of guarantees in a nominal amount of HUF 14.1 billion
asatDecember 31,2018 (2017: HUF 10.8 billion). These guarantees were issued by banks on behalf of Magyar Telekom as callateral
to secure the fulfillment of the Company’s certain contractual obligations. The Company has been delivering on its contractual
obligations and expects to continue doing so in the future, therefore no significant drawdown of the guarantees happenedin 2018 or
2017, andis not expected to happen in the future.

Magyar Telekomdoes not hold any material collateral of its financial assets.
There were no financial assets or liabilities, which were reclassified into ancther financial instrument category.

The Company does not have compound financial instruments with multiple embedded derivatives.

5 FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 Financial risk factors

Magyar Telekomis primarily exposed to credit risks related to its financial assets. In addition, the Company is also exposed to risks
from movements in exchange rates, interest rates that affect the fairvalue and/or the cashflows arising from financial assets and
liabilities.

Financial risk managementaims to limitthese risks through ongoingoperational and finance activities. Selected derivative and non-
derivative hedging instruments are also used for this purpose, depending on the risk assessment. Magyar Telekom only hedgesthe
risks that affect the Company’s cash flows, no hedges are concluded to hedge fairvalues. Derivativesare exclusively used as hedging
instruments, i.e., not for trading or other speculative purposes. To reducethe counterparty risk, hedging transactions are generally only
concluded with leading Hungarian or interational financial institutions or Deutsche Telekom. Nevertheless, hedge accounting is not
appliedto such transactions, considering that not all the criteria in IFRS 9 are met.

The detailed descriptions of risks, the management thereof as well as sensitivity analyses are provided below. These sensitivity
analyses calculate with reasonably possible changesin the relevant risk variables and theirimpact on profit before tax The impacts
disclosed below forthe reported periodsare subject to anaverage effective income tax rate of approximately 25%, i.e. the impact on
Profit for the year would be approximately 75% of the pretax amountina year that is free from significantone-off non-deductible pre-
tax impacts and significant changes inthe tax legislations. The potential impacts disclosed (lesstax) would be the same on the
Company’s Equity.

There were no major changes in these risks compared to the previous reporting period.
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5.1.1 Market risk

Market risk isthe risk that the fairvalue orfuture cash flows of a financial instrumentwill fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises three types of risk:

= foreign currency risk
= interestrate risk
= pricerisk.

The fundamentalsof Magyar Telekom's financing strategy are established each year by the Board of Directors. The Company’s policy
isto borrow centrally using a balanced combination of medium term and short term loans, and fixed and floating interest rates on
those loans. The Board of Directors has approved two debt protection ratio KPls at MT Group level, and monitors their fulfillment
annually. Atthe end of 2018 Magyar Telekom Group fulfilled both criteria; Total Debt to EBITDA ratioof 1.52in 2018 (2017: 1.74), the
allowed maximum of which would be 2.8 and EBITDAto Net financial resultratio of 10.81in 2018, (2017: 8.58), the allowed minimum
of whichwould be 3.0. The Company’s Treasury isresponsible for implementing the finance policy and forongoing risk management.
The details of foreign exchange, liquidityand counterparty risk management guidelines are determined and monitored by the
Company’s Treasury.

Magyar Telekomis exposed to interest and foreign exchange (FX) rate risk associated with itsinterest bearing assets and liabilities and
anticipated transactions. The functional currency of Magyar Telekom isHUF, consequently, Magyar Telekom's objectiveis to minimize
the level of its financial risk in HUF terms.

For the presentation of market risks, sensitivity analyses is also provided thatshow the effects of hypothetical changes of relevant risk
variables on Profitbeforetax and Equity. These hypothetical changes were modeled to presenta reasonably possible change inthe
relevant risk variables. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes inthe risk variables to the balance of
financialinstruments at the end of the latest reporting period (2018) and the preceding reporting period (2017). The balances at the
end of the reporting period are usually representative for the yearas a whole; therefore the impacts are calculated using the yearend
balances. The methods and assumptions used in the sensitivity calculations did not change significantly compared to the previous
period. As a result of the still rather volatile international capital and securities markets, higher fluctuations of the FX and interestrates
are also possible.

5.1.1.1 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currencyrisk isthe risk that the fairvalue orfuture cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in FX
rates. Currencyrisks arise on financial instruments denominated incurrencies otherthanthe functional currency of the Company.
Relevant risk variablesare generally all non-functional currenciesin which Magyar Telekom has financial instruments.

In order to mitigate FXriskin case of FX denominated financial instruments, Magyar Telekomminimized its foreign currency
borrowings inthe past years or covered them with derivative instrumentsto substantially reduce FXrisk.

(a) FXrisks arising on loans from DTIF and related swaps with DT AG

Severalrelated party loans taken to finance general corporate needs from the financing vehicle of Deutsche Telekom, Deutsche
Telekom International Finance B.V. (DTIF) are denominated in EUR, while, at the same time, cross-currency interest rate swaps are
concluded with Deutsche Telekom AG (DT AG)to fix the actual cashflows of Magyar Telekom in HUF for the whole nominal amount
and interest payments of theseloans. Even though the Company does not apply hedge accounting, the change in the HUF/EUR
exchange rate haslimited (net) impact on profit or loss and equity related to the hedged loans and the swapstogether.

Sensitivity analysis

Areasonably possible strengthening orweakening of the EUR in the table below against HUF as at 31 Decemberwould have affected
the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased (+)/ decreased (-) equity and profit orloss
by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all othervariables, in particularinterest rates, remain constant and ignores
any impact of forecast salesand purchases. As the profit or loss effect would be the same as the equity effect, only theformeris
disclosed.
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12.31.2017
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Loan......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiciies
Swap agreements..................
Neteffect
12.31.2018
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Loan......ocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiee
Swapagreements..................
Neteffect

(b) Other FX exposure

Profitor loss

Strengthening Weakening
(10,184) 10,184
10,924 (10,924)

740 (740)

(8,782) 8,782

9,364 (9,364)

582 (582)

EGYUTT. VELED

The remaining FX exposure of the Companyis mostly related to (i) holding foreign currency cash balancesby the Company, and (ii)
operating activities throughrevenue from, and payments to, international telecommunications operatorsas well as (iii) capital and
operating expenditure contracted withvendors in foreign currency. In line with currency hedging policy, the Company holds sufficient
amounts of foreign currencieson its bank accounts or buys foreigncurrencies through FX forward transactions, the amounts of which
are determined considering the balance of short term FX denominated trade and leases payables and trade receivables inorder to
hedge the currencyrisk arising in connection with those assets and liabilities. The Company’s foreign currency (EUR and USD)
denominated liabilities (other than the above described loans) exceed the Company’s foreign currency (EUR and USD) denominated
assets, therefore changes of the functional currencies’ exchange rates would haveimpact on the profit of the Company.

In order to reduce the above exposure, Magyar Telekomoccasionallyenters into derivative contracts. The negative fairvalue of the
open shortterm forward positions was HUF 0.1 billion (liability) as of December 31, 2018 (2017: HUF 0.2 billion liability). These

positions were opened to hedge the FX risks of future FX payments exceeding FXincome.

Sensitivity analysis

Areasonably possible strengthening orweakening of the currencies in the table belowagainst HUF as at31 Decemberwould have
affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased (+)/ decreased (-) equity and
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all othervariables, in particular interestrates, remain constant
andignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases. As the profit or loss effect would be the same as the equity effect, onlythe

former is disclosed.
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Profitor loss

Strengthening Weakening
12.31.2017
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Net balance of f/x trade payables, trade receivablesand
DANK ABPOSIES...cvvevieiieiecieee e (1,990) 1,990
Connected forward dealS........coccvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiesiie, 1,992 (1,992
N =Y Yo 2 (2)
USD/HUF (15% movement)
Net balance of f/x trade payables, trade receivablesand
DANK ABPOSIES . cvvevieiiciccie e (346) 346
Connected forward deals..........ccooveveiviniiiieciiiinannas 430 (430)
NeteffeCt ... s 84 (84)
12.31.2018
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Net balance of f/x trade payables, trade receivablesand
DANK AEPOSIES...vveiiiiiciicciee e (3,983) 3,983
Connectedforwarddeals..........cccooviviiiviieiie i 1,637 (1,637)
Neteffect ... (2,346) 2,346
USD/HUF (15% movement)
Net balance of f/x trade payables, trade receivablesand
DaNK dEPOSItS...viveriiiiieieiecee s (544) 544
Connectedforwarddeals..........ccoovverviieireiniieniiennnns 76 (76)
Neteffect ... (468) 468

As aresult of the volatile international capital and securities markets, even amorethan 10%fluctuationof the functional currency HUF
against EUR, a more than 15% fluctuation of the functional currency HUF against USD is possible as extraordinary market conditions
may cause extremevolatility on FX markets.

5.1.1.2 Interest rate risk

Magyar Telekomis also exposed to interest rate fluctuations. This is due to thefactthat changing interest rates affect the fair value of
the fixed rate instrumentsand also affectthe cash flows throughthe floating rate instruments.

Changes inthe market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates does not affect Profit forthe year
because none of themare measured at fairvalue through profit or loss. Onthe otherhand, all financial instruments withfixed interest
rates (whichare carried at amortized cost) are not subject to cash flow interest rate risk.

Changes inthe market interest rate of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps) that are notpart of a hedging
relationship asset outin IFRS 9 affect Otherfinance expense- net (net gain/loss from re-measurement of the financial assets to fair

value).

Changes in market interest rates affect theinterest income or expense of non-derivative floating-interest financial instruments for which
no cash flow hedgesarein place.
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(a) Financial assets

Excess cash of the Company's Hungarianoperations isprimarily used to repay loans so ithas no significant bank deposits.

(b) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities exposed to interest rate risk are primarily the related party (DTIF, DT AG) and third party loans and the related swap
agreements in place. These loans are almost exclusively takenby the Companyas the financing of the Company is managed centrally.
The analysis below describes the Company’s net exposure to the net interest rate risks related to the loans and the related swap
agreements.

As the vast majority of debt portfoliois denominated in HUF, or swap agreements are in place so that the loanspayable are exposed to
changes in HUF interest rates, the Companyis mostly exposed to the HUF interest rate fluctuations for its financial liabilities. To control
this interest raterisk,a combination of fixed and floating rate debt isused. Fixed interest-bearing debts (including loans swappedto
fixed interestand excluding loans swapped to floating interest) made up 99% of the Company’s total debt as of December 31, 2018
(2017: 88%).

Cash-flowsensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The Company had no floating interest-bearing debts asof December 31, 2018. Floating interest-bearing debts (including loans
swapped to floatinginterest and excluding loans swapped to fixed interest) made up 11% of the Company'’s total debt as of December
31,2017.

Areasonably possible change of 100 basis pointsin interest ratesat the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equityand
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all othervariables, in particular foreign currency e xchange rates,

remain constant. As the profit or loss effect would be the same as the equity effect, only the formeris disclosed.

Profitor loss

100 bp 100 bp
increase decrease

12.31.2017

Floating rateinstrument................. (154) 154
Discountrate swap........cccceceevenenn. (156) 156
Cash-flow sensitivity (net) ............. (310) 310
12.31.2018

Floating rateinstrument................. (29) 29
Discountrate swap..........cccceveuneene. - -
Cash-flow sensitivity (net) ............. (29) 29

5.1.2 Credit risk

Creditriskis therisk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss forthe other party by failingto discharge an
obligation.

The maximum exposureto credit risk as at the end of the reporting period are represented by the carrying amounts of the financial
assets in the Statement of financial position. Guarantee agreementsreducing the maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the

reporting period are described laterin thissection.

The vast majority of credit risks mayarisein respect of Cash and cash equivalents, Bank depositswith original maturities over 3
months and Trade receivables, most of whichhave short term maturities.

Inline with the Company’s risk management policy Magyar Telekom deposits the vast majority of excess cash in banks rated at least
BBB+ (or equivalent), or make efforts to get guarantees forthese fixed term deposits from banks rated at least BBB+. We, however,
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also have current accounts inbankswith lower rating than this. Moreover, Magyar Telekom prefersto deposit in banks which grants
loans to Magyar Telekomto make the compensation of deposits and loans possible incase of the default of the bank.

In case of Cash and cashequivalents and Bank deposits withmaturities over 3 months credit risk are limited as Magyar Telekom
places its cash in Hungary withsubstantial credit institutions. Further, excess HUF cashis also used for repaymentof the HUF
denominated loans and borrowings, or isdeposited at partner banks which grant loansto Magyar Telekom, therefore, the credit risk
related to cash held in HUF is very limited.

Concentrations of credit risk relating to trade receivablesare limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company's
customer base and their dispersion across manydifferent geographic areas and industries.

No financial assetsotherthan trade and otherreceivables had to be impaired, as theyare neither past due nor are there any indication
of impairment. For details of impairment of trade and other receivables please refer to Note 4.2.2.

The annual bad debt expense of the Company in2018 was 1.7% (2017: 1.1%) of the revenues. Adverse changes in customer
payment behavior in the future, however, may resultinhigher impairmentlosses. Each additional 1 percentage point of uncoll ectible
revenue would resultin additionalimpairment charges of HUF 4.9 billion in2018 (2017: HUF 4.7 billion).

There are varying credit checking practices applied as described below.

Credit checking at the time of the service request is carried out automatically by the credit checking application. A variety of checks
including checking the bankruptcy list, the internal database of risky installation locations, the collection history of the past 6 months,
the outstanding debt and the joint database of debtors of the Hungarian mobile operators are performed depending on the service to
be used. The Fraud Detecting Systemmonitorsextreme usage and fraudulentbehavior of customers for mobile, fixed-line and Internet
services. In case of business customers, account managers checkif the customer has outstanding debts.

Dunning procedures are run automatically by the billing systems and include various remindertools like SMS, reminder message via
Telekom APP, telephone calls, reminder letters, restricted service, terminationletters and disconnections. Incase of medium and large
enterprises dunning process starts manually (first reminderletter). After the first step, this process isalsoautomated. Based on the
effective laws and regulations and overa minimum overdue amount the Company applies varying and customized reminder
procedures with specific deadlinesto the different customer groups. Afterthe termination of the cortractand depending on the
expected success of the process, we combinethe different collection steps of involving external partners, selling the outstanding debt
orinitiating legal proceedings. All parts of the process are regulated by internal directives.

5.1.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is therisk that an entity may encounter difficultyin meeting obligations associated withfinancial liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient Cash and cash equivalents and Bank deposits as well asavailable
funding through adequate amount of committed creditlines. The Company’s Treasury management aims at maintaining flexibility in
funding by keeping committed credit lines available. The undrawn bank credit linesamounted to HUF 43.5 billion as at December 31,
2018(2017: HUF 41 billion).In addition to the above, Deutsche Telekom confirmed its readiness to finance Magyar Telekom
Company’s budgeted financing needs until June 30, 2020.

The following two tables summarize the maturity structure of Magyar Telekom’sfinancial liabilities including the interest payable on
those liabilities (undiscounted amounts) asof December 31, 2018 and 2017. Asthe majority of the financial liabilities are paid fromthe
cash generated fromthe ongoing operations, the maturity analysis of the financial assets as at the end of the reportingperiods (in
comparison withthe financial liabilities) would not be useful, therefore, is not included in the following tables.
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Trade payables.......ccoveveiiiiiieiiieciec,
Financial liabilitiesto related parties .............

Bank 10ans......cccovevieviiiccc
Finance leaseliabilities..........ccccoccevevnennn.
Other financial liabilities ........c.cccoevevivenenn.
Total other financial liabilities ..........cceuvene

Total cash flOWS .....cceeeeeemeceeerceeeeeeeeeeans

Open swap positions’ cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million..................

Gross cash inflow inHUF million (at spot

Gross cash outflowin HUF million ...............
Netcash inflow in HUF million.........ccceuuu...

Open forward positions' cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million..................
Gross cash inflow inUSD million .................

Total gross cash inflowin HUF million (at
SPOLIALE) wevvivicieicicie e

Gross cash outflowin HUF million ...............
Netcash inflow in HUF million....................

EGYUTT. VELED

12.31.2017
Total within 1 1to5years  after5 years
year
111,033 111,033 -
213,633 5,094 208,539
10,243 1,736 4,933 3,574
47,125 5,403 13,703 28,019
57,368 7,139 18,636 31,593
382,034 123,266 227,175 31,593
352 62 290
109,170 19,229 89,941
113,396 18,106 95,290
(4,226) 1,123 (5,349) -
64 64
11 11
22,696 22,696
23,037 23,037 -
(341) (341) - -
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12.31.2018
Total within 1 1to5years  after5 years
year

Trade payables........ccccovvveieieiciiieeeevenns 149,425 149,425 -
Financial liabilitiesto related parties ............. 217,055 102,077 114,979

Bank 10ans.......ccccovvviiiiiiic - - - -

Finance leaseliabilities............ccoevvvvvinennne. 8,971 1,466 4,807 2,698

Other financial liabilities ......covvvvveviiiiiinens 45,220 6,130 12,777 26,313
Total other financial liabilities ..........ccceeuee. 54,192 7,596 17,584 29,011
Total cash floOws ......ccceeeeeeereerererererserenns 420,672 259,098 132,563 29,011
Open swap positions’ cash flows
Gross cashinflow inEUR million.................. 290 10 280
Gross cash inflow inHUF million (at spot 93238 3215 90,023
1) USROS
Gross cash outflowin HUF million ............... 95,291 4,844 90,447 -
Net cash inflow in HUF million.................... (2,053) (1,629) (424) -
Open forward positions' cash flows
Gross cash inflow inEUR million.................. 93 93
Gross cash inflow inUSD million ................. 2 2
Total gross cash inflowin HUF million (at
SPOLIALE) weviiviiricieieie e 30,462 30,462
Gross cash outflowin HUF million ............... 30,521 30,521 - -
Netcash inflow in HUF million.................... (59) (59) - -

The average maturity of Magyar Telekom’s debt portfolio was 1.35 years asat December 31, 2018 (2017:2.18 years). The floating
interest payments arising fromthe financial instruments were calculated using the last interest ratesfixed before December 31,2018
and 2017. Actual cash flows may be different if the floating interest rate changes in future periods.

5.2 Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managingcapital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going conceminorder to
provide retums for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholdersand to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Company’s management proposes to the owners (throughthe Board) of the Company to approve dividend payments or adopt
other changes in the Company’s equity capital in order to optimize the capital structure of the Company. This can be achieved
primarily by adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, or alternatively, by returning capital to shareholders by capital
reductions, selling or buying own shares. Consistent with others in theindustry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio.
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Thisratiois calculated as Net debt divided by the sum of Equity and Net debt. Net debt is calculated as follows:

= Currentandnon current financial liabilitiesto related parties - Note 4.4.1
= plus Other currentand non current financial liabilities - Note 4.4.2

= |ess Cash andcash equivalents - Note 4.2.1

= |ess Other currentfinancial assets - Note 4.2.3.1

During 2017 and 2018, the Company’s mid and long term target as approved by the Board was to maintain agearing ratio within 30%
to 40% at MT Group level. The gearing ratio at December 31, 2018 was 30.8%(2017: 34.8%). In2018, Magyar Telekom paid HUF
26,068 milliondividend (HUF 26,067 million dividend in 2017), and the Company's Board recommends to declare a HUF 26,068
million dividend at the April 2019 Annual General Meeting.

In addition to the above, according to the Hungarian Civil Code (2013. V.), Magyar Telekomhas to ensure that the Company’s Equity in
the Standalone Financial Statements does not fall belowtwo thirds of its Common stock, i.e. the total of the reserves should not be
negative. The Company is in compliance with thisregulation.

The equity capital, whichthe Company manages, amounted to HUF 578 billion on December 31, 2018 (2017: HUF 554 billion).

6 INCOME TAXES

6.1 Income taxes - accounting policies

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in Profit orlossexcept to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equityor in other comprehensive income.

6.1.1 Currenttaxes

Current tax comprises the expected taxpayable or receivable on the taxable income orlossfor the yearand anyadjustment to the tax
payable or receivablein respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable orreceivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflectsuncertainty related to income taxes, if any. Itismeasured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includesany taxarising fromdividends. Currenttax assets and liabilities
are offset only if certain criteriaare met.

Income taxes comprises of corporate incometaxes and other income taxes.

6.1.1.1 Corporate income taxes

Corporate income taxes are payable to the central taxauthorities. The basis of the taxis the taxable entities” accounting profit adjusted
for non-deductible and non-taxable items. The withholding tax relating to the dividend received is also reported in corporate income
taxes. From January 1,2017 a flat corporate income tax rate of 9% hasbeen enacted.

As Magyar TelekomPlc.is listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, it was obliged to adopt IFRSs in its statutory financial statements
from 2017 in accordance withthe ActC of 2000 on Accounting. In thefirst and in the second year following the IFRS transition,
taxpayers, who chose to adopt IFRSin their statutory financial statements, are obliged to paythe total sum of theircurrent taxes (i.e.
corporate income tax and local businesstax) calculated for thetax year preceding the year of the IFRStransition, if in these twoyears
their current tax liabilities are lower than in thetax year preceding the IFRS transition (minimum tax). Magyar Telekom Plc. doesnot
have this minimum tax payment obligationin 2017 andin 2018 either.

6.1.1.2 Other income taxes
Other incometaxes include certainlocal and central taxes levied in Hungary on the companies’ net margins, usually determined at a

substantially higher levelthan the corporate tax base, but applying a significantly lower taxrate. Otherincometaxes include local
business tax, innovationfee and energy suppliers’ tax.
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6.1.2 Deferred taxes

Deferred tax is recognized applying the liability method, on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposesand amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferredtax is not recognized for

= jfitarisesfromthe initial recognitionof an asset or liability in a transaction (otherthan a business combination) that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nortaxable profit,
= jfitarises fromthe initial recognitionof goodwill.

Deferredtax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit (or reversing deferred taxliabilities) will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets, which are not recognized, should be re-
evaluated as of thefinancial statement date and recognized to the extentthat it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are recognized fortemporary differences relating to the subsidiariesand investmentsto the extent that it is
probable that the temporary difference will reversein the nearfuture, and a future taxable profit will be available againstwhich the
temporary difference can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences relating to the subsidiaries and investment, exceptfor the
case thatthe Companycontrols the timing of the reverse of thesetemporary differences, anditis likelythat the relevant temporary
differences will not reversein the nearfuture.

Deferred tax is measured at the taxrates thatare expected to apply to temporary differences when they reverse using income tax rates
enacted or substantially enacted atthe reporting date.

Inthe Company’s statement of financial position deferred tax assetsand liabilities are offset and disclosed as deferred tax asset or
deferredtax liability based on their net balance.

6.2 Income taxes in the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The table below shows the incometax expenses charged in the Profit forthe year.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

COrpOrate iNCOME TAX . .vviivieieeeiectieiteete ettt ste ettt e e e s see e e 984 714
OFNET INCOME TAXES vttt ettt ettt ettt r e s e e e e st e e siees 7,841 7,984
Total CUrrent iNnCOMEtaX BXPENSE ...oviviviiiiiiiie e 8,825 8,698
Deferredtax EXPENSE .....oovveieieee ettt 4,319 2,171
Total iNCOME taX EXPENSE ....uerurrurrerirerersesse s st se s s s e e s s e s e s saesassneans 13,144 10,869
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6.2.1 Tax expense reconciliation

The reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the theoretical amount arising by applying the statutory income tax
ratesis as follows:

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Profit beforeinCometax ........ccovciiviiiiiceice e 55,001 48,535
Calculated amountoftax 9%0 ........ccoovviviiiiiiiiiiiiii s (4,950) (4,368)
Tax shield of items notsubject to iNCOME taX......cccvvvviiininiiiinninnn, (a) 793 1,244
Taximpact of non deductible itemMs ..o (b) (1,918) (584)
Other incometaxes (excl.energy suppliers income tax)..........c.covvene. (c) (7,841) (7,984)
Impact of tax deductibility of otherincometaxes..............coovvviiiiiiiin, (d) 706 719
Energy suppliers’ INCOME taX.......ccuoiveiiviiriiciie s (e) (180) _
Investment tax credit aCCretion ... (f) 246 104
INCOME tAX EXPENSE...c.ueeereereeeracreraerereraerereressesasessesessesessesassessesassens (13,144) (10,869)
Effective taX rate ..o 23.90% 22,39%

(a) Tax shield of items not subjectto income tax

This line of the reconciliation primarily includes the tax shield impact of expenses, which are notincluded in the profit be fore tax, but
deductible when determining the standalone corporateincometax base. These itemsinclude the depreciation of assets (or additional
values of assets) which are not included in the assets of the statements of financial position, and which are not considered in the
deferredtax calculation.

(b) Taximpact of non deductible items

This line of the reconciliation includes the negative tax impactof the expenses included in the profitand loss, but non deductible when
determiningthe corporateincometax base. These itemsprimarily include the non deductible receivable impairment and write-downs
and penalties.

(c) Other income taxes

Other incometaxes include certainlocal and central taxes levied in Hungary. Otherincometaxes include the local business taxand
the innovation tax, levied in Hungary on the companies’ net margins, determined usually at a substantially higherlevelthan the
corporate tax base, but with substantially lowertax rates (max 2%). As the first line of the reconciliation calculates theoretical tax
expense calculated usingthe corporatetax rate, the Hungarian local business taxand the innovation fee impose additionalincom e tax
expenses the Company, included in this line of the reconciliation.

(d) Deductibility of other income taxes from the corporate tax base

The Hungarian local business tax and innovation fee are deductible expenses for corporate tax purposes, the positive tax impact of
whichisincludedin this line of the reconciliation.

(e) Energy suppliers’ income tax

This line of reconciliation includes the Energy suppliers’ incometax levied on energy supplier companies’ profits in Hungary in
addition to the corporate income tax. The taxable profit is the revenue from energy supplyadjusted by certain items that increase or
decrease thetaxable profit. Magyar Telekom is also considered as an energy supplier company subject to the energy suppliers’
income tax, inproportion to its energy revenues. As tax credit can be utilized for the energy supplier’s tax to the extent that the tax
liability can be decreased by a half, this effect isalsoincluded in this line of the reconciliation. As Magyar Telekom Plc. has completely
terminated its energy supplier’s activity, this taxwould no longer be applicablefrom2018.
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(f) Investment tax credit accretion

Investment tax credit accretionincludes the increase of the net present value of the investment tax credit deriving from the utilization of
the tax credits inperiods subsequent to the year of recognition. See alsoNote 6.3.2.1.

6.3 Income taxes in the Statement of financial position

6.3.1 Currenttaxes in the Statement of financial position

Current tax assetsand liabilities inthe Statements of financial position represent the amount of corporate and otherincome taxes
receivablefrom, and payable to the Hungarian tax authorities.

6.3.2 Deferred taxes in the Statement of financial position

Magyar Telekom's deferred taxbalances are as follows:

Balance at Effecton  Other Balance at Effecton Other Balance at
12.31.2016  profit move- 12.31.2017  profit move- 12.31.2018

ments ments
Deferred tax assets and (liabilities)
Investment tax credits 10,870  (3,132) - 7,738 (3,582) - 4,156
Otherfinancial assets - - - - - - -
Impairment of receivables and 1461 (69) - 1392 81 - 1473
PPE and intangible asSets .. (8,426) 208 (54) (8,272) 732 (39) (7,579)
Goodwill (11,130) (1,713) - (12,843) (1,638) - (14,481)
Trade and other payables.......nnn. (2,044) 2,044 - -
Deferred tax effect of IFRS transition ...... - (1,362) - (1,362) 708 (654)
First-time application of IFRS 15.............. - - - - 1,221 (1,221)
Loans and other borrowings ... - - - -
Provisions for liabilities and charges....... 1,284 (295) - 989 307 - 1,296
Total netdeferred tax......ccccceeuenneen. (7,985) (4,319) (54) (12,358) (2,171) (1,260) (15,789)
Of which deferred tax liabilities ... (21,600) (22,477) (22,714)
Of which deferred tax assets......n.. 13,615 10,119 6,925

Items included in the Other movements columnindicate the investment taxcreditdecrease (HUF 54 million in2017 and HUF 39
millionin 2018) which was adjusted against the P&L in deferred taxes. The line of Deferred tax effect of IFRS transition includes the
deferredtax effect of IFRS transition accounted in 2017 and 2018 (Note 6.4). Items in the line of Firsttime application of IFRS 15in
2018 include the effect of thetransition to IFRS 15, the standard on Revenue from contracts with customers.

The Company’s netdeferred tax liabilitybalance as atDecember 31, 2018 was HUF 15,789 millionwhich includes a highamount of
individual deferred tax asset and liability items (seein the table above).

The Company’s netdeferred tax liability balance as atDecember 31, 2017 was HUF 12,358 millionwhich includes a highamount of
individual deferred tax asset and liability items (seein the table above).

Deferredtax assets arisingon investment tax creditsare recognized in Note 6.3.2.1.
Temporary differences associated with investments insubsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities or assets have not been recognized

amounted to a net liability of HUF 20,799 million at December 31, 2018 (HUF 20,798 million was the temporary difference not
recognized at December31, 2017).
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Deferred tax liability on goodwill is related to the goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries (Emitel Zrt.and T-Mobile) in the
Company’s Standalone Financial Statements, which had merged into Magyar Telekom. The amortization of goodwill is a tax
deductible expense in corporateincometax, while under IFRSs there isno amortization accounted in the books. The difference
deriving fromthe two types of accounting is represented by the deferred tax liability.

6.3.2.1 Investment tax credits

In order toincrease broadband internet penetration in Hungary, companiesinvesting over HUF 100 millionin ayearin broadband
assets (e.g. DSL lines, UMTS assets) from 2003 could apply for a corporate taxreduction. Magyar Telekomaccomplished suchtax
credit programs between 2003 and 2008. The tax credit programs commenced in2012 and 2013 are "large investment” programs,
which enable companiesto invest not only in broadband related assets, if the investment value exceeds HUF 3 billion and certain
special criteria(i.e. headcount increase) are met. In case of both types of tax credit programs, the potential reduction of the corporate
tax charge is defined as a percentage of the companies’ capitalinvestmentin qualifying assets. Asboth of these investment taxcredits
are of a government grant nature, Magyar Telekomrecognized the deferred tax assetagainst the cost of the related investment. If the
tax credits are not utilized in the yearwhen eamed, the amount of tax credits carried forward can be utilized ata higher amount as
outstanding amounts plus interests are accreted. This accretion is recognized as anincrease in the investment tax credit balance
against a reduction in the current year deferred tax expense.

The following table showsthe details of the taxcredits:

Accretion Tax credit Tax credit
Amount of Amount of recognized in carried carried

Earned qualifying tax credit tax expense to Tax credit forward forward Expires in

inyear investment earned date utilized 12.31.2018 12.31.2017 year
2012 11,074 3,375 517 (3,892) - 2,564 2021
2013 13,782 4452 490 (954) 3988 5,004 2023
2014 490 156 12 - 168 170 2023
Total 25,346 7,983 1,019 (4,846) 4,156 7,738

In order to utilize thetax credits and certain taxdeductibility opportunities earned by the Company, they have to complywith strict
requirements as set out in the relevant tax regulations. The most importantrequirement forallinvestment tax credits is that the relevant
assets have to be operated for atleast 5 years, which criteriawas sufficientlyfulfilled by the Company. However, forthose eamed in
2012 andin 2013 certain increasein headcount and/or salary has to be maintained for at least 4 subsequent years following the first
year of tax credit utilization. The headcount of the Companyhas to be increased by 150 and maintained in the subsequent 4 ye ars
from the first utilization of the investment taxcredit (which is2012 and 2014). The Company fulfilled the headcount criterion by the end
of 2018.

The 2013 tax credit programwasfinished in January 2014, so the first utilizationof 2013 tax creditis in 2014. The baseyear for both
programsis 2011,

6.4 Tax effects of IFRS transition

Inrelationto corporate income tax, Magyar Telekom Plc. has opted for an exemption with regard to the difference between the IFRS
andlocal GAAPvalue of intangible and tangible assets recorded in the Company’s bookson December 31, 2016, meaningthat the
base of taxation forthese asset categories is calculated according to local GAAP rules. In relation to the remaining balance sheet
items, Magyar Telekom Plc. has calculated an IFRS transition difference of HUF 21.8 billion, which qualifies as a corporate income tax
increasing item. The corporateincometax incurred in relation to this transitiondifference will be paid in 3 equalinstallments in 2017-
2019.

6.5 Tax reviews

The tax authorities have commenced a comprehensive tax audit at Magyar Telekom Plc. in2018 Decemberin relation to the taxyears
of 2016 and 2017. As a result, additional tax assessments with penaltiesand penaltyinterest maybe imposed in 2019. Managementis
not aware of any circumstances which maygiverise to a potential materialliability inthis respect.
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6.6 Dividends paid by Magyar Telekom

The dividends paid and payable by Magyar Telekom to itsowners may be subject to withholding or income taxes of the owners, which
do not have any impact on the amount of the dividend declared or on the Company’s tax expense as these taxes - if any - arelevied
onthe owners.

7 INVENTORIES

7.1 Inventories - Accounting policies

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value usingthe historical cost method of accounting, and are valued on a
weighted average basis. The costof inventories comprises all costs of purchase, cost of construction and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Netrealizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to makethe sale.

Phone sets are often sold for less than cost in connection with promotions to obtain new subscribers with minimum commitment
periods. Such losson the sale of equipment is only recorded when the sale occursif the normal resale value ishigher than the cost of
the phone set. If the normalresale valueis lower than costs, the differenceis recognized asimpairment.

Impairmentlosses on Inventories are recognized in Other operatingexpenses.

7.2 Inventories in the statement of financial position

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

[INVeNtory fOr r8SalE.......cveiveceeieececeece e 13,328 14,702
Other INVENTONY .....oviiecicece s 418 493
SUBLOtALL ..t 13,746 15,195
[MPAITMENT. ... e (3) (3)

13,743 15,192

The Company has no inventory pledged as securityas at December 31, 2017 or December 31,2018.

Impairmentand its reversal are not significant so no impairment movement table are presented.

8 ASSETSAND LIABILITIESHELDFOR SALE

8.1 Assets and liabilities held for sale - Accounting policies

An asset (typicallyreal estate)is classified as held for saleifitisno longer needed forthe future operations of the Company, and has
been designated forsale, which is highly probable to take place within 12 months, and the assetis available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms thatare usual and customary for sales of such assets. These assetsare measured at the lower
oftheir carrying amount and fairvalue less cost to sell. Depreciation is discorntinued from the date of designation to the held for sale
status. When an item of PPE or intangible assets is designated for sale, and the fair value less cost to sell isdetermined to be lower
than the carrying amount, the differenceis recognized in the Profit forthe year (Depreciation and amortization) as an impairment loss.
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8.2 Assets held for sale in the statement of financial position

The assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are disclosed below.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Property, plantand equipment ........c.cccvoeveeveiieieccieccee, 161
Total assets held for sale......c.cvvrrerrersersersersersersersersersersenns 161 -

Assets held for sale include primarily land and buildings identified for sale, which is expected within 12 months, as a result of the
continuing improvement of utilization of properties. These assets are presented at carrying amountas no impairment had to be
recognized when reclassified as held for sale.

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE)

9.1 PPE - Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of an item of PPE comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting
trade discountsand rebates, any costs directlyattributableto bringingthe asset to the location and condition necessaryfor it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item
and restoring thesiteonwhich itis located is alsoincluded in the costs if the obligationincurred is recognized as a provision (see Note
13).

Government grantsrelating to the purchase of PPE are deducted fromthe original cost of the items and are recognized in the Profit for
the year through the reduced amount of depreciation of the related assets over their useful lives. Investment tax creditsrelating to
qualifying investment projects (Note 6.3.2.1.) are also recognized in this manner.

Costinthe case of telecommunications equipment comprises of all expenditures including the cabling within customers' premises and
borrowing costs of related loans.

Subsequent expenditure on an assetis capitalized if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the Company. Maintenance and repairsare recognized as anexpense in the Profitfor the yearwhen incurred.

When assets are scrapped, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the loss is recognized in the
Profit for the year (Depreciation and amortization).

When assets are sold, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accountsand anyrelated gain or loss is
recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operating income).

Depreciation iscalculated on a straight-line basis fromthe time the assets are deployed and charged overtheir economic useful lives.
Onanannual basis, Magyar Telekom reviews the useful livesand residual values for consistency with current development plans and
advances intechnology. Forfurther details on the groups of assets impacted by the most recent useful life revisionsrefer to Note 9.3.
In addition to the regular revisions, any investment decisions made throughout the year mayalsoresultin a change of useful life of a
group of assets in any period of the year. The depreciation expense is presented in the depreciation and amortization line of the
Statements of profit orloss and other comprehensive income.
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The estimated useful lives assigned to different classes of property, plant and equipment are as

follows: Years

BUITAINGS ettt ettt et s s sr st e e et 5-50
Duct, cable and other QUISIAE PIAME.....cc..ueewiime s 3-38
Other telecommunications equipment 2-25
(0T =Yo V1] 0T 1= o OO OO OO RRSURP 2-12

Assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events orchanges in circumstances
indicate thatthe carrying amount may not be recoverable. Animpairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's
carryingamount exceedsits recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets’ fairvalue less costs to selland its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped atthe lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows(cash-generating units - CGUs).

The fair values of the individual items of property, plant and equipment of the Company in most cases cannot be determined as
individual assets do not generate cash flows. Thereforethe Company determines the impairmentof standalone assets on CGU level.
For this point of viewthe whole Company is considered as one CGU. The Company determines fair values atCGU level, primarily by
using discounted cashflowanalyses. Seefurtherinformation in Note 3.2.

The impairment losses of PPE assets are accounted for inthe Depreciation and amortization line of the Statements of profit orloss and
other comprehensiveincome.

64



mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

9.2 PPE in the statement of financial position

Land and Telecom. Other
equivalentrights Buildings equipment equipment Total
01.01.2017
Gross value 7173 109,714 868,164 70,655 1,055,706
Accumulated depreciation ... (2,364) (43,767) (572,960) (60,324) (679,415)
Carrying amount 4,809 65,947 295,204 10,331 376,291
Of which held for Sale....mmmrmermeenen (1,540)
374,751
Carrying amount-01.01.2017 e 4,809 65,947 295,204 10,331 376,291
Changes dueto acquiSItioN.....wemreee - 297 (31) - 266
Changes dueto revisions of asset
retirement 0bligations .......erceveessieeeens 1 1,796 36,542 8916 47,255
Investments 1 9 224 16 250
Disposals (20) (959) (36) (114) (1,129)
Depreciation Charge .. (74) (3,359) (42,310) (5,297) (51,040)
Reclassifications 61 582 (5) (638)
Carrying amount-12.31.2017 .ereren 4,778 64,313 289,588 13,214 371,893
12.31.2017
Gross value 7,128 109,694 852,290 73,337 1,042,449
Accumulated depreciation ... (2,350) (45,381) (562,702) (60,123) (670,556)
Carrying amount 4,778 64,313 289,588 13,214 371,893
Of which held for sale.. e 161)
371,732
Carrying amount-01.01.2018 ....ceeeen 4778 64,313 289,588 13,214 371,893
Changes dueto revisions of asset
retirement 0bligations ..., - 140 M - 139
Investments 33 1,384 45580 5527 52,524
Addition dueto acquiSItion ...
Disposals (662) (4,665) (387) (170) (5,884)
Depreciation Charge ... (77) (3,508) (49,914) (5,589) (59,088)
Reclassifications 22 1,589 (2,017) 406
Carrying amount-12.31.2018 .....cccoenen 4,094 59,253 282,849 13,388 359,584
12.31.2018
Gross value 6,521 104,444 861,930 73,470 1,046,365
Accumulated depreciation ... (2,427) (45,191) (579,081) (60,082) (686,781)
Carrying amount 4,094 59,253 282,849 13,388 359,584
Of which held for sale..eeneeesieeen -
359,584
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The closing balance of Property, plant and equipment (PPE) includes assets inthe course of construction in an amount of HUF 47,773
million as at December 31, 2018 (2017: HUF 44,624 million). Inthe table above the assets in course of construction are shownin the
categories wherethe asset isexpected to be classified when placed into service.

Changes due to revisions of asset retirement obligations represent the adjustments of the carryingamounts of the assets against a
provision for asset retirement obligation(see also Note 13.2.4).

The amount of reclassifications and its effect on depreciation are notsignificant.

Investments represent the regularinvesting activityin PPE assets.

No impairment was identified in 2017 and 2018.

Included in buildings are assets sold and leased back under finance lease conditions. At December 31, 2018 the cost of the assets
leased back is HUF 4,048 million (2017:HUF 4,048 million) and their carrying amount (net) is HUF 1,249 million (2017:HUF 1,529
million).

Included mainlyin buildings and telecomequipment are alsoassets leased underfinance lease conditions other than sale and lease
back. At December31, 2018 the cost of the finance leased assets is HUF 704 million (2017: HUF 3,391 million) and the carrying
amount (net) is HUF 486 million (2017: HUF 849 million).

The Company has no PPE withrestricted titlesor pledged as security as atDecember 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

9.3 Review of useful lives

The reviews of the useful lives (and residual values) of property, plant and equipment during 2018 affected the lives of a large number
of assets including primarily inhouse network assets. The revisions resulted in the following change in the original trend of
depreciation inthe current and future years.

2018 2019 2020 2021 After 2021

Increase/ (decrease)in
depreciation expense............ 10,498 3,205 1,651 (76) (15,278)

10INTANGIBLE ASSETS

10.1 Intangible assets - Accounting policies

Intangible assets (excluded goodwill) are measured at historical cost less accumulated amortizationand any accumulated impairment
losses.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basisofthe costs incurred to acquire and bring to use. These costs are
amortized over the estimated useful life of the software. Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs
are generally recognized as anexpense as incurred. Costs directlyassociated with the production of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the Company, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceedingcosts beyond one year, are
recognized as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development employee related costs and an appropriate portion of
relevant overhead and borrowing costs.

Computer software development costsrecognized as assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Most computer software
capitalized include acquired elements representing the majority of the cost and own costs incurred to a lesser extent. These are
considered asnon self developed software. Computer software fully deve loped by own resources represent an immaterial portion of all
software, therefore these are not disclosed separately.

Costs associated withthe acquisition of long term frequency licenses are recognized as an intangible asset when the Company
receives a right to charge users of the service provided underthe license. The present value of the future annual payments for the use
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ofthe frequencies are also capitalized if these payments can be estimated reliably, or otherwise recognized as Other operating
expenses in the year the payment obligation refers to. The useful lives of concessionsand licenses are determined based on the
underlying agreements and are amortized on a straight line basis overthe period fromavailability of the frequency forcomme rcial use
until the end of the initial concession or license term. Renewal periods are considered in the determinationof useful life only if the
Company estimates that it will be realized without further consideration to be transferred.

Amortization of intangible assets iscalculated on a straightine basis fromthe time the assets are deployed and charged overtheir
economic usefullives. Other than goodwill, the Company has no intangible assets withindefinite useful life. The amortizationexpense
is presented in the depreciation and amortization line of the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Onan annual basis, Magyar Telekom reviews the useful livesfor consistency with current developmentand replacement plans and
advances intechnology. Forfurther details on the groups of assets impacted by the most recent useful life revisionsrefer to Note 10.3.
The annual revisions are conducted in the second quarter of the year and the resulting changes are applied from the third quarter of
the year. In additionto the regular revisions, anyinvestment decisions made throughout the year may also resutlt in a change of useful
life of a group of assetsin any period of the year.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets other than goodwill are as follows:

Years
SOWATE ...ttt et 2-24
CONCESSIONS ANATICENSES ...ttt ettt n s 3-25
Other INTANGIDIE ASSELS ......viiie ettt e et et 3-10

Atthe date of transitionto IFRS (January 1,2016) the Company recognized goodwill on those investmentsthat merged into the
Company aftertheir acquisition but beforethe date of transitionto IFRS in its separate statement of financial position.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition overthe fair value of the Company’s share of the net assets and contingent
liabilities of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwillis carried at cost less anyaccumulated impairment losses.
Impairmenttesting is carried out on anannual basis forall goodwillin the last quarter of the year based on the carrying values as at
September 30 of the year. Impairment losseson goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losseson the disposal of an entity orbusiness
include the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the entity or business sold. See further information in Note 3.2.

In determining whetheran asset that incorporates both intangible and tangible elements should be accounted for asa property, plant
and equipment or as anintangible asset, management uses judgment to assess which elementismore significant and recognizes the
assets accordingly.

Assets that are subject to amortizationor depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate thatthe carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's
carryingamount exceedsits recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets’ fair value less costs to selland its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped atthe lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows(cash-generating units - CGUs).

The fair values of the individual intangible assets of the Companyin most cases cannot be determined as individual assets do not
generate cash flows. Instead, the Company determines CGUs to whichthe individual assets are allocated and the fairvaluescan only
be determined at CGU level, primarily by using discounted cash flow analyses. See alsoNote 3.2. Corporate assetswhich have the
distinctive characteristics of not generating cash inflows independently of other assets orgroups of assets are allocated to CGUs when
conducting impairment tests.

Fair valueis determined on the CGU level, primarily by using discounted cash flowanalyses.

See also Note 3.2. Ifthe calculated fair value less costto sellis lower than the carrying amount of the CGU, goodwill isi mpaired.

The impairment losses of intangible assets including thatof goodwill are accounted for in the Depreciation and amortizationline of the
Statements of profit orloss and other comprehensive income.
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Goodwill licenses Software Other Total

01.01.2017

Gross value 173,572 175,695 243,201 3,555 596,023
Accumulated amortization ... (42,703) (159,372) (1,879) (203,954)
Carrying amouUNt co.eeeweeseerssersseesesee 173,572 132,992 83,829 1,676 392,069
Carrying amount - 01.01.2017........ 173,572 132,992 83,829 1,676 392,069
Changes dueto acquisition ... 4,207 4,207
Investments 19,171 19,171
Disposals (10) (10)
Amortization charge ... (14,481) (21,724) (602) (36,807)
Reclassifications ... - - -
Carrying amount - 12.31.2017........ 173,572 118,511 81,266 5,281 378,630
12.31.2017

Gross value 173,572 175,691 261,322 7,761 618,346
Accumulated amortization ... (57,180) (180,056) (2,480) (239,716)
Carrying amouUNt ... 173,572 118,511 81,266 5,281 378,630
Carrying amount - 01.01.2018....... 173,572 118,511 81,266 5,281 378,630
Addition due to acquisition ...

Investments 15,713 19,837 638 36,188
Disposals (87) (87)
Amortization Charge .. emmemmeenes (14,494) (19,573) (678) (34,745)
Reclassification ... e - - - -
Carrying amount - 31.12.2018........ 173,572 119,730 81,443 5,241 379,986
12.31.2018

Gross value 173,572 191,403 280,534 8,310 653,819
Accumulated amortization ... (71,673) (199,091) (3,069) (273,833)
(07 UiVl aTo Jr= Uy To TV T | — 173,572 119,730 81,443 5,241 379,986

Investments represent the regularinvesting activityin intangible assets. Additionsto Concessions and licenses in 2018 includethe
cost of the right of use of the newfrequency bands prolonged by the NMIAH for the Companyin 2018 and the present value of the
annual fees payablefor the use of these frequenciesuntil 2027. (See also Notes4.4.2 and 34.)

The amortization expense as well as theimpairment losses of intangible assetsincluding also goodwillis accounted for inthe
Depreciation and amortization line of the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The amount of reclassifications

and its effect on depreciation are not significant.

The Company has no intangible assets with restricted title or pledged as security as at December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
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10.3 Useful lives

The reviews of the useful lives (and residual values) of intangible assetsduring 2018 affected the livesof a large number of assets
including primarily software. The reviews of the useful lives of intangible assets during 2018 resulted inthe following change in the
original trend of amortization in the current and future years.

2018 2019 2020 2021 After 2021

Increase/(decrease)in
depreciation expense............ 233 (498) 146 44 75

10.4 Goodwill

Atthe date of transitionto IFRS (January 1,2016) the Companyrecognized goodwill on investments that merged into the Company
after their acquisition but beforethe date of transitionto IFRS in its separate statement of financial position.

The Company recognizes goodwill forthe following merged investments:

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
T-Mobile ..o, 161,374 161,374
KTV/T-Kabel......cocveiennes 4,408 4,408
T-0OnliNe...cvcveveveveeveveee, 54 54
Emitel Zrt. o, 6,471 6,471
Dél-Vonal Kft. .....ccoveveeennes 100 100
Cable TV acquisitions......... 462 462
ModultechnikaKft. ............ 703 703
Total . 173,572 173,572

The Company is a considerable part of MT-Hungary segment on Magyar Telekom Group level. The goodwill presented inthe
Company was tested as the considerable partof this segment.

For the goodwillimpairment tests, the total amount of goodwill was allocated to the operating segments of the Group and the
recoverable amounts of the operating segments were determined based on fairvalues less costs of disposal based on Level 3inputs in
the fair value calculations (Note 4.5.1). The recoverable amounts of the segments disclosed in the table below exclude netdebts,
which are not allocated to the segments. For furtherinformation, please also see Note 3.2.

As atDecember 31,
2017 2018

Carrying amount of Recoverabl Carrying amount of Recoverabl
goodwill operating e amount of goodwill operating e amount of

allocated segment operating allocated segment operating

(incl. segment (incl. segment

goodwill) goodwill)

MT-Hungary.......... 192,085 791,806 1,703,753 192,905 785,911 1,250,068

The Group regularly carries out animpairment test on goodwill in the last quarter of the financial years. Duringthe annualimpairment
test conducted in thelastquarterof 2017 and 2018 no goodwill impairment was established for any goodwill.
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10.5 Significantindividual intangible assets

The Company’s most significant individual intangible assets arethe mobile licenses. The carrying values and remaining amortization
periods of the significant licensesare listed inthe table below. Forfurther information on these assets, please see Note 34.2.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Carrying Remaining Carrying Remaining
amount amortization amount amortization
period (years) period (years)
Licensesacquiredin2014 ................ 82,192 17 72,211 16
Licenses prolongedin 2018.............. 31,717 4 39,509 11
Hungarian3Glicense .........cccveue... 3,581 2 1,788 1
Other e, 1,021 - 1,222 -
Total concessions and licenses........ 118,511 119,730

In December 2018 based on the resolution of the NMIAH Magyar Telekom’s frequency usage rights in the 2100 MHz frequencyband
otherwise expiring on December 27, 2019 were prolonged until June 27, 2027. For the three duplex 5 MHz frequency blocks Magyar
Telekomis requiredto paya price of HUF 11 billion, due in the first quarter of 2019. As this agreement provides sufficient basis fora
reliable estimate of the future annual fees payable related to these Hungarian frequency licenses, the present value of the annual fees
payable (HUF 4.2 billion) were recognized as part of the carrying amount of the licenses as intangible assets with corresponding
currentand non currentfinancial liabilitiesfalling due from 2018 to 2027.

11INVESTMENTS

11.1 Investments - accounting policies

Investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and joint operations are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost of an investment is the fair value of consideration given, including contingent considerations and transaction costs
incurred during the acquisition process.

The Company examines thatan investment may or may not be impaired by using internal and external information.
Magyar Telekomimplements the requirementsof IAS 36 standard as the following:

Ifthe carrying amount of investmentexceeds HUF 20 billion thenits recoverable amount is always analyzed with DCF model
(irrespective of whetherthere is any indication of impairment or not).

Ifthe carrying amount of investmentdoes not exceed HUF 20 billion then the Company examines considering the followings whether
there wereany changes related to these investments which requires the preparation of impairment assessment based on DCF model:

1)  The Company examines the possibility whether there were or expected to be any significant changeswithan adverse effect
during the period inthe investment’s technological, market, economic and legal environment or economic downtum can be
expected or not.

2) The company examines the future development of the forecasted results inits investments.

3) Ifsubsidiaries, joint ventures or associates recognize dividend then it has to be examined whether theinvestments’ carrying
amount inthe Company’s Standalone Financial Statements exceeds the carrying amount of the investment’s net assets
(including goodwill) recognized inthe consolidated financial statements. In addition, it has to be examined whether inthe
period the dividend wasdeclared it exceeds the amount of reserve available for dividend distribution since the acquisition of
the control.

If any of the above 3 examinationindicates that the market value of the investment declinesbelowitscarrying amount then the
Company preparesthe impairment assessment based on DCF model also forthat investment wherethe carrying amount does not
exceed HUF 20 billion.
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Ifthe carrying amount of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, the Companyrecognizes the necessary impairment loss. If
the recoverable amount of the investment exceeds itscarrying amount, no impairmentis necessary. The previously recorded
impairment canbe reversed to the extent the carrying amount doesnot exceed the recoverable amount orif thisamount is lower than
the carrying amount before the impairments settled earlier.

11.2 Investments

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement withthe entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power overthe entity. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible are alsoconsidered when assessing whether the
Company controlsanother entity.

As December 31, 2017 and 2018,the Company's investments insubsidiaries are summarized as follows.

01.01.2017 . 12.31.2017 . 12.31.2018
. Changesin . Changesin .
Opening Carrying Carrying
2017 2018

amounts amounts amounts
Stonebridge AD. ...ccooveviviine, 77,999 - 77,999 - 77,999
T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. ... 32,451 8,369 40,820 1,164 41,984
Combridge SR.L .ccoovevvvirne, 2,544 - 2,544 - 2,544
Novatel EQ.O.D. «oovoeviiinne 1,999 - 1,999 - 1,999
Investel Zrt. ..o, 1,658 - 1,658 - 1,658
CrnogorskiTelekom AD. .......... 35,925 (35,925) - - -
GTS HungaryKft. ..ooovvvvvvnns 9,844 (9,844) - - -
Other ..o 5,480 - 5,480 - 5,480
o] : 1 P 167,900 (37,400) 130,500 1,164 131,665

The Company examined the indicators mentioned in Note 11.1 and carried out the tests and no impairment occurred so impairment
was not recordedin 2018.

The impairment recognized for investment was HUF 2 million accumulated on December 31, 2017 and 2018.

In December 2018 the Company made an agreement with T-SystemsMagyarorszag Zrt. on waivinga right to HUF 1,500 million
repayments of debts givento T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. by the Company. Forthat reason, the investmentsin T-Systems
Magyarorszag Zrt. was increased by HUF 1,500 million. Meanwhile the investment was decreased by HUF 336 million in consequence
of capital withdrawal.

The major activities of GTS Hungary Kft. restructured continuously duringthe last yearsas a result of which networks and the clients
served weretransferred into the Company. GTS Hungary Kft. paid a higher dividend thanits profit forthe year forthe Company which
resulted that the value of investmentdecreased with HUF 4,425 million in 2016 and withHUF 1,475millionin2017. The remaining
HUF 8,369 million of the investment increased the investment in T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. when GTS Hungary Kft. merged into T-
Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.

In consequence of the sale of Crnogorski Telekom A.D. in January, 2017 the investment was removed fromthe accounts.

ESOP Organization isa special organization of Magyar Telekom which is controlled by the Company without any shares init. Further
informationsee Note 20.
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Shortdescriptions of companies in which Magyar Telekom Plc. has significant shares:

Stonebridge Communications A.D. Skopje (Stonebridge A.D.)

In December 2000, Magyar Telekom, on behalf of a consortium, reached anagreement with the government of Macedonia to
purchase 51 percentof Makedonski TelekomA.D.,, the leading telecommunication provider of Macedonia. The 51 percent ownership
acquired by Magyar Telekom was contributed in 2001 to a newly established Macedonian holding company, Stonebridge A.D.
residing in Skopje which is owned by the Magyar TelekomPlc.in 100%.

GTS Hungary Tavkoézlési Kft. (GTS Hungary Kft.)

The Magyar TelekomPlc.'s Board of Directors approved the contract on acquiring the 100% share of GTS HungaryKft. on February
25, 2015. After the acquisition the transaction wasregistered at Court of Registry of Budapest Environs Regional Court on April 1,
2015,

GTS Hungary Kft.is a leading alterative infocommunication service providerin Hungary, provides fixed line voice, data, internet and
IT servicesfor businessand residential customers. In 2017 GTS Hungary Tavkozlési Kft. along with Serverinfo-ngatlan Kft. merged
into T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.

T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.

In 2006 Magyar TelekomPlc. purchased the 100% ownership inKFKIZrt. In the course of years the companyhad several
transformationsresulted numerous mergers. In 2012, the company changed its name and continues itsactivities under the name of T-
Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. In 2017 Serverinfo-Ingatlan Kft. (operated asa subsidiary of T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. until the merger)
and GTS Hungary TavkdzlésiKft. merged into T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.

Combridge S.R.L.

The company is an alternative telecommunication service provider of Romania. Its main activities are: international and domestic
leased lineconnection, intemnational interet access, international IPVPN services, roaming services and international VolP call
termination. Magyar TelekomPIc. has a 100% share in Combridge S.R.L

Novatel E.O0.0.D.

The company was established in2004 with headquarters in Bulgaria. The company's main activities are: international and domestic
leased line connection, interational intemet access and IPVPN services, roaming services, infocommunication business solutions and
international call termination. Magyar Telekom Plc. has a 100% share in Novatel E.0.O.D.

Crnogorski Telekom A.D.

In 2004, Magyar Telekom won the tender forthe sale of a 51.12 percentstake in Crnogorski Telekom A.D. issued by the Montenegrin
Privatization Agency. Crnogorski Telekom isthe leading telecommunication service provider of Montenegro. The share purchase
agreement was signed in2005 in the amount of EUR 114 million. In 2005, Magyar Telekom acquired a further 25.41 percent share for
EUR 27 million based on an agreement with minority shareholders. In January 2017, the Company signed a share purchase agreement
with Hrvatski TelekomD.D. forthe sale of its 76.53% majority shareholding in Crnogorski Telekom A.D. totalled EUR 123.5 million
(HUF 38.5 billion). Magyar Telekom did not presented this investment as assets held for salein 2016 year-end because the sale was
decidedonly inJanuary, 2017.

Ajointarrangement isan arrangement whereby two or more parties have joint control.

Ajointventure is a joint arrangement whereby the partiesthat have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint controlis the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consentof the parties sharing control.

Associatesare entities over which the Company hassignificantinfluence but not contral, generally reflecting a votingright between
20% and 50%.
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As of December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Company's investments in joint venture are summarized as follows:

12.31.2017 . 12.31.2018
, Changesin .
Carrying Carrying
2018
amounts amounts
E2 Hungary Zrt. ..o 1,000 - 1,000
Total 1,000 1,000

Magyar Telekomsigned an agreement with MET Holding AG, a leading integrated retail energy services traderin the region to
establish a joint venture inHungary, E2 Hungary Zrt. asof July9, 2015. E2 Hungary providesenergy services for business customers
from 2016. The company's issued capitalis HUF 200 million, and additional HUF 1,800 millionwas contributed as additional paid-in
capital which were fully paid by both parties. The joint venture isset up by the parties on a 50:50 ownership basis with balanced rights
inthe management structure. The cost and the carrying amount of the investment in E2 Hungary Zrt. amounted to HUF 1,000 million
asatDecember 31,2018 and 2017.

The Company had no investment in associates at December 31, 2017 and 2018.

The Company had no contingent liabilities or commitments relating to its joint venture at December 31, 2017 and 2018.

11.3 Joint operations

Magyar Telekomand TelenorHungary agreedin 2015 to jointly operate and develop their 800MHz 4G mobile networksin all parts of
Hungary except Budapest. The primary goal of the agreement was to accelerate 4G mobile broadband coveragerolloutin the
countryside and to offer higher bandwidth to the 4G customers, inline with the coverage obligations of the 800 MHz spectrum contract
signedin 2014 with the NMIAH. Based on the agreement, Telenor Hungary maintains sites in West Hungary and Magyar Telekom
operates sitesin the easternregion of the country.

The Company assessed the agreement as joint operationas strategic decisions are made jointly by Magyar Telekomand Telenor, and
there is no separate vehicle to control the operation of the arrangement. The Companydoes not share the obligations for liabilities and
any returns or expenses beyond the assets included in the agreement.

Therefore only the assetsowned by the Companyare recognized while there isno need to present the partner's assets, liabilities, or
revenues and expenses. The charges fromMT to Telenorand from Telenorto MT are almost equal and settled on a net basis and

accounted for in the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensiveincome and the effect of this settlement is not significant.

In case any of the parties initiates the termination of this contract, inorderto ensurethe continuous service forthe customersthe
Company might be exposed to additional capital expenditure. The probability is estimated remote by the Management currently.

12 0THERASSETS
Other assets usually include current and non currentreceivables considered non-financial instruments.

12.1 Other current assets

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Accrued income and prepayments for costs and eXxpenses................... 3,548 4,869
OthertaxreCeivable ........coccviiiiiiiiecee e 603 1,070
Other TECEIVADIES. ...ttt 3,025 410
o] | T 7,176 6,349
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12.2 Other non current assets

Other non current assetsinclude assets recognized from the costs to obtain contracts with customers (amountingto HUF 4,043
million, see Note 18.4) and HUF 138 million longterm prepaid employee benefits relating to housing loans provided by the Company
to employees at lowerthan market interest rates (see Note 4.1.1.4 and 4.1.2.3.(d)).

13 PROVISIONS

13.1 Provisions - Accounting policies

Provisions arerecognized when Magyar Telekom hasa present legal or constructive obligation (excluding executory contracts) as a
result of past events and it isprobable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amountof the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the economic outflow required to settle the present obligation at the reporti ng date.
The estimate can be calculated as the weighted average of estimated potential outcomes or can also be the single most like ly
outcome.

Provisions expected to fall due after 12 months are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at the pretaxratethat
reflects currentmarket assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discourt is
recognised asInterest expense.

Expenses for provisionsare recognized in the line item of the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income wherethe
actual expense is expected to be presented. When a provision is released unused, it isreleased to the sameline item of the Statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income where it was originally provided for. Provisions made for liabilities expected to be
incurredinforeign currencyarerecognized in the functional currencyat the spot FX rate, and anychange in the provisionin the
functional currencyas a result of a subsequent changein the FXrateis recognized in Otherfinance expense - net.

13.2 Provisions in the statement of financial position

Severan-  Share- Other Total
ce based employee employee Legal
payment payments related related cases ARO Other Total

01.01.2017 1,839 486 933 3,258 1,026 7,101 700 12,085
REVErSed...mmmmmsssssssissnens (447) (32) (13) (492) (121) (73) (683) (1,369)
AdAItIONS coeveeeeveerseenssenensens 2,521 364 133 3,018 14 339 432 3,803
QY ECTCCE - 4 (7) (3) (77) 157 - 7
Utilized (incl. interest

COMPONENt)cvvvrerrrsereserresens (2,376) (66) (502) (2,944) (622) (38) (6) (3,610)
31.12.2017 ... 1,537 756 544 2,837 220 7,486 443 10,986
Of which current ... 1,290 - 529 1,819 78 18 397 2,312
Of which non current.......... 247 756 15 1,018 142 7,468 46 8,674
01.01.2018......crceeeneee 1,537 756 544 2,837 220 7,486 443 10,986
[RTCIVETET:To T (260) (69) (13) (342) (146) (35) (95) (618)
PaYo [o 11 [o] o F- S 2,610 632 5 3247 1172 174 1,028 5,621
QY ECTCCE - 1 - 1 (33) 191 - 159
Utilized (incl. interest

COMPONENt)cvvervvrreresenresens (2,387) (6) (527) (2,920) - (42) (46) (3,008)
31.12.2018 1,500 1,314 9 2,823 1,213 7,774 1,330 13,140
Of which current ... 1,219 643 - 1,862 2 24 382 2,270
Of which non current.......... 281 671 9 961 1,211 7,750 948 10,870
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The Interest lines in the table above include the subsequentunwinding of the discountapplied at initial recognitionand the interest
element of any provisionrecognized, as well asthe release of the interest / accretion element incase of reversal of provisions.

Magyar Telekomdoes not expect any reimbursement with regards to the provisions recognized, therefore, no related assets have been
recognized in the financial statements.

13.2.1 Severance payment

The majority of the provision for severance as at December 31, 2018 relatesto the stand-by-pool and the employee terminations
payable in relationto the 2019 efficiency improvement in Magyar Telekom. The stand-by-pool of employees includes people whose
legal status isan employee, however, these people do not provide services to the Companyany more, but the Company provides a
reduced amount of compensationand pays social security expenses forthem. This isa way of severance that is not paid in one lump
sum but in monthly installments. The majority of the provision for severance asat December 31, 2017 also related to the stand-by-pool
andthe employee terminations paid in relation to the 2018 efficiencyimprovement in Magyar Telekom.

740 employees left the Company in 2018 (2017: 860), related to which termination paymentswere made. The balance of provision as
at December 31, 2018 relatesto 137 employees and formeremployeesin the stand-by-pool (2017: 396).

The total payments made inrelation to employeeterminationin 2018 amounted to HUF 2,858 million (201 7: HUF 3,094 million).

13.2.2 Share-based payments

The bases of the provisionsfor share-based payments are described in Note 20.1.2.

13.2.3 Legal cases

Provisions for legal cases mainlyinclude amounts expected to be paid to regulatory and competition authorities aswell as to ex-
employees and trading partners as aresult of legal disputes. There are numerous legal casesfor which provisionswere recognized,
which are individually not material.

13.2.4 Asset retirement obligations (ARO)

Asset retirement obligations primarily exist in case of the telecommunications structures constructed on third parties’ properties. The
Company carriesout a revision of the necessary provisionsevery year. The revisions did not result inmaterial changes in 2018 or
2017,

13.2.5 Other provisions

Other provisions include guarantee obligations, onerous contracts and further other individually small items.

14 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

12.31.2017  12.31.2018

Other taxes and SOCial SECUMLY ....vevvviiveiiiiiiieciec e 10,335 8,953
Contract liabilities (NOte 18.4)......ccevviiiiiiiiiieiie e - 7,393
SalarieS ANAWAGES ......ccveivieiiieie et 5,509 6,667
Deferred revenue and advances reCeiVed.........oivvvivvviieeriesiieeinnes 7,990 2,063
Advances received for asset-related grants..........ccoovevviivivinannas (a) 4,648 1,851
Dividend payableto non controlled interest..........c.ccooviviiiiiininnns " 10
Other HADIHIES. ...vevvvvvevereeieee e 290 19
o] | 28,783 26,956
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(a) Advances received for asset-related grants

In2016 HUF 12.2 billionof EU funds have been granted to Magyar Telekom. This is a result of the first and second rounds of a tender
aimed at developingdigital networks nationwide to cover households in Westernand Eastem parts of Hungary with a fixed netw ork
capable of reaching speed of at least 30 Mbps. The Company used up HUF 3,318 million of this advancein 2018 (1,416 million in
2017). See also Note 9 for government grants relating to the purchase of PPE and Note 28 for details of Purchase of PPE and
intangible assets.

15 OTHERNON CURRENT LIABILITIES

In 2017 Other non current liabilities include HUF 286 million deferred revenues related to long term projects and customer loyalty
programs which was transferred to other current liabilities in 2018.

16 EQUITY

16.1 Equity reconciliation table

InaccordancewithAct C of 2000 on Accounting (,HAR”) effective in Hungary, the following equity reconciliation table showsthe
reconciliation between the components of equity presented in these financial statements (under EU IFRS) and the equitycompon ents
defined by Section 4 (a) 114/B of HAR. The reconciliation consists of an allocation of equity components under EU IFRSto equity
components under HAR and adjustments for differences betweenthe equities determined on different bases.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Equityin accordance with IFRS (Section 4 (a) 114/B)*

Common stock 104,274 104,274
Reserves 407,720 436,176
Treasury stock (27) (49)
Profit or loss forthe year 41,857 37,666
Total equity 553,824 578,071

Section 4 (a) 114/B Equity*

Equity 553,824 578,071
Supplementary payments received and recognised asa liability inIFRS (+) - -
Supplementary payments paid and recognised as anassetin IFRS(-) -

Any cash to be transferred to the capital reserve on the basis of legal provisions, and

assets received, recognised asdeferredincome(+) -

Receivables from owners arising from capital increase that qualifies asan equity

instrument (-) - -
Total equity 553,824 578,071

Section 4 (b) 114/B Common stock in accordance with IFRS**
Common stock provided for by the articles of association if that qualified as an equity

instrument 104,274 104,274
Nominal value of own shares repurchased (-) (4) (10)
Common stock in accordance with IFRS 104,270 104,264

Section 4 (c) 114/B Subscribed but unpaid capital -
Amount has not yet been provided for the owner from the common stock inaccordance
with I[FRS -
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Section 4 (d) 114/B Capital reserves 12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Sum of all part of equity that does not comply with the definitions of common stock,
subscribed but unpaid capital, retained earnings, valuation reserve, profit orloss forthe

year or restricted reserves in accordance with IFRS 25,078 23,359
Total capital reserves 25,078 23,359

Section 4 (e) 114/B Retained eamings

Previous years’ profit accumulated and not yet distributed forthe owners disclosed in the

financial statements inaccordance with [FRS that may not include other comprehensive

income (£) 382,642 412,817
Supplementary payments paid and recognised as anassetin IFRS(-) - -
Unused developmentreserve (-) -

Unused developmentreserve related deferred tax based on IAS 12 (+) - -
Total retained earnings 382,642 412,817

Section 4 (f) 114/B Valuation reserve

Accumulated amount of other comprehensive income disclosed in the statements of

comprehensiveincome (+) -

Other comprehensiveincome disclosed inthe statements of comprehensive income

including other comprehensive income from the current year () -

Valuation reserve - -

Section 4 (g) 114/B Prdfit orloss forthe year

Profit or loss forongoing activitiesdisclosed in statementof performance in its ownright

within the comprehensive income statement or inthe separate profitand lossstatement (-) 41,857 37,666
Profit or loss for discontinued activities disclosed in statement of performancein its own

right within the comprehensive income statement or in the separate profit and loss

statement - -
Profitor loss for the year 41,857 37,666

Section 4 (h) 114/B Restricted resenves
Supplementary payments received and recognised asa liability inIFRS (+) -
Unused developmentreserve (+) -

Unused developmentreserve related deferred tax based on IAS 12 (-) -
Total restricted reserves - -

Section 5 (a) 114/B Reconciliation of the capital registered by the Court of Registry with the
subscribed capital under IFRS*

Capital registered by the Court of Registry 104,274 104,274
Subscribed capital under IFRS 104,270 104,264
Difference (nominal value of treasury stock repurchased) 4 10

Section 5 (b) 114/B Untied retained earnings available for the payment of dividends

Retained earnings (contains profit or loss of the last financial year) 424,499 450,483
Cumulative unrealized gains claimed in connection with any increasein the fairvalue of

investment properties as provided in IAS 40 (-) - -
Cumulative income taxaccounted forunder IAS 12 Income Taxes related to cumulative

unrealized gains claimed in connection with anyincrease in the fair value of investment

properties as provided inlAS 40 (+) - -
Untied retained earnings available for the payment of dividends 424,499 450,483

*The amounts of Reserves and Equitywere disclosed inexactly in 2017 and therefore the previousyear's amounts were corrected.
** Common stock shows the value of common stock recorded inarticle of association in the balance sheet, the table above contains
the deduction defined in the relevantsections of the Hungarian Act on Accounting.
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17 LEASES

17.1. Leases - Accounting policies

Alease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or series of payments theright to use an
asset for a period of time set out in the contract. A lease can be either anoperating lease or a finance lease.

According to the accounting principle of substance over (legal) form, in practice not only those arrangements can accounting-wise
qualify for leases that are denominated as leases.

Inthe Company’s practice, the following can be inparticular arrangements that are not legally leases but mightcontainleases:

= arrangements assigningnetwork capacityrights to others
= outsourcingtype arrangements (i.e. whereby the Company outsources its own resources/assets/some of its activities/certain
employees to another company).

An arrangement contains alease, if the fulfilment of the arrangement isdependent on the use of a specific asset or assets orif the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset(s). The arrangement conveys the right to use the assef(s) whenthe arrangement conveys
the control overthe use of the underlying asset(s) for thelessee. If anarrangement containsa lease, thenthe lease element of the
arrangement should be classified and accounted for as either operating orfinance lease. The element of the arrangement otherthan
the lease element should be accounted forin accordance with the applicable standards.

For the purpose of applying the classification and accounting rules, payments and other consideration required by the arrangement
shall be separated at the inception of the arrangement or upona reassessment ofthe arrangement intothose for the lease and those for
other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. In doing such separation, a significant degree of estimation might be necessary.

If all the benefitsand risks related to the ownership of the leased asset are transferred to the lesseethenthe lease is classified as finance
lease. All lease transactions not classified asfinance lease are operating lease. The classificationwhethera lease is finance or operating
lease depends on the actual content of the transactionand not on the form of the contract.

a) Finance lease - Company as lessor

Leases of assets where Magyar Telekom transfers substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Under finance leases, the Company recognizes revenue and a finance lease receivable at the commencement of the lease. The
revenue equals the estimated present value of the minimumlease payments receivable and any unguaranteed residual value accruing
tothe lessor (net investment inthe lease). The cost of the assetsold in afinance lease transaction isrecognized in Profit for the period
atthe commencement of the lease. Each lease receipt is allocated between the receivable and interest income so as to produce a
constant rate of return on the netinvestment inthe finance lease. The interestincome element of the lease receipt is recognizedin
Interestincome.

Finance leases mainly include equipment provided to business customers as part of our outsourcing contracts wherethe Company is
the service provider.

b) Finance lease - Company as lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where Magyar Telekom assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the fairvalue of the assetor if lower, at the estimated pre sent value of the
future minimum lease payments against afinance lease payable. Eachlease payment is allocated between the finance lease liability and
interest expense so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the outstanding balance payable. The finance lease obligati ons, net of
finance charges, areincluded in the Statement offinancial position (Other financial liabilities). The interest element of the lease payments
is charged to the Profit forthe year (Interest expense) over the lease period. Property, plant and e quipment acquired under finance lease
contracts are depreciated overthe shorter of the lease term orthe useful life of the asset.
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c¢) Operating lease - Company as lessor

Assets leased to customers under operating leases are included in Property, plant and equipment in the Statement of financial
position. They are depreciated overtheir expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar assets. Rental revenue is recognized
asrevenue on a straight-ine basisoverthe leaseterm.

d) Operating lease - Company as lessee

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to the Profit forthe year (Other operating expenses) on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

e) Sale and leaseback transactions

Sale and leasebacktransactionsinvolve the sale of an asset by Magyar Telekom and the leasing of the same asset or part of itback to
Magyar Telekom. When sale and leaseback transactions qualified as finance leases any gain on the saleis deferred and recognized in
the Profit for the year overthe lease term through lower depreciation expense. If the leaseback qualified as an operating lease, any
gains or losses on the sale are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operatingincome) at the time of the sale as the sales price
reflects the fairvalue of the asset, while the lease payments are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operating expenses) on a
straight line basis overthe period of the lease.

17.2 Finance lease

17.2.1 Finance lease - Company as lessor

Future leasereceivables under finance leases at December 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

12.31.2017 12.31.2108
p Interest  Minimu p Interest  Minimum
resent compo- M lease resent compo- lease
value nent  receipt  value nent receipt
Within 1year.......ccocovvivvinennnn, 4 3 7 4 3 7
1-5years.....cccceviiiiiiiicnnn, 18 11 29 20 12 32
After Syears .....cvvvvevvevreinennnn, 46 13 59 43 13 56
(o] 1 68 27 95 67 28 95

The interest component representsthe unearned finance income. The present value due withinone year is included in Other current
financial assets, whilethe present value afterone yearis included inNon currentfinancial assets. The finance income accruing to the
Company over the leasetermis recognized inthe Profit for the year (Interest income).

The unguaranteed residual values accruing to the benefit of the Company are insignificant
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Finance leasesin 2017 and 2018 mainly relateto the sale and lease back of spaces inbuildingsaccommodating telephone
exchanges. Inmost cases the contracts are denominated in EUR, the term of the leases is 5-15 years, and the contracts include

renewal options but no purchase options.

Future lease payments underfinance leasesrelated to sale and lease back transactions at December 31,2017 and 2018 are as follows:

12.31.2017 12.31.2108
p ¢ Interest ~ Minimum p ¢ Interest Minimum
relsen compo- lease rels en compo- lease

value nent receipt vaiue nent receipt
Within 1Year. ...ovvvvveeeeeceoreeen 134 807 941 182 765 947
1-5years.....ccevvveeviveenererennn 649 2,576 3,225 850 2,344 3,194
After Syears .....ccovveveveriennnn, 1,200 1,214 2,414 882 803 1,685
Lo ) | 1,983 4,597 6,580 1,914 3,912 5,826

Finance leases other than sale and lease back in 2017 and 2018 mainly relate to real estate. In mostcases the contract term of the
leasesis 5-10years mostlywith renewal options and without purchase options.
Future lease payments under finance leases otherthan sale and lease back transactions at December 31,2017 and 2018 areas

follows:
12.31.2017 12.31.2108
Present  INterest Minimum Present  INterest Minimum
compo- lease compo- lease
value nent receipt value nent receipt

Within 1year......ccoocvvrnnnnne. 418 377 795 431 360 91
1-5YLarS...cccovvviviiiiiiin, 512 1,195 1,707 628 1,082 1,710
After Syears .....ccovvvevvevrenennn, 699 531 1,230 560 331 891
o] 1 1,629 2,103 3,732 1,619 1,773 3,392

The Company has no contingent rentsrelated to its finance leases. The Company does notsub-lease any of the assets leased ina

finance lease contract.
17.3 Operating leases

17.3.1 Operating lease - Company as lessor

The following table includes the future minimumlease payments receivable by the Companyfor the operating leaseswhere Magyar
Telekomisthe lessor. The increase in2018 is due to the rental fee commitment of T-Systems Magyarorszég Zrt. due to the new

Magyar TelekomPlc. headquarters building.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
372 1,938

524 7,023

513 11,439

1,409 20,400
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17.3.2 Operating lease - Company as lessee

Operating lease commitments are mainlyin respect of the rental of the new headquarters and mobile cell sites, and to a lesser extent,
related to other buildings, network and other telecommunications facilities and equipment. The following table includes the future
minimum lease payments payable of the Company:

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Within 1year. ..o 10,464 21,117
T=BYBAIS....oiiiiii 23,614 51,359
ATEEI SYBAIS ..o 4,646 71,455
L1 38,724 143,931

In 2018 the Company is exposed to HUF 56 billionrental fee commitment due to the new Magyar TelekomPlc. headquarters. Besides
this, the lease commitments represent ahigh amount of individually immaterial lease agreements, the terms of which varyon a wide
range, spanning from 1 to 20 yearswith renewal options in mostcases, but no purchase options.

18 REVENUE

18.1 Revenue - accounting policies
18.1.1 Sale of goods and Rendering of services
Under IAS 18

Revenue from sale of goods (equipment) isrecognised whenrisks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer,
recoveryof the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible returnof goods can be estimated reliably, there is no
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. The timing of the transfer
of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the agreement. Revenue from sale of goods is measured net of
returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.

The Company recognises revenue from rendering of servicesin proportion to the stage of completion of the service atthe reporting
date. The method of assessment of the stage of completion depends on the type of the service.

Under IFRS 15

The core principle of IFRS 15 is for companiesto recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in
amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to whichthe company expects to be entitled inexchange for those goods or
services.

Revenue should be recognised ifitis probablethat the Companywill collect the considerationto which it will be entitled in exchange
for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer. If the Company determines that collectability isno longer ensured
(e.g. because subsequently the customer's ability orintent to pay significantly deteriorates), the Company mustapply cashaccounting
for the remainder of the contract, i.e. forthe outstanding goodsand services to be provided. This reassessment does notaffect
recorded assets and revenue relating to performance obligations already satisfied.

Revenue is recognized whenor as performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a
customer. Control either transfers over time orat a point in time, which affects when revenue is recorded.
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As a practical expedient,the Company applies the guidanceto a group of contracts with similar characteristics instead of to a single
contract with a customer. A portfolio approach isacceptable if the Company canreasonably expect thatthe effect of applying a
portfolio approach to a group of contracts or group of performance obligations would not differ materially from considering e ach
contract or performance obligationseparately. This implies that a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics doesnot necessarily
need to refer to homogenous products being included in these contracts.

Transition

Magyar Telekomutilized the option for simplified initial application, i.e., contracts that were notcompleted by January 1, 2018 were
accounted for as if theyhad beenrecognized in accordance with IFRS 15 fromthe very beginning. The cumulative effect arising from
the transition(catch-up) was recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of equityin 2018. Prior-year comparatives were not
adjusted. IFRS 15 meansrevenue is recognized earlier and expenses are recognized later for contracts not yet concluded by January
1, 2018. However, asthe accounting effects of the changeoverto the new standard were recognized directly inequity, the onlyeffects
on the Statement of Income in 2018 were related to changes in the point in time at which revenue and expenses are realized.

Main principles

= |fCompany performsby transferringgoods or servicesto a customer beforethe customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, the Company shall present the contract as a Contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. A contract
assetisthe Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has transferred to a customer.

= Inthe case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile contract plus handset) with subsidized products delivered in advance,
alarger portion of the total remunerationis attributable to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset), requiring earlier
recognition of revenue. This leads to the recognition of what isknown as a contract asset - a receivable arising fromthe customer
contract that has not yetlegally come into existence - in the Statement of Financial Position.

= Atthe sametime, it resulted in higher revenue fromthe sale of goods and merchandise and to lower revenue fromthe provision of
services.

= Expenses for sales commissions (customeracquisition costs) must now be capitalizedin the Contractcosts line of the Statement
of Financial Position and recognized overthe estimated customer retention period.

= Laterrecognition of revenuein cases where “material rights” are granted, such as offering additional discountsforfuture purchases
of further products.

= Contract liabilities (which, as deferred revenue, were already recognized asliabilities in the past and with the transition reclassified)
are now netted off against the contract assets foreach customer contract.

= Forthe purposes of determining whether Magyar Telekomsells productsfor its own account (principal = gross revenue) or for the
account of others (agent= net revenue), there was no material change.

= Asignificant financing component isnot considered forthe amount and timing of revenue recognition if the period between when
apromised good or service is transferred to the customerand when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or
less.

= |fthe promise to granta licenseis distinctfrom the other promised goods or services in the contract then the promise to grant the
license is a separate performance obligation and the Company shall determine whetherthe license transfers to a customer either
ata pointintime or over time.

18.1.2 Revenue from operating leases

Revenues from operating leases are recognized as revenue on a straight line basis overthe term of the lease. Lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rentalincome, overthe term of the lease. Operating lease revenue are primarily
recognized as System integrationand IT revenue.

18.2 Revenues from major service lines
18.2.1 Mobile and Fixed line telecommunications revenues

Revenue is primarily derived from services provided to Magyar Telekom'’s customer subscribers and other third parties using Magyar
Telekom’s telecommunications network, and equipment sales.
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Customer subscriberarrangements typically include an equipment sale, subscription fee and charge forthe actual voice, intemet, data
or multimedia services used.

Airtime revenue is recognized based uponminutes of use and contracted feesless credits and adjustmentsfor discounts, while
subscription and flat rate revenues are recognized in the period they relateto. In case of IFRS 15 usage-based consideration (e.g.
airtime) isgenerally not part of the transaction price asthe Company does not have a right to considerationat contract inception.

The Company provides customers with narrow and broadband access to its fixed, mobile and TV distribution networks.
Advertising revenues are recognized inthe period that the advertisements are exhibited.

Revenues from premium rate servicesare recognized on a gross basis when the delivery of the service over Magyar Telekom’s
network is the responsibility of the Company, the Company determines the prices of these services and bears substantial risks of these
services; otherwise these revenues are presented on a net basis.

Customers may also purchase prepaid mobile, public phone and internet credits (cards) which allow those customersto use Magyar
Telekom’s telecommunications network for a selected amount of time. Customers mustpay for such services atthe date whenthe
cardis purchased. Revenues fromthe sale of cards are recognized when used by the customers orwhenthe credits expire with
unused traffic.

Third parties using Magyar Telekom’s telecommunications network include roaming customers of other service providers and other
telecommunications providers which terminate or transit calls on Magyar Telekom’s network. These wholesale (incoming) traffic
revenues are recognized in the period of related usage. A proportion of the revenue received is often paid to other oper ators
(interconnect) forthe use of their networks, where applicable. The revenues and costs of these transit callsare stated grossin the
Financial statementsas the Company is the principal supplier of these services using its own network freely defining the pricing of the
services, and recognized inthe period of related usage.

Under IAS 18

The Company considers the various elements of these arrangements to be separate earnings processes and classifies the revenue for
each of the deliverables into the categories using the residual method for each of the elements. These units are identified and
separated, since theyhavevalue on a standalone basis and are sold not only in a bundle, but separately as well. Therefore the
Company recognizesrevenues forall of these elements using the residual method, i.e. the amountof consideration allocated to the
delivered elements of the arrangements equals the total consideration less the fairvalue of the undelivered elements. The revenue
allocable to a delivered item, however, is limited to the amountthat is notcontingent upon the delivery of additional items (the non
contingent amount). Therevenueto be recognized is therefore restricted by the amountreceived that is notcontingent upon
undelivered elements of the arrangement. Fix and mobile service revenues are recognized whenthe services are provided in
accordance with contractual termsand conditions. Revenues and expenses associated with the sale of telecommunications
equipment and accessories are recognized when the products are delivered, provided that there are no unfulfilled obligations that
affectthe customer's final acceptance of the arrangement In case the equipment is sold on installments with payment terms
exceeding 12 months, the amountof the revenue immediately recognized is the present value of the installments.

Under IFRS 15

Contracts arefrequently sold to customers containing a cross subsidy between two or more components. A typical example iswherea
mobile phone is sold at a price significantly below its market value in a bundle with a service contract for a period of 12 or 24 months.
From a commercial point of view, the subsidy on the mobile phoneis recompensated viathe service fee.

With this adjustment requirement (also termed as "basic adjustment") a cross-subsidy or an overall bundle discount must be allocated
to the individual components of the bundle so thatrevenue generally reflects the fairvalue of the good and/or service with a bundle
discount being appropriately distributed among the affected items.
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The revenue is determined for every component by distributing the transaction price to the individual components in proportion to their
relevant standalone selling prices.

18.2.2 System integration (SI) and IT revenues

Contracts for network services, whichconsist of the installation and operation of communication networks for customers, have an
average duration of 2-3 years.

Revenue from outsourcing contractsreflects the extent of actual services delivered in the period in accor dance with theterms of the
contract. The contractsare analyzed based on the requirements of IFRIC 4 - Determining whetheran Arrangement contains a Lease,
andifthey include embedded lease elements, the revenues attributable to these are recognized accordingto IAS 17 - Leases as
describedinNote 17.

Revenue from system integration contracts requiring the delivery of customized products and/or services is generally covered by one
of the following types of contracts: fixed-price or time and material-based.

Under IAS 18

For fixed-price contracts, revenue is generally recognized based on percentage of completion taking into account the proportionthat
contract costs incurred for work performed to date bearto the estimated total contract costs. Inthe case of contracts billed on the
basis of time and material, revenueis recognized asthe services are rendered.

Revenue from maintenance services (generally fixed fee per month) is recognized over the contractual period or asthe serices are
provided. Revenue from repairs, which are not part of the maintenance contract, billed on the basis of time and material used is
recognized as the services are provided.

Revenue from hardware and software sales orsales-type leasesis recognized when the risk of ownership is substantially transferred to
the customer, provided there are no unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement. Any related
costs of these revenues are recognized when the revenue is recognized.

Revenues from construction contracts are accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method. The stage of completion is
determined on the basisof the costsincurred to date as a proportion of the estimated total costs. Receivablesfrom construction
contracts are classified in the Statement of financial position as Trade receivables. If the total actual and estimated expensesexceed
revenues for aparticular contract, the total expected lossis recognized immediately (Directcosts) against a provision.

Under IFRS 15

MT transfers control of goods and services overtime and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over
time, if one of the following criteria is met:

= acustomer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefitprovided by MT’s performance asMT performs

= MT’sperformance creates orenhances assets that the customer controls as the asset is created orenhanced

= MT's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to MT and MT has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the performance obligation isnot satisfied over time, MT satisfies the performance obligation at a pointin time.

Revenue from maintenance services (generally fixed fee per month) is recognized over time. Revenue from repairs, which are notpart
of the maintenance contract, billed on the basis of time and material used is recognized at point in time.

Revenue from hardware salesor salestypeleases is recognized when the customer obtains the control overthe product.
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To determine the progress of performance Magyar Telekom Company is applying the Input method. MT recognize revenue on the
basis of the MT’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation (resources consumed, labour hours expended, cost
incurred, time elapsed or machine hours used) relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation.

18.3 Revenue in the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

18.3.1 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The 2018 balances inthe below table were determined with regard to IFRS 15 whilethe 2017 balances are shownbased on IAS 18
andIAS 11. The effects of the IFRS 15 transition are disclosed in Note 1.2.

2017 2018
Mobile revenue
VOICE LA ..ovvviiei e 127,316 120,485
V0iCe WhOIBSAIE......c.vcviiciiiccc e 6,863 6,858
DATA. .. ittt 67,503 73,760
SMS 16,032 17,966
EQUIPMENT ... 59,871 80,047
Other mobile reVENUE.........covieeiieieee e 14,260 11,098
Total Mobile revenue........cooeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 291,845 310,214
Fixed line revenue
VOICE TEEAI .ottt 40,456 37,347
Broadbandretail..........cccoveviiviiiicceec 39,540 42,029
TV s 37,627 38,904
EQUIPMENT ... 8,740 17,065
Data retail......ccvviiiiiciiece e 9,632 8,297
WHOIESAIE ..ot 13,167 14,823
Other fiXed lINETEVENUE ....eovve e 16,539 17,414
Total Fixed [iNe reVeNnUE ........ccceceeeceeeercesieesees e ssnessesssnsnnes 165,701 175,879
System integration and IT revenue...........ccoveeiniiieineecias 9,384 7,225
Revenue from energyServiCes. ... viiiiiiieieisaieseiesenans 4,602 (1)
TOtal FEVENUE ..eeereereerieersae e s s sssss e s se s e e an s snennnns 471,532 493,317
Ofwhich:
Revenue from contracts with CUSIOMErS.......ocvvvvvviiiiiiiiieenn, n.a. 478,118
Other SOUICES ...t n.a. 15,199

Other sources of revenueinclude real estate and network rental fees whichare presented above in the Fixed line wholesale and Fixed
line other revenue lines.

Equipment revenueis recognized ata point intime while service revenue is recognized overtime.

None of the Company’s customers represent asignificant source of revenue. Revenues from transactions with a single external
customer (or group of entities that - knowingly to us - are under common control of a third party or government) do not exceed 10 per
cent of the Company’s revenues.

18.4 Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

Contract assets of the Company consist of unbilled amountstypically resulting from sales underlong-term contracts when revenue
recognized exceeds the amount billed to the customer. The current portion of contract assets is included in Trade receivables and
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other assets in the Statement of financial position. The non current portion of contract assetsis included inOther non current financial
assets in the Statement of financial position.

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments and billingsin excess of costsincurred and deferred revenue. The current portion of

contract liabilities is included in Other current liabilities inthe Statementof financial position. The non current portion of contract
liabiliies is included in Othernon currentliabilities in the Statement of financial position.

For the year ended December 31,

2017 2018

Contract assets = CUMTENT .....c.eiiiieiee s - 11,755
Contract assets = NON CUITENt......cvceiiieiee e - 3,143
Contract liabilities = CUMTENt.......c.ccoviiiiici - (7,393)
Contract liabilitiesS = NON CUMTENt ..o -
Netcontractassets (liabilities) -.....coeeceereeemraermrssrnraersermreermeeeeeeeenens - 7,505
Revenue recognized inthe reporting period from amounts included in

contract liability at the beginning of the period...........cccovvviviviiiiieenn. i 5507
Asset recognized from the costs to obtaincontracts with customers.... - 4,043
Amortisation recognized as cost of obtaining contracts during the

PEIIOG oot : (5,347)

The increasein our net contract assets from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018 was primarily due to thefirst-time application
of IFRS 15. Contract assetsincreased during 2018 as a result of the new 2018 contracts with telecommunication customers of the
Company.

Contract liabilitiesincreased during 2018 as a result of new prepaid subscription contracts and construction contracts.
Impairmentlosses recognized on contract assets are disclosed together with trade receivables in Note 4.2.2.2. and they amounted to
HUF 1,029 million as atDecember 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018 the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligationisHUF
115,190 millionand the Company will recognize this revenue as services are rendered, which isexpectedto occur over the next 13-24
months.

The Company did not account for revenue recognized in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or partially
satisfied)in previous periods as IFRS 15 was adopted in 2018.

19DIRECT COSTS
2017 2018

[NtErCONNECE COSES wvvvvvviiviieeiieeiie e 14,216 16,291
SI/IT service related COStS ..ovvvvvvviiiiiiiiicicieia 8,102 6,351
Energy service related COStS......ooviiiiiiieiiinene, 4,788 -
Bad debt expense ... 4,962 8,169
TelECOMEAX.ccivieeeeeeeeee et (a) 25,023 25,442
Other direCtCOSIS..uvvviiieiiiiiieee e (b) 117,492 140,966
Total direct CoStS.....eererrereercerceee e 174,583 197,219

(a) Telecom tax
Telecom tax wasintroduced in Hungary for fixed and mobile voice and mobile SMS/MMS services, effective from July 1, 2012. The tax
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imposed on fixed and mobile usage amounts to HUF 2 per minute and HUF 2 per SMS/MMS for private individual subscribers’
subscriptionsand toHUF 3 per minute and HUF 3 per SMS/MMS for non-private individual subscribers’ subscriptions. Thetax is capped
at HUF 700 and HUF 5,000 per month per calling number for private and non-private individuals’ subscriptions, respectively.

(b) Other direct costs
Other direct costsinclude costs of mobile and fixed device, accessories and other equipment, agent commissions and non-voice direct
costs.

20 EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES

20.1 Employee related expenses - Accounting policies

20.1.1 Shortterm employee benefits

Shortterm employee benéefits are recognized as a current expense in the period when employees rendertheir services. Theseinclude
wages, social security contributions, bonuses, paid holidays, discounted telephone bills, meal and holiday contributions and other
fringe benefitsand the tax charges thereon.

Payments to defined contribution pension and otherwelfare plans are recognized as an expense inthe period inwhich the seviceis
rendered by the employees.

20.1.2 Share based payments

Magyar Telekomrecognizes the costs of services received from its employees in ashare based payment transaction when services are
received. Magyar Telekom recognizes acorresponding increase inits equity reserves (Reserve forequity settled share based
transactions)if the servicesarereceived in anequity-settled share based payment transaction. When the share based compensation
program is completed, i.e. the shares are transferred to the employees’ ownership or the share options have forfeited, the respective
reserve isderecognized. Ifthe services are received ina cash-settled share based payment transaction, the Company recognizesthe
expense against a liability, re-measured to fairvalue at each financial statement date.

Bonuses tied to the long term performance of the Magyar Telekom and Deutsche Telekomshares are recognized in the Profit for the
year at theirtime-proportioned fairvalue against an accumulating balance inliabilities.

20.1.2.1 Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom’s CEO

In December 2011 the Board of Directors approved the implementation of the revolving Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom. The
program was implemented forthe CEO of Magyar Telekomstarting in 2012. Anamount of minimum 10% of the gross annual variable
bonus of the CEO was to be invested inshares of Magyar Telekom. The CEO had the option of voluntary increase to a maximum of
33.3% of his bonus. These shares areto be held fora period of at least 4 years (lock-up period). After the lock-up period of 4 years has
passed, one additional share (matching share) will be granted for every share acquired as part of the aforementioned personal
investment. The programwas planned to be revolvingin 5 consecutive years starting in2012.

Magyar Telekomimplemented amendments to the CEOQ’s Share Matching Plan from July 1, 2015 so that the CEO hasto investinDT
shares instead of MT shares. The other principlesremained the same.

The Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom’s CEQ is ended on December 31, 2017,in 2018 there were not anyexpenses forthe
program (2017: HUF 5 million).

20.1.2.2 Share Matching Plan of Deutsche Telekom

As of July 1, 2015, Magyar Telekom Company implemented Share Matching Plan for all executives (cca. 60). Participationinthe
program is voluntary.

The participantis required to invest a minimum of 10% of his/her gross annual bonus in Deutsche Telekom shares, with an option to
voluntary increase this amount to a maximum of 33.3% (personal investment). These shares shall be kept forat least for 4 years (the
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lock-up period), the participant isgranted matching shares upon expiry of the lock-up period. The share allocation ratio of the program
(1:1,1:2 or 1:3) depends on the evaluation of the participant's performance in the previous year. Deutsche Telekomgrants the
matching shares to the participant based on the acquired Deutsche Telekom shares by the participant withinthe framework of the
program. The program starts annually if the free cash flowtarget of Deutsche Telekom Group was metin the previous year.

In 2018 HUF 26 million was recognized (2017: HUF 24 million) as expensesfor the program.

20.1.2.3 Long-term incentive program (LTI)

As of January 1, 2015 Magyar Telekom Company changed its existing LTI program, which tumed it into ashare-based compensation
program. Approximately 60 executives may patrticipatein the program. The CEQ’s participationis unconditional, while other
executivesmay participate only if the evaluation of the participant's performance in the previous year meets the requirements.

LTlis payable in cashtied to the achievement of four key strategic indicators. Inthe framework of the program, ineach year a new four-
year tranche isto be launched. Payment is due after the end of the program term dependingon the evaluation of the achievement of
the pre-set targets (0 to 150%).

Atthe beginning of the program, the relevantincentive amount is converted into anumber of virtual shares of DT AG and awarded to
the plan participantin the formof virtual shares (basic number). The annual level of target achievement isdetermined at the end of
eachyear. This target achievement levelis multiplied on a pro rata basis by the basic number of virtual shares awarded. The number of
virtual shares calculated using this method shallthen be "fixed" for the plan participantas the binding result forthat spe cific year
("annual result"). Atthe end of the plan term, the four binding annual results shall be added together. The resulting total number of
virtual shares shall be converted intoa cash applying the then prevailing share price of DT AG, which is paid to the plan participants.
For dividend paymentsduring the plan term, thevirtual shares shall be treated as real shares. The dividends shall be taken into
account as follows: Thefirst/second/third dividend paymentsshall be “reinvested” into virtual shares when the actual divide ndsare
paid on real shares. The fourth (and last) dividend payment shall not be reinvested but paid in cash together with the plan payment
following the DT AG shareholders' meeting at which a decisionis made regarding this dividend payment. The plan currency iseuro.

In 2018 HUF 563 millionwas recognized (2017: HUF 320 million) as expensesfor the program.

20.1.2.4 Share transfer to ESOP Organization

InJuly 2016 Magyar Telekomlaunched a Remuneration Policy based employee share ownership program (ESOP) underwhich
Magyar Telekomshares were distributed to the vast majority of the employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-Systems Magyarorszag
Zrt. This programwas in additionto the Company’s regular remuneration package. The award of shareswas contingent on the
Company’s actual intemal operating Free Cash Flow of MT-Hungary segment of the year endingDecember 31, 2016 exceedingthat of
the year ended December 31, 2015. Each eligible individual was entitled to receive 226 Magyar Telekom shares (in the value of HUF
100,000 calculated on the unweighted average share price of 20 trading days priorto June 30, 2016), along with any entitlement to the
dividends attachedto such shares and with no lock-up restrictions. In July 2016, the Company purchased 1,261,204 Magyar Telekom
shares inthe open market, which wascompleted by 272,432 treasury sharesto financethe program. In order to distribute the shares
an employee share ownership organization (ESOP Organization) was established by the Company and registered by the Metropolitan
Courtin 2016, which has its supreme body appointed by the founder (i.e.the Company). Upon the confirmation of the improvement of
the oF CF of MT-Hungary segment by the Board of Directors in late February2017, the ESOP Organization was expected to distribute
the shares amongst 6,646 employeesin April 2017, where each eligible individual was entitled to receive 226 shares.

Inaccordancewiththe ESOP Actthe ESOP Organization managesthe financial instruments provided to the ESOP Organization in
accordance with the effective remunerationpolicies and the Articles of Association of the ESOP Organization.

The ESOP Organization is managed and represented by the managing director. The managing director is vested with powersto sol ely
represent the ESOP Organization. The managing directoris nominated and recalled by the supreme body. The managing director
shall not be instructed by the Founderor the Participants.

Magyar Telekomtransferred 1,533,636 treasuryshares in August 2016 to the established ESOP Organization of which 25,764 shares
were sold by the ESOP Organization due to the revision of the number of the participants inthe program. As the improvement of the
oFCF of MT-Hungary segment was confirmed by the Board of Directors, the ESOP Organization distributed the sharesamongst 6,452
employeesin April 2017,
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In2017 HUF 138 millionwas recognized as expenses forthe program.

20.1.2.5 Bonus paymentvia ESOP Organization

By reshaping the currentremunerationstructure, the Company haslaunched anincentive program based on the new remuneration
policy in 2017, by whichthe corporatefinancial targets, approximately half (50%) of the total bonus, will be paid via the ESOP
Organization forMagyar TelekomPlc. and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. eligible employees. Underthe newincentive program, the
Company purchased 4,534,758 Magyar Telekom sharesworth HUF 2,139 million during 2017 and additional 804,236 shares (HUF
364 million)in 2018. The purchased shares were transferred to the ESOP Organization in several installments. The vesting conditions
of the new program are (a) that the operating free cash flow forthe MT-Hungary segment forthe financial year ended December 31,
2017 to exceed that for the previous yearended December 31, 2016 and (b) that the respective employee isemployed by Magyar
Telekom Plc. or T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.in March 2018 (vesting date). In accordance with the remuneration program those
employees of the Company and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. are rewarded who are underthe personal scope of the Remuneration
policy approved on February 22,2017 by the Company's Board of Directors

As the vesting conditions were met the corporate financialtarget was paid in cash based on the employees’ claims arising from the
conversionof the transferred Magyar Telekom ordinary shares transferred into cash which amounted to HUF 2,251 million in March
2018 (vesting date) via the ESOP Organization. The Company considersJanuary 1, 2017 as grant date with respect to the initial
assumptions of the newlyformed share based program because the partieshad a common understanding on the relevant terms
defined by historical conditions at thatdate.

Based onthe initial informationthe Company estimated the amount of the bonus to be paid considering the headcount as of January
1, 2017 fromwhich the necessarynumber of shareswere calculated inversely by referenceto the expected forward rate of shares
relating to March, 2018 prevailing as at January 1, 2017. The estimated number of shares was 4,702,702 on January 1, 2017.

The Company was ableto cover the significant proportion of the bonus payments related to corporate financial target viathe ESOP
based on the formulain the Remuneration policyand relevant internal regulation. The remaining part of the total bonus was granted to
the employees assupplementary benefitwhenthe exchange rate for converting the shares into cash by the ESOP Organization was
already known. The Company was liable to repurchase the sharesunderthe Articles of Association of the ESOP Organization. This
liability is recognized at fairvalue by referenceto the share price (see Note 4.4.1.).

Employees who fell out of the scope of the Remuneration policy before the management of the ESOP Organizationasserted the
fulfillment of the vesting conditions, were not entitled forthe benefit viathe ESOP Organization, such benefits were paid off by the
Company under therelevant intemal regulations.

T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. was liable to the Companyto reimburse the consideration of the own sharesrepurchased for the
remuneration of T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.'s employees.

In2017 HUF 1.4 billionwas recognized as the total expenses of the program which presented in the balance sheet among Share-
based payment (SBP) reserves.

The Company decided on further changes in the remunerationstructure for 2018. Based on these changes significant portion of the
central bonus for2018 will be paid via the ESOP Organizationfor Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-Systems Hungary Ltd. eligible
employees. To operate the incentive program, in addition to the treasury sharesheld by the Company, further Magyar Telekom shares
worth HUF 1,458 million was purchased from the stock exchange and 8,845,794 Magyar Telekom sharesworth HUF 3,846 million
were transferred to the ESOP Organization together with the shares bought back from ESOP at bonus payment for program 2017.

The remunerationcondition of the new program is a) the operating free cash flow forthe MT-Hungary segment for the financial year
ended December 31,2018 to exceed thatfor the previousyearended December 31, 2017 and b) that the affected employeeis
employed by Magyar Telekom Plc. or T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. in March 2019 (vesting date). If the remunerationcondition is met,
the relevant compensation will be paid in cash by the ESOP Organization through conversion of the Magyar Telekomshares provided,
expectedly in March 2019.

The Company considers January 1, 2018 as grant date withrespect to the initial assumptions of the share based program because the
parties had a common understanding on the relevant termsdefined by historical conditions at that date.

The Company is expected to be ableto cover the significant proportion of the bonus paymentsrelated to the corporate financial target
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via the ESOP based on the formulain the Remuneration policy and relevant internal regulation. The remaining part of the totalbonus
will be granted to the employeesas supplementary benefit when the exchange rate for converting the shares into cash by the ESOP
Organization isalready known. The Company is liable to repurchase the shares under the Articles of Association of the ESOP
Organization. This liabilityis recognized at fairvalue by referenceto the share price (see Note 4.4.1.).

As the number of effected employeesis uncertain for calculating the starting number of shares, fluctuationrates were considered and
the exchange rate is fixed at the 2018 March 20-day-average closingrate of Magyar Telekom shares.

Employees who fall out of the scope of the Remuneration policy beforethe management of the ESOP Organizationassertsthe
fulfillment of the vesting conditions, are not entitled for the benefit via the ESOP Organization, such benefits will be paid off by the
Company under the relevant intemal regulations.

In 2018 HUF 2.8 billionwas recognized as the total expenses of the program which was recognized in the statement of financial
position as Other current liability. The ESOP Organization owns 8,732,763 Magyar Telekom shares on December 31, 2018.

20.1.3 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment isterminated beforethe nominal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange forthese benefits. The Company recognizes terminationbenefits when itis
demonstrably committed to eitherterminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the
possibility of withdrawal or to provide terminationbenefits as aresult of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

20.2 Employee related expenses in the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2017 2018

Shortterm DENEfitS. . .ccviiiicie 57,775 56,868
TermMiNAtioN DENEMES . .vvieieeee et 2,699 2,820
Share settled share based PayMENtS.........ccvovieiiiiieieieceeer e, 29 26
Cash settled sharebased payments..........ccccevviieiiieiiiisce e 320 563
Employee shareownership program (ESOP).......c..cccovivvviiiiiiiiiiieis 138 -
Bonus payment Via ESOP........cc.coovoiiiiicecece e 1,431 2,789
Total before capitalization .........cocvevvevrivieieiec 62,392 63,066
Expenses capitalized .........coveeveiiiiice e (5,779) (6,198)

56,613 56,868
Total costs expensed in relation to defined contributions (including social
SECUNITY CONIIDULION) c.vviiiiiiciicciie e 11,892 10,817
Average number of employees (fulltimeequivalent) .........ccccevvvevvviiinnne, 6,287 6,183
Closing number of employees (full time equivalent).........c..cccoevvvviiiennns 6,241 6,134
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21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2017 2018

UL Y 18Xt s (a) 7,416 7,157
Rental and [easing 8X0ENSES .......c.cvviiieiiicieceere e 17,776 18,190
Marketing EXPENSES. .....veiveivieii ettt 8,467 8,380
ENEIgY COSES. .ottt 6,378 5,843
Other purchased SEIVICES.......vciviiiicieceee e (b) 48,076 47,858
Other 0perating EXPENSES .......ccvivviiieeeeiee e 5,189 5,414

93,302 92,842

Research as well asmarketing costsare expensed as incurred. The Company recognized in 2018 HUF 1 million (2017: HUF 89
million) for research and development among other operating expenses.

(a) Utility tax

In 2012 the Hungarian Parliament adopted an act imposing a newtax on utility networks, effectivefromJanuary 1, 2013. The act
provides that a tax of HUF 125 per meteris levied on the owners of ducts providing for electricity, telecommunication, natur al gas,
heating, water and wastewater services. For telecommunication networks, the level of tax levied depends on the length of ducts
(applicableas of 1 January 2014): forthe ducts not exceeding the first 200 000 meterlength no taxes have to be paid for. 30% of the
HUF 125 per meter is levied on between 200,000and 350,000 meterlength of ducts, 75%is levied between 350,000 and 500,000
meters, whilethe total HUF 125 per meterhas to be paid for all ducts above 500,000 meters.

(b) Audit costs included in other purchased services

Other purchased services among others include expenses incurred in relation to the audit of the standalone and consolidated financial
statements of the Company as well as other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) as follows.

2017 2018
Audit of the financial StatemMentS........c.oocveviiiiiiiice e 266 340
Other audit related fEES . ..oviiiii e 29 23
Other non audit related fEeS .....cviiiiiiieiicecece e - 41
Total expenses payable to PWC..........cccvvrininnnsensensessessessessessessessessenses 295 404

Audit of the financial statements isthe aggregate fees of PwC in connection with the audit of our annual financial statementsand
services performed in relation to legal obligations and submissions required by regulatory provisions.

Other audit-related feesarethe aggregate fees of PwC for reviews of the second quarterly report which are normally performed by the
external auditorin connection with the auditing of the annual financial statements, e.g. advice on issues of accounting and reporting,
which were not classified as audit services.

Other non audit related fees are fees of PwC primarily related to consulting services and services like participation by Magyar Telekom
employees in conferences and training sessions organized by PwC.



22 OTHER OPERATINGINCOME

Income received forthe relocation of our own Network ..........c.occveeveiiieennns
Income from support services to related Pany ..o
Gain onthe sale of PPE, Intangible assets and assets held for sale..................

EGYUTT. VELED

2017 2018
2,900 1,127
84 -
1,178 4,474
123 87
1,672 3,024
5,957 8,712

The increase of Other operating income reflects the one-off gain realized on the sale of the old headquarters.

23 INTEREST INCOME

Interestincomeon loans and receivables.........ovivviiiiie e,
Unwinding of the interest component of provisions...........c..cceevivivnincenan,
Finance [easeintereSt iNCOME ....ivvviiiviiiiiiiiecie e

24 INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense payable on loansto related parties..........occoveevviieciiccnncann,
Interest expense on loansto unrelated Parties..........ccccoveveeivciin e,
Finance 1easeinterest EXPENSE. .. .uiviiiiiiiieiit s
Accretion /interest 0N ProVISIONS......coviveeieeieieniiese e
Borrowing costs capitalized.........ccooovveiieiiieiic

2017 2018
339 212
79 50
3 3
421 265

2017 2018
9,132 8,845
2,977 3,109
1,195 1,201
77 209
(39) (131)
13,342 13,233

Borrowing costs include interest and other costs thatthe Companyincurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset. The
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization of general borrowingsthat are used for the purpose of obtainingqualifying assetsare
capitalized applying the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the general borrowings of the Companythat are
outstanding duringthe period. A qualifying assetis an asset that necessarily takesa substantial period of time, ingeneral over 12
months, to get ready forits intended use. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense.

Total Interestexpense is shown net of borrowing costs capitalized using average borrowing rates of 3.04%-3.40% in2018 (2017:
2.92% - 3.46%). When calculating the borrowing rates, Otherfinance expenses(included in Note 25) are also considered.
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25 OTHERFINANCE EXPENSE -NET

2017 2018
F B BXPENSE .ot 4,348 3,803
Net foreign exchange losses / (gains) on financial instruments.........ccocovvevviivenennen, (1,084) 5,547
Other netforeign eXChange l0SSES. ... .vuieiriiie et (100) (136)
Losses/(gains) on the measurement of derivatives contracted with related parties... 4,450 (3,048)
Losses/(gains) on the measurement of derivatives contracted with unrelated parties - -
Losses/(gains) onthe derecognition of derivatives contracted with related parties .. 337 (2,236)
Losses/(gains) onthe derecognition of derivatives contracted withunrelated parties (12) -
o] v 7,939 3,930

26 RESULTSOF INVESTMENTS

26.1 Results of investments in subsidiaries

26.1.1 Dividend received

Dividends receivable by the Company arerecognized as a receivable and incomein the period in which the dividends are approved by
the general meeting of the investees.

The following table shows dividends received from the Company's investments related to years 2017 and 2018:

2017 2018
StoNEbridge AD. ..o 3,488 3,487
GTS HUNGArY K. oo e 325 -
AVATo P>V 1= 74 s TP 4,169 -
DN 1ottt 106 160
Lo} ¢ 8,088 3,647

26.1.2 Sale of investments

Sale of Crnogorski Telekom A.D.

InJanuary 2017, the Companysigned a share purchase agreementwith Hrvatski Telekom D.D. forthe sale of its 76.53% majority
shareholding in Crnogorski Telekom A.D. Podgorica totalled EUR 123.5 million (HUF 38.5 billion). The closing of the transactiontook
place inJanuary 2017. The net effect of HUF 2,532 million gain of this transaction in the result isdisclosed in result of investments.

26.2 Results of investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Dividend received from E2 Hungary Zrt. was HUF 519 million in 2018 and HUF 97 million in 2017.

27 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic earningsper shareis calculated by dividing profit attributable to the owners of the Company forthe period by the weighted
average number of common stocks outstanding. Diluted earnings per share s calculated considering the weighted average number of
diluting share options (if any) in addition to the number of commonstocks outstanding.
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The Company is subject to prepare consolidated annual report so disclosuresrelated to EPSindicator (based on IAS 33) are shown
based on consolidated financial statements.

28 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTAND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The table below shows the reconciliationof investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and the cash payments
made for these investments. Capitalized borrowing costs are included in the Investments in PPE and intangible assets, where applicable.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Investments in property, plant and equipment (Note 8)..........cccevveevenen. 47,255 52,524
Investments in intangible assets(NOte 9)........ccovvvviiiieiiieiiice 19,171 36,188
Total investments in PPE and intangible assets........ccccuevrereercersersersanans 66,426 88,712
Advances received for asset-related (Note 14)......ooceiieiiiiniiiiiecee (a) 456 2,797
Capitalized annual frequencyfee payable ..., (b) (4,392)
PPEUNer finanCe [8aSES.....cuviveiviiviiriiiiieceee et (c) (272) (343)
Change intrade payables relating to capital expenditures.........c.ccceee.. (d) 8,487 (11,892)
Cash payments for purchases of PPE and intangible assets..........c....... 75,097 74,882

(a) Advances received for asset-related grants

In2016 HUF 12.2 billionof EU funds were granted to Magyar Telekom asa result of the first and second rounds of a tender ai med at
developing digital networks nationwide to cover households in Western and Eastern parts of Hungarywitha fixed network capa ble of
reaching speed of at least 30 Mbps. The Company used up HUF 2.8 billion of thisadvance. See alsoNote 9 for government grants
relating to the purchase of PPE.

(b) Capitalized annual frequency fee payable

The present value of the annual frequency fees is capitalized as partof the intangible asset (Licenses) if the future paymentscanbe
reliablyestimated, however, these fees are paid in cash in subsequent periods. The cash paymentson the discounted liability are
included in the Repayment of other financial liabilities line of the Financing cash flow, while the interest payments accruing on the
discounted liability are included inthe Interest and other financial charges paid line of the Operating cash flow. The significant license
acquisitions are described in Note 10.5.

(c) PPE acquired under finance leases
Investments in PPE as a result of finance lease transactions do not usually resultinimmediate cash payments. The cash payments

throughout the lease term appear as Repayment of other financial liabilities (Financing cash flow) and Interest and otherfinancial
charges paid (Operating cash flow).

(d) Change in trade payables relating to capital expenditures

Change in payables relating to capital expenditures includes the effect thatthe actual cash setiement of the vendor invoices is made
subsequent to the recognition of the investment.
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29 PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES

The table below shows the cash payments made inrelation to investments insubsidiaries.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

GTS Hungary Kft. - telecommunication activities 1,789 -
1,789 -

Magyar Telekomacquires the assets and the related customer base of GTS HungaryKft. (owned by the Company) in several
instalmentssince 2015 which contractsare considered as businesscombinations. Thetransaction closed during 2017.

The Company recorded the assetsof GTS Hungary Kft. acquired during the transaction on their fair value at thetime of the acquisition
based on the business combination principles. Assets acquired fromGTS Hungary Kft.in 2017 were compensated witha loan granted
by GTS Hungary Kft. amounting to HUF 3,400 million.

30 CONTINGENT ASSETSAND LIABILITIES

30.1 Contingent assets

Acontingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurre nce of
uncertain future events not within the control of the Company. These assets are notrecognized in the statement of financial position.

The Company has no contingencies where the inflow of economic benefitswould be probable and material.

30.2 Contingent liabilities

No provision isrecognized for contingentliabilities. A contingent liability isa possible obligation thatarisesfrom past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence ornon-occurrence of one ormore uncertain future events (excluding
executory contracts) not wholly within the control of the Company; or a present obligationthat arises from past events but is not
recognized because it is not probable thatan outflow of resourcesembodying economic benefitswill be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The most significant contingent liabilities of the Company are described below. No provisions have beenrecognized for these cases as

management estimates thatitis unlikely thatthese claims originating from pastevents would resultin any material economic outflows
or the amount of the obligation cannotbe measured with sufficient reliability.

30.2.1 Guarantees

Magyar TelekomPlc. is exposed to risksthat arise fromthe possible drawdown of guarantees for which see more details inNote 4.5.4.
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31 PURCHASE COMMITMENTS

31.1 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The table below summarizes Magyar Telekom'’s contractual purchase commitments for property, plantand equipment and intangible
assets with the majority falling due within two years.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018

Property, plant and @QUIPMENt ......ccviieiiiiiie e 5,054 837
INtANGIDIE ASSEIS. . .viviiiiicie e 1,003 1,331
L ) | 6,057 2,168

31.2 Investments

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 the Companyhad no committed business combinations.

32 RELATEDPARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties of the Company include legal entitiesand persons that are related to the Company.
A person or a close member of that person'sfamilyis related to the Company if that person:

= has control or joint control of the reporting entity;
= hassignificantinfluence overthe reporting entity, or
= isamember of the keymanagementpersonnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.

An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

= The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary isrelated to the others).

= One entity isan associate or joint venture of the otherentity (or an associate or jointventure of a member of a group of whichthe
other entity is a member).

= Both entities are joint ventures of the samethird party.

= QOne entityis ajoint verture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third ertity.

= The entity is a post-employment benefit plan forthe benefitof employees of eitherthe reporting entity or anentity related to the
reporting entity. If the reporting entityis itself sucha plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.

= The entityis controlled orjointly controlled by a person related to the entity or such a personholds a key position in the reporting
entity.

= The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel servicesto the reporting entity or to
the parent of the reporting entity.

The transactions with related partiesare priced on arm'’s lengths basis, if the conditions are met.
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32.1 Related party transactions in the Statement of financial position

The tables below summarize the carrying amount of assets and liabilities arising from transactions with related parties asof December

31,2017 and 2018:

EGYUTT. VELED

Other recei-
Trade vables Loans Swap - Loans Swap - Dividends
12.31.2017 receivable (advances) given asset received liability payable
Parent. ... 3,127 2,582 2,978 (157,349) (5,612) (15,436)
Subsidiaries ... 4,929 306 10,103 (2,096)
Associates and joint
VENTUTES wovvvsevvvvvrsssns 314 - - - -
Otherrelated parties 2,850 55 - - (103,807)
fromthis: DTIF....... (103,725)
Total..coovereernenes 11,220 2,943 10,103 2,978 (263,252) (5,612) (15,436)
Other recei-
Trade vables Loans Swap - Loans Swap - Dividends
12.31.2018 receivable (advances) given asset received liability payable

Parent.......enen 4347 6,581 (144,038) (612) (15,516)
Subsidiaries ... 3,345 255 15,248 (2,865)
Associates and joint
(VT0) (U= — 548
Other related parties
....................................... 2,936 75 2 (89,772)
fromthis: DTIF....... (89,700)
Total..coovvveeenenes 11,176 330 21,831 - (236,675) (612) (15,516)

No impairment was recognized forreceivables fromrelated parties inthe reported years.

32.2 Related party transactions in the Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The tables below summarize the significant transactions with related parties asof December 31, 2017 and 2018:

12.31.2017

Parent ...

Subsidianes ...
Associates and joint
VENTUTIES oovvssssssssssssnins

Otherrelated parties..........
fromthis: DTIF

Revenue Income
u Cost of from Interest Interest Dividend
from . . Swap .
. services support income expense paid
services )
services
3,434 (4,078) 47 (6,798) (4,785) (15,436)
5,488 (16,181) - 88 (37) (1)
103 (7,710)
7,812 (6,902) (5) 37 (2,297)
(2,297)
16,837 (34,871) 42 125 (9,132) (4,786) (15,436)
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R Income
evenue Cost of from Interest  Interest Dividend
from . . Swap .
. services support income  expense paid
12.31.2018 services services
Parent.....cocoevevvivvinnn, 4,139 (5,584) - - (6,646) (5,284) (15,516)
Subsidiaries................ 3,807 (16,316) - 56 (27) - -
Associatesand joint
VENTUIES..vveiiciiiiiei 400 (5,375) - - - - -
Other related parties 8,530 (7,8795) - - (2,172) - -
fromthis: DTIF ............ - - - - (2,172) - -
o) -1 PO 16,876 (35,150) - 56 (8,845) (5,284) (15,516)

32.3 Transactions with Deutsche Telekom Group and the Federal Republic of Germany

32.3.1 Deutsche Telekom Group

Deutsche Telekom AGis the ultimate (indirect) controlling owner of Magyar Telekomholding 59.21% of the voting rightsattached to
the Company’s shares. Deutsche Telekom Group has a number of fixed line, mobile and IT service provider subsidiaries worldwide,
with whom Magyar Telekomhas regulartransactions.

Deutsche Telekom International Finance B.V.(DTIF) is the treasury center of DT Group, whichtypically providesloan financing across
the DT Group including Magyar Telekom.

Deutsche Telekom has pledged its support for Magyar Telekom's budgeted financing needs through to June 30, 2020.

32.3.2 The Federal Republic of Germany

The Federal Republic of Germany is both a direct and an indirect shareholder and holds approximately 32 percent of the share capital
of DT AG. Due to the average attendance at the shareholders’ meetings, the Federal Republic of Germanyrepresents asolid majority
atthe shareholders’ meetings of DT AG, although it only hasa minority shareholding, making DT AG a dependent company of the
Federal Republic. Therefore, the Federal Republic and the companies controlled by the Federal Republic or companies overwhich the
Federal Republic can exercise a significantinfluence are classified asrelated parties of DT AG, and consequently of Magyar Telekom
aswell.

DT AG and Magyar Telekomdid not execute as part of its normal business activities any transactions that were individually material in
the 2018 or 2017 financial yearwith companies controlled by the Federal Republic orcompaniesoverwhichthe Federal Republic can
exercisea significantinfluence.

32.4 Jointventures

E2 Hungary Zrt.is a joint venture of the Magyar Telekom Companysince July 9, 2015 and provides energy services for business
customers.
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32.5 Board and Supervisory Board members

12.31.2017  12.31.2018

Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors.........cccccoevvvevviiiiiriinecnene, 16 13
Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board...........cccoevvvviviiiiiieeennne, 63 63

Loans granted to the members of the Board of Directors
Loans granted to the members of the Supervisory Board

Loans grantedto the members of the Supervisory Board are limited to the employee delegates and had been granted to them in their
capacity asemployees.

32.6 Key management personnel

Key management has been identified as the members of the Company’s Management Committee, which isthe chief operating
decision making body of Magyar Telekom.

The table below shows intotal the compensation expenses (includingsocial securityand other payroll related taxes) incurred by the
Company in relationto the keymanagement.

12.31.2017 12.31.2018
Salaries and other shorttermemployee benefits............coviviiieiiiiiiseiecc 1,168 969
Contractual termination BXPENSE .......cvieiiieee ettt - -
Share based payments (NOtE 20).......cviiiiiiiiieie e 25 8
1,193 977
Costs expensed in relation to defined contribution plans (including social security
(oo 1a1 g1 o101 1] o) F TR 295 147

The Company did not provide loans or guarantees to its key management.

32.7. Guarantees provided by the Company for liabilities of related parties and guarantees provided by related parties for
liabilities of the Company

32.7.1 Comfort letter

Comfort letter inrelation to Magyar Telekom and its related partiesrepresents a guarantee which contains a guarantee forthe payment
obligations of the company until aspecified date without stating the amount. Such letteris issued by DT AG for Magyar Telekom
annually.

32.7.2 Bank guarantees

Bank guarantees for subsidiariesissued by Magyar Telekomin the name of the subsidiaries and it pays the related fees forthe bank. In
case of guarantee drawdownthe Magyar Telekom’s bank account shall be debited withthe amount drawndown/paid. Fees paid by
Magyar Telekomreinvoiced within the group.

The following table presents the guarantees provided by the Company for liabilities of related parties:

Sum of Guarantee
Type of the guarantee 31.12.2017 31.12.2018
Bank guarantese.............. 5172 2,842
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32.7.3 Shareholdings declaration

E2 Hungary Zrt.concluded a trade finance revolving loan contract (maturity overa year and in mutti-currency) with OTP Bank Nyrt.in
2016. Magyar Telekom has issued the following shareholdings declaration related to E2 Hungary Zrt. as the borrower for both 2017
and 2018 years:

= decision shallonly be made with the creditor’s priorwritten approval by which the common stock of E2 Hungary Zrt. decreased
= dividend orinterim dividends shall only be taken from E2 Hungary Zrt. without the bank’s prior written approval thereby E2’s equity
not to reduce belowHUF 1,800 million.

33 REPORTABLE SEGMENTS AND INFORMATIONABOUT GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS

33.1 General information

Magyar Telekom's chief operating decision makers are the members of the Management Committee (MC). The MC is responsible for
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance on a monthlybasis. The MC assesses the performance of the Company on
Group level and makes its decisions at that level. The operating segments of the Company are the MT-Hungary and Macedonia. Since
the Company as a wholeis part of MT-Hungary segment therefore the segment information related to the Company shall not be
disclosed inthis annual report.

InaccordancewithAct LXXXVI of 2007 on Electric Energyand Government Decree 273/2007 (X.19.) on the implementation of
provisions thereof, and Act XL of 2008 on Natural Gas Supply and GovernmentDecree 19/2009 (1.30.) on the implementation of
provisions thereaf, the Companyis subject to disclose balance sheet and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
relating to energyservices. These disclosuresare notthe same asthe required disclosures of IFRS 8 and are presented in Note 36.

The Company presents disclosures as required based on IFRS 8.

Magyar Telekomoperatesin Hungary providing mobile and fixed linetelecommunicationsand TV distribution and energy retail
services to millions of residential and small businesses customers mainly underthe “Telekom” or “T” brand. Magyar Telekom is also
responsible forthe wholesale mobile and fixed line services in Hungary, and performs strategic and cross-divisional management and
support functions including Procurement, Treasury, Real estate, Accounting, Tax, Legal, Internal Audit and similar shared services and
other central functions of the Company. For detailson revenue please referto Note 18.

33.2 Information about geographical areas

Considering that Magyar Telekom provides its services within the boundaries of Hungary and the base of geographical classification is
the headquarters of the Company, all the realized revenues by the Company are inthe category of Hungary. In a similar mannerall
tangible assets of the Company are classified as Hungary considering geographical areas.

33.3 Information about revenues for group of products and services

Revenues from customersfor group of similar products and servicesare disclosed in Note 18.3.

33.4 Information about revenues from major customers
None of the Company’s customers represent asignificant source of revenue. Revenues from transactions with a single external customer

(or group of entitiesthat - knowingly to us - are under common control of a third party or government) do not exceed 10 per cent of the
Company’s revenue.

34 REGULATED MARKETS AND PROCEDURES

34.1 Service Concession Arrangements - Accounting policies

The Company applies IFRIC 12 Service Concession Agreements. This interpretationappliesto companies that participate inservice
concessionarrangements and provides guidance on the accounting by operators in public-to-private service.
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Afeature of these service arrangements is the public service nature of the obligationundertaken by the operator (business
community). The service arrangement contractually obliges the operatorto provide the services to the public.

The IFRIC 12 interpretation applies to public-to-private service concessionarrangements if the grantor (public sector) controls or
regulates what services the operator (business community) must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, and at
what price; andthe grantor (public sector) controls—through ownership, beneficial entitlementor otherwise—any significantresidual
interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term of the arrangement.

This Interpretation applies to both the infrastructure that the operator constructs or acquires froma third party for the purpose of the
service arrangement; and the existing infrastructure to which the grantor (public sector) gives the operator (business community)
access for the purpose of the service arrangement.

Magyar Telekom's primary activities arethe fixed line and mobile operations in Hungary. These services are in most cases regulated by
the country’ lawsor otherlegislations. These services in most cases require the acquisition of a license or concession, whichusually
requires a one-offfee and annual payments. These licenses orconcessions are recognized as intangible assets.

The mostimportant features of the regulations of these services are described below.

34.2 Mobile

Magyar TelekomPlc. is the market leading mobile service provider inHungary. The Implementation of the EU New Regulatory
Framework (NRF) Review package had been completed by the amendment of the Act C of 2003 on Electronic Communications
(hereinafter: Communications Act). The National Media and Infocommunications Authority of Hungary (NMIAH) is the supreme
supervisorybody and s responsible for secondary legislation making and the preparation of relevant decrees.

InJune 2012, the Hungarian Parliament adopted the modification of the Electronic Communications Law extending the scope of
competence and tasks of the NMIAH. Pursuant to the amendment, all spectrum related issues are dealt with by the NMIAH.

OnDecember 7, 2004, the Company obtained the spectrum usage right of certain frequency blocksfor the deployment and operation
of an IMT2000/UMTS mobile telecommunications system (3G system). The duration of the spectrum licenseis 15 years (until
December 7, 2019) that was extended for another 7.5 years in December 2018 fora one-time fee of HUF 11 billion.

The Company won a tender for a spectrum usage right fora 26 GHzblock on April 30, 2009. OnMay 14,2012 the NMIAH granted
spectrum license to Magyar Telekom for 4 pieces of basic spectrumblocks (2 x 28 MHz each) in the 26 GHz band. Furthermore
Telekom acquired GTSHungary Ltd.’s 2 blocks in the 26 GHzband for HUF 114.6 million HUF net, and has a usage right forit from
November 1, 2016. Blocks purchased in 2009 were prolonged in 2018.

The Company filed an auction bid inDecember 2011 with the NMIAH forthe right of use of unused spectrum in the 900 MHz
frequency band, related to the provision of mobile telecommunications services. The spectrum can be utilized in a technology-neutral
manner. The NMIAHannounced its first-instance decision on the result of the 900 MHzauction (Auction) on January 30, 2012. Magyar
Telekomwon theright of use of two duplex frequency blocksof 1 MHz each fora period of 15 years.

On September 6, 2013 Magyar Telekom and the NMIAH signed the modification of the Authority Contract on the use of the 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands. The main stipulations of the modification are the following:

= Magyar Telekom'’s spectrum usage rights in the 1800 MHz frequency band otherwise expiring on October 7, 2014 and inthe 900
MHz frequencyband otherwise expiring on May 4, 2016 were prolonged and harmonized until April 2022.

= Magyar Telekomwillretainspectrumusage right also until April 2022 on the twoduplex 1 MHz frequencyblocks in the 900 MHz
frequency band won in the 900 MHz auction in 2012. Accordingly, Magyar Telekom currently has frequency usage rights of 10 MHz
duplex frequency blocksin the 900 MHz frequency bands and of 15 MHzduplexblocks inthe 1800 MHzfrequency band.

= Theinitial fee of the prolongation and harmonizationof 900 MHz/1800 MHz spectrum licenses was HUF 38 billion. However,
Magyar Telekomwas required to pay HUF 34 billion out of the aforementioned amount, considering the expiry of the frequency
blocks won in 2012 being changed from the original 2027 date to 2022.

OnMay 22, 2014, the NMIAH published the “Documentation forthe tenderannounced in the subject of spectrum licenses for
broadband services”. Blocks in 800 MHz /900 MHz / 1800 MHz / 2600 MHz and 26 GHz frequencybands were auctioned.
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On September 29, 2014 the NMIAH published thetender results so that Magyar Telekomacquired the following frequenciesfor an
aggregate amount of HUF 58,650 million:

= 2x 10MHzin 800 MHz
= 2x2MHzin 900 MHz

= 2x 30MHzin 2600 MHz
= 2x 10MHzin 1800 MHz.

On October 15, 2014 Magyar Telekomand the NMIAH signed the Authority Contracton the use of the 800MHz 900 MHz and 1800
MHz frequencybands that came into force right on that day. Forthe new bands the frequency license and radio permissionwere
issued on October 17,2014 to Magyar Telekom.

As aresult of the last tender Magyar Telekom acquired frequency usage rightsin the above listed spectrums till June 15,2029. The
Authority Contract can be prolonged with further 5 years if all requirements defined in the contract are met.

The Company is subject to number portability regulation since 2004, applicable only in case of other mobile operators. The Company
is designated as anSMP operatorin the mobile wholesale call termination market (new M2, old M7 market) and subject to regulatory
obligations regarding the termination charge of calls intoits network, mobile termination rate (MTR). At the end of August 2011, the
NMIAH delivered its third market analysis decisions on the M2 market. On the mobile voice market the three mobile operatorshad to
cuttheir wholesale prices by 40% in three steps. The last mobile market resolution was published on March 18,2015 witha newly
defined pure Bottom-Up Long Run Incremental Costing model (pure BU-LRIC) resulting in anMTR of 1.71 HUF/min net cost based
fee.

Since June 30,2007, an EUregulation has been regulating international roaming tariffs forwholesale and retail customers on the basis
of a price cap system. The first EU roaming regulation prescribed a glide-path that mandated annual reductions of wholesale and retail
prices. (EURoaming Regulation|.)

As of July 2009 the EU also introduced regulated tariffs for SMS and data roaming similarly to the regulation of voice roaming. (EU
Roaming Regulation I.)

As of July 1, 2012 the EU further broadened the European roaming regulation with a new regulatory measure: separate sales of
regulated roaming services. As a result Magyar Telekomhad to implement the technical possibility to host an Alternative Roaming
Provider inits network and also it allows its own customers to use Local Break-out solutions within the EU offered by a foreign EU
member country’smobile operatorfrom July 1, 2014. (EU Roaming Regulation Ill.)

The actual EU roaming regulation - “Full Roam Like At Home With Fair Use Palicy Possibility” - is applied from June 15, 2017. (EU
Roaming Regulation IV.). As a result, European retail roaming price levels for voice, SMS and data are equal to domestic prices since
summer 2017. The Commission implementing regulation (EU) 2016/2286 of 15 December 2016 laid down detailed rules on the
application of fair use policy and on the methodology forassessing the sustainability of the abolition of retail roaming surcharges and
on the application to be submitted by a roaming provider for the purposes of thatassessment.

On December 11, 2018, the European Union published its EuropeanElectronic Communication Code ("Code") Directive (EU)
2018/1972 that defines price caps forintra-EU callsand texts that is to be applied by May 15,2019, MT will fullfil the price cap
regulationontime.

34.3 Fixedline

Universal services are basic communicationsservices (including accessto communication services at a fixed location, public
payphones, directoryand directory enquiryservices) that should be availableto all customersat an affordable price. The NMIAH
published its request forvoluntary universal service provisioning on January 19, 2018. MT did not bid to any parts of the universal
services, so the NMIAH designated MT to offer the following universal services fromJanuary 1, 2019: public payphones, access on
fixed location and for national directory enquiry service. Asa result of the procedure MT lost 2 primary areas to serve (Sze kszard - nr74
and Paks - nr75) and received a newone (Szeged -nr6?2).
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Inthe electronic communicationsfield Magyar Telekom was designated as anSMP operator (a service provider with significant market
power)on the regulated markets:

= 1, Wholesale fixed calltermination

= 2. Wholesale mobile calltermination

= 3.a)Wholesalelocal access at a fixed location - WLA

3.b) Wholesale central access for mass-market products - WCA
= 4, Wholesale high-qualityaccess at a fixed location

Magyar Telekomis Hungary’s leading fixed line broadband service providerin the wholesale market and one of the leading ones in the
retail market. In accordance with the effective resolution, all retail fixed products shall be ‘reproducible’ by competitors based on the
wholesale service. Consequently, the full retail portfolio shall have a wholesale equivalent. Previous regulationdefined a r etail minus
price setting. The NMIAH published the latest resolutions with regards to markets 3aand 3b on December 15, 2017. SMP operators
are obliged to prepare reference unbundling offer foraccess to (physical) passive network infrastructure (RUO) and to provide these
services whenthereis a request for them by other telecommunications service providers. The reference offer of each SMP operator
must be approved by the NMIAH. As a novelty the resolutions contained geographical segmentation inthe access regulation, as a start
of a deregulation path,in a limited number of settlementsand as a new service the virtual unbundlingobligation (L2-\WAP).

Magyar Telekomwas designated as an SMP in both 3a and 3b markets. Service fee calculation for all relevant regulated service s -
both markets 3a (resolution PC/17915-66/2017.) and 3b (resolution PC/17920-66/2017.) - are with a BULRIC+ model. The latest
reference unbundling offer (MARUQ) accordingly was approved on December 4, 2018. The new fees are applied from January 1,
2019. The new L2-WAP regulated product and itsimplementation in the reference unbundling offeris ongoing, and assumed to be
finishedin Q3 2019, also resulting modificationsin the MARUO. Withregards the fix networks’ regulated interconnection the NMIAH
published its fifth round market analysis procedure’s resolution on May 15, 2018. The resolution’s FTR (fix termination rate) proposal -
thatis based on a pure BU-LRIC model- is 0.26 HUF/min. The new fee hadto be applied symmetrically with an effect fromend of Q2
2018 altogether for 144 operators.

The latest MARIO and supplementary interconnection service feesare assumed to come into force by end of Q1 2019.

34.4 Energy services in Hungary

Magyar Telekomdecided to exit fromthe residential segment of the gas market with effect fromJuly 31, 2015 and also from the
residential segment of the electricity market with effect from November 1, 2017.

From October 1,2016, Magyar Telekom seized its operation in the public procurement gas market as the natural gas services
segment of the energy business was outsourced to E2 Hungary Zrt., a jointventure owned by Magyar TelekomPlc. and MET Holding
AG to operate in the business and public procurement segment of the Hungarian gas and energy market. In accordance with the
agreement of the owners, Magyar Telekom transferred its business energy operations to E2.

35 EVENTSAFTER THEREPORTING PERIOD

35.1 Sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings

InJanuary 2019, the sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar was completed, representing the last remaining transaction of the comprehensivereal
estate agreement signed with WING Group on May 19, 2015. The salesprice amounted to EUR 11.3 million.

36 UNBUNDLING OF ACTIVITIES

InaccordancewithAct LXXXVI of 2007 on Electric Energyand Government Decree 273/2007 (X.19.) on the implementation of
provisions thereof, and Act XL of 2008 on Natural Gas Supply and GovernmentDecree 19/2009 (1.30.) on the implementation of
provisions thereof, hereinafter are disclosed the statements of financial position and the statements of profit orlossand other
comprehensiveincome.
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36.1 Statements of financial position connected with energy services provided

12.31.2017
Electricity Gas Other Total

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 948 948
Trade receivables and other assets 191 (2) 110,505 110,694
Othercurrent financial assets 9 - 11,164 11173
Current income tax receivable - - 189 189
Inventories - - 13,743 13,743

200 (2) 136,549 136,747

Assets held for sale - - 161 161

Total CUITENTASSELS ..cciiiceeeieeiiicc e e e s s e e e e e s ssss s e e e e s s s s snnnnees 200 (2) 136,710 136,908

Non currentassets
Property, plant and equipment (39) (3) 371,774 371,732
Intangible assets 524 - 378,106 378,630
Investments - - 131,500 131,500
Deferred tax assets - - - -
Non current financial assets - - 19,775 19,775
Othernon current assets - 128 128

Total NON CUITENE ASSELS ...uuueerieiiiiiiiinrrreeieessssssnr e e e e e s ssssseeeeesssssnnnneees 485 (3) 901,283 901,765
B 0 =Y I TT-T=Y 685 (5) 1,037,993 1,038,673
LIABILITIES

Currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties (19) (2) 39,357 39,336
Otherfinancial liabilities (217) 108 5,730 5,621
Trade payables 560 (187) 110,660 111,033
Current income tax payable - - 16 16
Provisions - - 2,312 2,312
Other current liabilities (2) - 28,785 28,783
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - - -

Total currentliabilities ......cccceeeiiiciiiiiieiiiccc e 322 (81) 186,860 187,101

Non currentliabilities

Financial liabilities to related parties (118) 9) 231,774 231,647
Otherfinancial liabilities (7) (M 44,791 44,783
Deferred tax liabilities (6) (1) 12,365 12,358
Provisions - - 8,674 8,674
Othernon current liabilities - 286 286
Total non current [iabilities ........ccceeeveeeeervreeerrrreer e (131) (11) 297,890 297,748
B0 7= LT o1 L= 191 (92) 484,750 484,849
EQUITY
Common stock - - 104274 104,274
Capital reserves - - 25,078 25,078
Treasury stock - - (27) (27)
Retained earnings (4,981) (6,007) 435,487 424,499
Accumulated other comprehensive income - - - -
B 7= LI=Yo 1L (4,981) (6,007) 564,812 553,824
DIFFERENCE BECAUSE OF SEPARATION
Difference because of separation 5475 6,094  (11,569)
Total difference because of separation .........cccceevrvveeerrsveerrsvreeersseeeresanes 5,475 6,094 (11,569)
Total liabilitiesand @qUItY .....cccceeceeeeereierccer e e 685 (5) 1,037,993 _ 1,038,673
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12.31.2018
Electricity Gas Other Total
ASSETS
Currentassets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 1,315 1,315
Trade and other receivables 2 (1) 138,218 138,219
Other current financial assets 5 - 22,266 22,271
Current income tax receivable - - 33 33
Inventories - - 15,192 15,192
7 (1) 177,024 177,030
Assets held for sale - - - -
Total current assets 7 (1) 177,024 177,030
Non currentassets
Property, plant and equipment 16 (1) 359,569 359,584
Intangible assets 10 (1) 379,977 379,986
Investments - - 132,665 132,665
Deferred tax assets - - - -
Non current financial assets - - 22,458 22,458
OtherNON CUIMENT ASSELS ovvvvvvscssisssssssseeesssssssmssssssssssssssssssmssssssssssssessssssmssssssssssssssssssssssss - - 4181 4181
Total non currentassets 26 (2) _ 898.850 898,874
Total assets 33 (3) 1,075,874 1,075,904
LIABILITIES
Currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 26 (2) 117,757 117,781
Otherfinancial liabilities (287) (1) 6,332 6,044
Trade payables 9) (195) 149,629 149,425
Current income tax payable - - 35 35
Provisions - - 2,270 2,270
Other current liabilities - - 26,956 26,956
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - - -
Total cUrrent liabilities ... ———— (270) (198) 302,979 302,511
Non currentliabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 29 (2) 123,323 123,350
Otherfinancial liabilities 3 - 45310 45313
Deferred tax liabilities 4 - 15,785 15,789
Provisions - - 10,870 10,870
Othernon current liabilities - - - -
Total non current liabilities 36 (2) 195,288 195,322
Total liabilities (234) (200) 498,267 497,833
EQUITY
Common stock - - 104,274 104,274
Capital reserves - - 23,359 23,359
Treasury stock - - (45) (45)
Retained earnings (5,505) (5,964) 461,952 450,483
B0 =1 =Y 1V« (5,505) (5,964) 589,540 578,071
DIFFERENCE BECAUSE OF SEPARATION
Difference because of separation 5772 6,161 (11,933)
Total difference because of separation 5772 6,161 (11,933)
Total liabilitiesand €qUItY .....ccceeeceeeceecerrc e 33 (3) 1,075,874 _ 1,075,904
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36.2 Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income connected with energy services provided

2017
Electricity Gas Other Total
R T=30 2] 11V =R 4,603 466,929 471,532
Direct costs (4,764) (18) (169,801) (174,583)
Employee related expenses (3) (56,610) (56,613)
Depreciation and amortization 232 (88,079) (87,847)
Otheroperating expenses (77) 1 (93,226) (93,302)
OPErating EXPENSES .uuvererseusesessressesressessessessssssessessssssssessessessessssssessessess (4,612) (17) (407,716 (412,345)
Otheroperating income - 5957 5957
Operating Profit .....ccceveceiecercrerccrre e 9) (17) 65,170 65,144
Interestincome - 421 421
Interest expense 7 1 (13,350) (13,342)
Otherfinancial expense - net 2 (7,941) (7,939)
Netfinancial reSult.........ccoicccericccinrccr e 9 1 (20,870) (20,860)
Results fom investments 4) 10,624 10,620
Results from associates and joint ventures 97 97
Profit before income tax - 55,021 55,001
Income tax (83) 1 (13,062) (13,144)
Profit for the Year ...t e (87) (15) 41,959 41,857
Other comprehensive income forthe year, net of tax - - -
Total comprehensiveincome for the year .......c.ccceecevecerncencceessceeneseeseneens (87) (15) _ 41,959 41,857
2018
Electricity Gas Other Total
LN V- 26 493,291 493,317
Direct costs 49 (5) (197,263) (197,219)
Employee related expenses 1 (56,869) (56,868)
Depreciation and amortization (579) 41 (93,295) (93,833)
Otheroperating expenses (20) 1 (92,823) (92,842)
OPErating @XPENSES ...ucevrueeerrererrerseereserersesarsessssersesessesessssssnsssssessenssserens (549) 37 (440,250 (440,762)
Other operating income - 8,712 8,712
Operating Profit ......ccccevcccemiccrir e e (523) 37 61,753 61,267
Interestincome - 265 265
Interest expense (3) (13,230)  (13,233)
Otherfinancial expense-net 7 (3,937) (3,930)
Netfinancial reSuUlt ........cccvvevcerrerserrerree e rree s e e e e e e e s e e e e e n e e e s an e e e ennes (3) 7 (16,902) (16,898)
Results fom investments 1 0 4,165 4,166
Profit before iNCOME taX.....ccucccericciiriccirr e (525) 44 49,016 48,535
Income tax 1 (10,870) (10,869)
Profitfor the YEar ....uuvvvcercveer s e v e s e s e s e s sne e e e nr e e an e s esnnes (524) 44 38,146 37,666
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - - -
Total comprehensiveincomefor the year ........ccceeceeecerecenecensceneceeneeens (524) 44 _ 38,146 37,666
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36.3 Main rules applied to the financial data for energy services by activities presented above

General rule applied during allocation isthat if a general ledger account contains the settlement of energy activities (dire ctly or
indirectly froman allocation process) and there isno any subledger then the separation of the balance between electricity and gas
activities are based on the energy related direct margin. At a significant part of general ledger accounts the allocation is based on
proportion of direct margin because of the different profit of telecommunication and energy products. The direct marginis the
difference between revenues and direct costs related to it; corrected by the effect of utility costsreduction, the amount of discount
related to energy services connected to telecommunicationservices. ltems are separated to energy services and to
telecommunication/other services in the proportionof direct margin.

In case of the informationare available in subledgerthen allocated amounts on energy activities are defined by individual i tems based
ondata supply. In case of someitems the allocation ratiodepends on costs. The cost ratio on energy services isequalto the quotient
of the materialtype expenses forenergy services in 100% (electricityand/or gas) and the total material-type expenses of the
Company.

36.4 Gas-engine small power plant

Magyar TelekomPlc.’s individual authorized activitiesalso include the operation of gas-engine small power plant. Since the Company
uses the gas-engine small power plantfor itsown purposes the volume of sales is verylow and thiseconomic activity isnot meaningful.
Because of this the comparability of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet cannotbe ensured and neitherthe income statement
would containmeaningful economic information. The amountsrelated to this activity are not significant compared to the figures
disclosed inthebalance sheet and income statement of the Company so in connection with the accounting separation of gas-engine
small power plant only the main indicators are disclosed in the following table.

2017 2018
TaNGible ASSELS.....ccviiiiiiciccrecece e 143 105
REVENUES ..ot 5 4
DIrECT COSES 1.ttt 43 116
Employee related eXpenditures ........ccocoveerieieniiieniiee s 8 8
Depreciation and amortization.............coeeerveieniineisieicieniens 41 37
Other operational EXPENSES.........ccveeirieiiesieie e 79 5

Budapest, February 20, 2019

\ $U o

= -
= L "
Tibor Rékasi 3 Janps'Szabd
Chief Executive Officer, Board membex ChiefFinancial Officer
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INTRODUCTION

The Company’s activities are described in Note 1 of the Financial Statements, while the business report provides additional
informationon the following topics:

= SUMMARY ON 2018 OPERATIONS

= THECOMPANY'SSHARE CAPITAL, VOTING RIGHTS AND TRANSFER OF SHARES

= CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

= SOCIAL COMMITMENTS, LABOUR STANDARDS, HUMAN RIGHTS

= COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORY BOARD, AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
= RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

= REAL ESTATE, SITES OF OPERATION

= SUSTAINABILITY

= ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

= CORPORATE COMPLIANCE

= ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

= TARGETS ANDSTRATEGY

= INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISKSAND UNCERTAINTIES

= ANALYSIS OF FINANCIALRESULTS FOR 2018

= SUBSEQUENT EVENTS BETWEENTHE END OF THE YEAR AND THE RELEASE OF THE REPORT
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SUMMARY ON 2018 OPERATIONS

Since the Company is the parent company of Magyar Telekom Group, thereforethe Summaryon 2018 operations related to Magyar
Telekom Group is presented below.

Tibor Rékasi, CEO commented:

“The Group has maintained strong earnings momentum throughout 2018, delivering revenue growth of 7.6%forthe year. We
outperformed ourguidance, for both revenues, which reached HUF 657.1 billion, and EBITDA, which amounted to HUF 192.5 billion.
The factors behind the EBITDA growth were the higher gross profit and one-off profit realized by the sale of real estates. Wealso
exceeded our free cashflowtarget, which reached HUF 68 billion in2018 thanks to a higher EBITDA, declining acquisitioncostsand
the one-offincome from the realestate sales, while CAPEX stood at HUF 91.8 billion. Furthermore, through our continuous focus on
our core business and meeting customer needs, and by constantlyrefreshing our product offering, we regained or maintained our
leading positionin all key market segments, including post-paid mobile, TV and fixed broadband.

In Hungary, positive business trends continued throughout the year, with revenue growth across allthree major business lines.

Inthe mobile segment, demand for mobile datacontinued to grow as more customers used our state-ofthe-art 4G network,
significantly supporting revenue generation. This wasreinforced by our ongoingstrategy for equipment sales and the migration of pre-
paid customersinto post-paid packages. We delivered moderate growth in our customer base, while also increasing mobile ARPU in
Q4, with growth of 6.8%achieved in thefull year.

Inthe fixed market, we maintained our strong focus on growing our fixed network, providing nearly 300,000 new householdswith
100+ MBs internetconnectivity, and bringing us closer to our goal of providing gigabit interet connectivity across the whole country.
We continued to see the positive results of this strategy in the growth of fixed line revenue, where - despite the industry-wide trend of
declining voice revenues - we grew revenues by 5.5% year-on-year and by 4.9% inthe final quarter. Furthermore, broadband and TV
revenues and fixed line equipment revenues maintained strong growth, reaching 95.9% year-on-year, thanks to a strong fourth quarter
performance helped by Black Friday and Christmas promotions.

With the strong performance of both our fixed and mobile businesslines, we were able to focus on the third pillar of our core business
strategy, the FMC customerbase. In 2018 we remained the onlytruly integrated playerin Hungary and wetook action to reinforce our
leading position in this market. While in the second quarter we doubled the mobile data allowance, in the third quarter we unified our
offering, giving our Magental customers the ability to secure a 30% discount on all related services. Building on this we were able to
continuouslygrowour Magental customer base, by offering asimplerand more attractive package. We also looked fornew ways to
reach our customersand strengthened ouronline channels. Over 40% of our customersnow use our Telekom app and over 20% of
all sales occur via ouronline channels.

Inthe System Integration and IT segment we had a strong year, achieving22.4% growth versus 2017. Once again, the growth was
attributableto a high volume of software and hardware projects with lower profit margins. Our strategyis to continue focusing on these
deals, to build long-termrelationships with our business partners, and over time convert these relationships to higher margin service
contracts.

Group performance during the yearwas further supported by the continued tumaround in Macedonia. Both revenues and EBITDA

improved, thanks to a solid performance across all business lines, positive trends inservice revenues, and outstanding growth in
System Integration and IT revenues.”
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1 THECOMPANY’S SHARE CAPITAL, VOTING RIGHTS AND TRANSFER OF SHARES

As of December 31, 2018, the share capital of Magyar Telekom Plc. wasHUF 104,274,254,300, consisting of 1,042,742,543 Series
“A” dematerialized ordinary shares. All Series “A” ordinary shares have a nominal value of HUF 100. Rightsand obligations related to
Series “A” ordinary shares are described in detail in Section 2 of the Articles of Association
(http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor _relations/corporate_governance/corporate_governance_documents). Information
concerning our ownership structure as of December 31, 2018 isdescribed in the followingtable:

Percentage of

Shareholder Number of shares share capital
Deutsche Telekom EUrope B.V........cooiiiiiiiiiiii e 617,436,759 59.21
PUDHCIYTrAded. ... 425,202,199 40.78
TrEASUIY SNAIES...c.viiiieiiiciet ettt e e re s 103,585 0.01
1,042,742,543 100.00

Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V. owning 59.21% of the Company’s voting rights ismember of the Deutsche Telekom Group. The
ultimate controlling parent of Magyar Telekom is Deutsche Telekom AG(DT or DTAG).

Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V. does not have different voting rights than our other shareholders and, as with our other shareholders,
Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V.is entitled to one vote pereach ordinary share that it owns.

1.1 Voting Rights and Voting

The holder of eachSeries “A” ordinary share shall be entitled to one vote at the General Meeting of the Company. The names of
shareholders and nomineeswho intend to participate at the General Meeting shall be registered in the Share Register on the second
working day priorto the starting date of the General Meeting. The General Meeting shall adopt its resolutions by a simple majority vote
except for resolutions on issues listed in the Articles of Associations, which shall require at least a three-quarters majority of the votes
cast. There isno limitation on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold orexercise voting rights on the ordinary shares.
There is no limitation of voting rights for ordinary sharesin the Articles of Association. The Company has no sharesassigne d with
special management rights.

1.2 Transfer of Shares

For the transfer of dematerialized share acontract fortransfer or other legal title is required and, inthat contex, the transferor's
securities account shall be debited and the new holder’ s securities account shall be credited with the transferre d dematerialized
shares. The holder of dematerialized share shall be considered the holder of the securities account on which the dematerialized
shares are recorded.

The transfer of any Series “A” ordinary shares isnot bound to any restriction or attainme nt of agreement.

2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

2.1 Annual General Meeting

The General Meeting has the exclusive right to approve and amend the Articles of Association (section 5.2. (a)) unless otherwise
provided by law orthe Articles of Association. According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is entitled to make
decisions regarding any change in the registered seat, sites, branchoffices and - except for the main activity - the scope of activities
of the Company and in relation to this, to modify the Articles of Association (section6.4.(p)).
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2.2 Board of Directors

The detailed ruleson the scope of authorities and operation of the Board of Directors are detailed in 6.4 of the Articles of Association
andin the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors
(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/board_of_directors).

The rules of competence regarding the capital increase and purchase of treasury shares are detailed inSections 5.2 (b) and (p) as well
as 6.4. () and (m) of the Articles of Association. The General Meeting by its Resolution No. 8/2018 (IV.10.) authorized the Board of
Directors to purchase Magyar Telekomordinary shares for 18 months starting fromthe date of approval of the resolution. Seethe
detailed description of the authorization on the General Meetings section of our website.

The Board of Directors is responsible for all mattersrelating to the Company’s management and course of businessnot otherwise
reserved to the General Meeting or to other corporate bodies by the Articles of Association or by the laws. The Board of Directors
draws up, at the end of each business year, a report forthe General Meeting and quarterly to the Supervisory Board on the
management of the Company, the assets of the Company, the financial situation of the Company and the business policy of the
Company.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors consists of a minimum of six and a maximum of eleven members elected
by the General Meeting fora term of three years, unless otherwise provided by the General Meeting. On December 31, 2018, there
were seven members of the Board of Directors.

Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at least fourtimes a year. Meetings of the Board of Directors require the presence of at
least the majority of the members fora quorum. Each member of the Board of Directors has onevote. The Board of Directors passes
resolutionsby a simple majority vote.

OnDecember 31, 2018, members of the Board of Directors, their principal occupationand the years of their original election were as
follows:

Name Born Principal Occupation Member since
Tibor REKasi......c..ccovvevvevviieiennen, 1973  Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Telekom Plc. 2018
Dr. Mihaly Patai............cccovevviinennns 1953  Chairman-CEQ of Unicredit Bank Hungary Ltd. 2012
Ralf Nejed........ccoorvvrniiiiieinnn 1970 Senior Vice President B2B Europe, Deutsche Telekom 2016
Frank Odzuck........ccccovvviiinnnne 1959 éﬁief Executive Officer of Zwack Unicum Plc. 2006
Dr. Robert Hauber...............c........ 1971 Senior Vice President Finance & Performance 2017

Management Europe, DT AG, Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Magyar Telekom Plc.

GuidoMenzel......c.ccccevvvevviiennnn, 1961 Senior Vice President Technology Europe, Deutsche 2017
Telekom AG
Mardia Niehaus........ccccceevevveenennn, 1963 Lead of InnovationHub at Technology & Innovation, 2017

Deutsche Telekom AG

The members’ assignmentlasts until May 31, 2019.

'As of January 1, 2019 Senior Vice President HR BP Technology&Innovation.
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2.3 Management Committee

Pursuant to the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors established a Management Committee in 2000.
The Management Committee carriesout its activities based on its Rules of Procedure approved by the Board of Directors, which is
available onthe Company’s website:

(http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor _relations/corporate_governance/management_committee).

Management Committee membership shall last from the date of the assignment orfrom the date set forth thereinas the date of the
assignment, to thetermination of the assignment, dueto any reasons.

OnDecember 31, 2018, the members of the Management Committee and the years of their original election were as follows:

Name Born Current position Member since
Tibor REKaSI........cooveeriaiiicrine 1973 Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Telekom Plc. 2013
Janos Szabd.....oovvvviiii 1961 Chief Financial Officer 2013
Dr. Baldzs MAthé'............cvvveeee... 1968 Chief Legaland Corporate Affairs Officer 2010
Melinda Szabo............c.cccovvrvnnn. 1971 Chief Commercial Officer Residential 2018
Zsuzsanna Friedl.........cccocoeennae 1977 Chief HumanResources Officer 2017
Z0tAN KaSzaS....covvvevveiiiiiiiiiins 1968 Chief Commercial Officer Enterprise, Chief Executive 2017

Officer of T-Systems Hungary Ltd.

'MC membership terminated on December 31, 2018

2.4 Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board carriesout its activities based on Section 7 of the Articles of Association and its Rules of Procedure approved
by the General Meeting (https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/supervisory_board). The
Supervisory Board shall examine all submissions to be submitted to the General Meeting and present itsopinion thereof at the General
Meeting. The General Meetingmay pass a resolution on a report pursuant to the Accounting Act and the use of the profit after income
tax only upon receipt of the writtenreport of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board makes a proposal directly to the General
Meeting regarding the election, remunerationand removal of the Statutory Auditor.

Pursuant to the Company's Atticles of Association, the Supervisory Board consists of a minimumof three and a maximum of fifteen
members elected by the General Meeting fora term of three years, unless otherwise provided by the General Meeting. The Central
Workers’ Council of Magyar Telekomnominates one-third of the Supervisory Board members (employee representatives). Meetings of
the Supervisory Board have a quorumif two-thirds of its elected members but at least three members are present.
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OnDecember 31, 2018, the members of the SupervisoryBoard, their principal occupation and the years of their original election were

Principal Occupation

as follows:

Name Born
Dr. LaszIO Pap......cccceevvevveiveinennn, 1943
Dr. Janos BitO........ccovvvvvviviicinne, 1936
Attila BujdosO......ccocviiiiiiiin 1967
Sandor Hartai.........ccccoeeeeennnn, 1966
Dr. Janos IlIESSY .....cccoveviveeiine. 1962
Dr. Sandor Kerekes..........cocovvne. 1948
Konrad Kreuzer ........c.ccovveveinane. 1948
Tamas LichnovszKy........ccccceeveanens 1962
Martin Meffert.........ccccooviinnnnn, 1960
Dr. Kéroly Salamon...........ccceenee. 1954
Zsotné Varga......coooeeveevannnnn, 1969
Dr. KonradWetzker...........ccceuenee. 1950

Professor emeritus, Budapest University of Technology
and Economics

Chairman of the Thesis and Final Examination Board at
Pazmany Péter Catholic University, Information
Technology Faculty

President of the Telecommunications Trade Union

Expert of Wholesale Directorate, Magyar Telekom
Managing Director of Lebona Kft.

Director of Institute of Environmental Sciences, Corvinus
University Budapest

Managing Director of EUTOP Vienna, Budapest and
Prague

Chairman of the Central Workers” Council, Magyar
Telekom

Project Manager Asset Development Europe, Deutsche
Telekom AG

Managing Director of MIS Kft.

Quality Manager, Magyar Telekom

Chairman of the School of Management of Corvinus
University Budapest

The members’ assignmentlasts until May 31, 2019.

2.5 Audit Committee

Member since

1997

2010

2018
2016
2006
2006
2006
2010
2009
2010
2008

2011

The Audit Committee executesits duties pursuant to the Articles of Association Section 7.8, and its own Rules of Procedure
(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/audit_committee ). The members of the Audit
Committee have been elected by the General Meeting from the independent members of the Supervisory Board forthe same period as

their membership in the Supervisory Board.

On December 31, 2018, the members of the Audit Committee were as follows:

= Dr.Janos Illéssy

= Dr.Janos Bité

= Dr. Sandor Kerekes
= Dr.Laszl6 Pap

= Dr. Karoly Salamon

2.6 Remuneration and Nomination Committee

As of September 20, 2013, certain nomination related tasks were also assigned to the Remuneration Committee and itsname was
changedto Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committeeis established by the Board of Directors of the Company to function as supporting body
ofthe Board of Directors of the Company regarding the remunerationand certainnomination related issues of the members of the
corporate bodies and the top executives of the Company in accordance with its Rules of Procedure.
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(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/c orporate_governance/compensation).

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, among others, makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on the
establishment and/ortermination of employment, and the modification of the employment contract of the chief executive officerand
the chief officers, aswell as the remuneration package of the chief executive officerand the chief officers, including setting and
evaluating annual individual targets. The Remuneration and Nomination Committee holdsat least two me etingseach year.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of three members. The members are elected by the Board of Directors from
among its members.

On December 31, 2018, the members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee were as follows:

= Frank Odzuck
= Dr. Robert Hauber
= Ralf Nejedl

2.7 Corporate Governance and Management Report

Magyar TelekomPlc. is a public limited company listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange. In2004, the Budapest Stock Exchange
issued its Corporate Governance Recommendations (the Recommendations) containing recommendations related to the corporate
governance practice of companies listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, taking account of the most commonly used intemational
principles, of experiences gathered in Hungary, and of the characteristics of the Hungarian market as well asthe Companies Act. The
Recommendations were updated in 2007, 2008, 2012 and in2018. The Recommendations effective fromtimeto timeis available at
the website of the Budapest Stock Exchange: https://www.bse.hu/Products-and-Services/Rules-and-Regulations/BSE-Rules

Inline with the current regulations, the Board of Directors of Magyar Telekom Plc. approved the Corporate Governance and
Management Report of the Company (report) prepared in accordance with the Corporate Governance Recommendations and
submitted it to the General Meeting. The report - along with other corporate governance related documents- is published at the
Corporate Governance section of the website of the Company:

http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/corporate _governance_documents

Companies listed on the stock exchange are required to express their views on their corporate govemance practices in two ways. In
the first part of the report they have to give account of the corporate governance practices applied by theircompanyin the given
business year, including their corporate governance policy, and a description of anyunusual circumstances. In the second part of the
report, the issuers should give an account on theircompliance with each pointof the Recommendations in accordance with the
"comply or explain" principle, including anyreasons for derogating from a specific recommendation and/or proposal. When an issuer
does not apply a recommendation or appliesitin a differentway, they should explainwhere the differences are and offer a reasonfor
such derogation (‘complyor explain’ principle). Issuers can also explain any derogationsfromthe proposals. This method all ows
issuers to considertheir unique, industry-specific etc. idiosyncrasiesand to inform shareholders and market players about their
derogations from general corporate governance principles and to provide an explanation. Operating on the same principle, issuers
can also explainany derogations fromthe proposals.

The Corporate Governance Declaration on the Compliance with the Corporate Governance Recommendations, and regarding certain
questions the possible alterations and their explanations are included in the report Sections 1 to 5 of the above report include the
descriptionand operation of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, the relevant committees and executive management.
Section 6 of the reportincludesa description of the internal controls and risk management procedures, while Section 8 of the report
describes the disclosure policies and insidertradingguidelines. In Sections 9 to 10 the method of exer cising shareholders’ right and
the rules on conducting the General Meeting is summarized, while Section 11 contains the Remuneration Statement. The Company
complies with the vast majority of the 85 recommendationsand proposals, howeverin the business year of 2018 in case of 4
recommendations and 2 proposals it has not or not completely complied with due to the organizational structure or proc esses of the
Company.

The Board of Directors, through the internal audit area, carried out an evaluation of the Company’s disclosure processesin 2018
again. Based on the evaluation, the disclosure controls and procedures of the Companywere effective and designed to ensure a
proper basis for thetimelyand accurate disclosuresto the market participantsrequired under the respective accounting, capital
markets and company law regulations
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3 SOCIAL COMMITMENTS, LABOUR STANDARDS, HUMAN RIGHTS

Some of the key challenges of the sustainability strategy come fromthe area of human resources management. This is why human
resourcesmanagement has a crucial part in the achievement of our sustainability targets. Our vision is to operate ina corporate
environment that islivable, likeable and successful. This set of values strengthens the commitment and satisfaction of our e mployees
andis also attractive on the job market.

3.1 People strategy

3.1.1 People strategy from the perspective of the company
The priorities of Magyar Telekom’s people strategy in 2018 were:

= |Improvement of employerbranding
= Culture development - growthmindset - development based corporate culture
= |ncreased digitalization

3.1.2 People strategy from the perspective of our employees

The business strategy of Magyar Telekom iscentered around the realization of a digital business model that isbased on utilizing new
technologies in service of consumer relationship management in orderto build trust and drive value creation. Insupport of reaching
this goal the operating model and the organization of HR has been transformed to an evenmore efficientand client oriented body
backing up the corporate business strategy goals.

Key focus areas of HRin 2018:

= Efficient support of transforming workforce

= Development of adaptive corporate structure and culture
= Diverse and attractive workplace

= Resilient and impactful HR organization

Employer brand building - we create a livable and likeable workplace, which is satisfactory for ouremployeesand offers an attractive
perspectivein the labor market through its future oriented methods of work. We put greater emphasis on using social media solutions
in building the brand.

Recruitment-selection- We use segment-based online recruitment channels and meansto selectthe best candidate for the specific
positions. During the selection process, we seek the attitude and personaltraits defined as requirements for future Telekom
employees.

Remuneration - We make our company attractive for employees by means of our wide range of benefits. We have a transparent,
simpler and consistentjob grading model, which reflects primarily the respective values of jobs, and provides for market comparison,
as a basis for a competitive remuneration policy.

Training development-We owe our competitive advantage to our qualified workforce. We are building a digital Telekom, thus put an
increasing emphasis on collaborative digital tools and solutions that enable and inspire self-development Online training catalogue,
online training materials, online coachbank and mentoring, online knowledge sharing (Share).

Wellbeing - Energetic employees We take action foreach other and ourselvesin order to maintain our physical, mental and social
wellbeing. Energized employees make us successful. We draw employees’ attention to conscious preventive health efforts, volunteer
work, sustainabilityand work-life balance.
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3.1.3 Headcount

The following table providesinformation on the number of full-time employees, including fulltime equivalents, of Magyar Telekom Plc.:

2017 2018
Magyar TelekoM PIC.........covvviiieciecececece e 6,241 6,134

3.2 Policies

3.2.1 Policies and agreements
Code of Conduct: https://www.telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/mt-code-of-conduct. pdf

The Code of Conduct provides the framework of orientation for all employees of Deutsche Telekom Group and Magyar Telekom.
Additionally, it appliesto peopleto who are viewed asequivalent to employees in functional terms, e. g. to temporary agency
employees. it combines the joint requirement of compliance withlegal obligations and acting with integrity and thus ensures that
Deutsche Telekom and Magyar Telekomremain transparent and traceable enterprises foreverybody. Deutsche Telekom and Magyar
Telekom expect their suppliers and consultants to comply with the rules of behavior manifested inthis Code of Conduct and to
endeavor them to ensure thatthey are also obliged to abideto its regulation by contract.

Code of Human Rights and Social Principles: https:;//www.telekom.hu/statictr/sw/file/code-of-human-rights-social-principles-
eng.pdf

Equal Opportunities Plan: https://www telekom hu/static-tr/sw/file/Magyar_Telekom_Eselyegyenlosegi_Terv_2016_2020_en pdf

The Code of Human Rights and Social Principles and the Equal Opportunities Plan of Magyar Telekomset the general human rights
principles of the group and guidance to their group-wide implementation. Magyar Telekom recognizesand respects the fact that the
cultural, social and legal diversity of its employees provide the foundations of operations based on equal opportunities. It isalso a
competitive advantage thatleads to business success.

Diversity Policy - https://www.telekom.hu/stafic-tr/sw/file/Diversity_Policy.pdf
The Diversity Policy of Magyar Telekomunderscores our commitmentto consistently identifyand utilize potential for improvement.
Group Policy on Employee Relations - https://www telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/Employee-relations-policy.pdf

The policy is present as an intemal corporate directive since 2011 and was being published as a public corporate policy in 2018.
Based on our shared values and Guiding Principles, this policy offers aframework that enablesthe entire workforceto strengthen
business performance, contributeindividually to business objectives and increase shareholdervalue. Employee relations cover all
aspects of the work life cycle that are relevant to the employment relationship.

Suppliers’ Compliance: Magyar Telekom is committed to respectand protect humanrights and it expects its suppliers to comply with
these rules of behavior. Priorto becoming authorized suppliers of Magyar Telekom and T-Systems our suppliers must register their
enterprises at ourvendors’ registrationsite.

https://beszerzes.telekom.hu/beszerzes/portal_en?appid=beszerzes& page=english/registration_vendor.vm

As an obligatory part of the registration process vendors are obliged to understand and accept our Suppliers Code of Conduct that
among other policies, entails our Code of Conduct, Social Charter and Diversity Palicy. Our suppliers must understand and acc ept
these policies and obligatory frameworks fortheirbehaviorsas well.

Equal Opportunities Plan:

Anti-discrimination and the safeguarding of equal opportunities is a key priority to Magyar Telekom. According to the act CXXV of 2003
on Equal Treatment and Promotion of Equal Opportunities, and the corporate protocolin place since 2010 Magyar Telekomhas
acceptedits 4™ Equal Opportunities Plan in order to secure the practices of equal treatment, the advancement of equal opportunities
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and the monitoring an improvement of the labor positions of particular disadvantaged employee groups. The Equal Opportunities plan
currentlyin forceis valid between 2016 and 2020 and has been developed in close cooperation with the employee representative
bodies.

The Diversity Charter of the European Union - Hungary has joined the Diversity Charter of the EuropeanUnionin2016 and, among
50 signatory companies Magyar Telekom has also underscored its dedication to safeguard diversity asa fundamental value. Magy ar
Telekom has been among the signatory companiesin 2017 andin 2018 as well.

UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights — According to the dedication of Magyar Telekomto safeguard and protect
human rights along its operations as stated in the UN Guiding Principles of Business and Human Rights, the company considers the
rights and guidelines stated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rightsand in the ILO’s Declaration on Fundamental Principles and
Rights at Work to be mandatory in its own practices.

UN Human Rights Treaties ratified by Hungary - Magyar Telekomas a corporationlegally registered in Hungary is carrying out its
entire operations and business practices infull accordance withthe nationally ratified UN HumanRights Treaties.

http://thinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty.aspx?CountrylD=77&Lang=EN

3.2.2 Monitoring and auditing practices

The group-level coordination of corporate sustainability operations that also incorporate labor standards, socialissues and the
protection of human rights is being coordinated by the Group Sustainability Coordination Council (GSCC). Thelevels of development
and management of the corporate sustainability strategy are separated from the operative implementationlevel within the operation of
the GSCC, thus the process of implementing sustainability activities isdivided to the level of strategy development and management,
andthe level of operative implementation.

According to the relevant group directive the strategic tasksare allocated to the respective Chief Officers. 50% of the bonuses of Chief
Officers depend on the performance of collective objectives. More detailed information aboutthe actual operation of the GSCC and its
reporting obligationstowards the Management Committee could be found in the Sustainability chapter of this document andin the
annual Sustainability Report.

Magyar Telekom’'s Code of Conduct covers the requirements of corporate compliance and states our collective set of values, and thus
stands as an affirmation of Magyar Telekom’s strong reputation, solid position and future success. The Code of Conduct applies to all
board members of Magyar Telekom from employeesto managing directors, executives and board members. Furthermore, Magyar
Telekom expects itssuppliers and consultants to comply withthe rules of behavior manifested in this Code of Conduct and to
endeavor them to ensure thatthey are also obliged to abideto its regulation by contract.

Magyar Telekom's Corporate Compliance Program has been elaborated with the aim to ensurethat Magyar Telekomconducts its
business with maximum consciousness and commitment, in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, in harmonywith the
strictest possible business ethics standards. The Compliance Program involvesthe Group Compliance Manager and compliance
representatives of particular functional areas of operation, who are working together as members of the Group Compliance
Committee. The Compliance Programhas beendesigned to ensurethat the Company conducts its business to the highest standards
of awareness, transparency, accountability, commitment, and adherence to applicable laws and regulations.

External auditscould be conducted as part of the contral process carried out by the Hungarian Labor Inspectorate. The Inspectorate
has the right to issue such anauditing process in case of public complaints orissued requests. TheInspectorate also provides
counseling to the corporations insupport of legal compliance.

3.3 Results of Policies
3.3.1 Diversity and Equal Opportunities

As one of the largest employers in the Hungarian ICT sector we believe that diversity contributesto the success of businesses and all
kinds of organizations to a large extent. This valueis also at the core when it comes to the increase of creativity and innovation, to the
involvement of new partners, experts and clients, to the quick adaptation to changes and most of all, to the compliance with thelegal
obligations of non-discrimination inall corporate operations.
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The corporate Equal Opportunities Plan of 2016-2020 addressesactionsand proceduresto improve the labor conditions and career
perspectives of particularvulnerable employee target groups such as women, employees withfamilies, employeeson child-care leave,
employees living with disabilities, recent graduates and 50+ employees. In order to maintain this focus Magyar Telekom has
developed and accepted Equal Opportunities plans since 2008 in close cooperationwith the employee representative bodies. The
currentis the 4" Equal Opportunities Plan of the company, the guidelines, policies and actions of which coverthe 2016-2020 period.

The principles of justice and equal treatment of Magyar Telekom are being defined by our Code of Conduct. Ways of non-typical
employment such as Telework, flexible working hours, part-time work, employment of people livingwith disabilities allowthe company
to realize the principle of equal treatmentin practice. These measures are furtherassisted by several measures implemented in
corporate day-to-day operations, such as the large office spacesthat are designed to support Teleworking inthe new headquarters of
Magyar Telekom.

Inaccordance withHungarian labor legislations we provide our employeeswith extra days off after their ¢ hildren, and after blood
donation. In case of more than 40% health damage we provide our employees with extra five days off annuallyfor rehabilitation. On
top of these we also credit the voluntary work of ouremployees by providing days off, the proportion of whichis strictlyregulated in
internal directives.

One of the targets of our 2016-2020 Sustainability strategy wasto measure and improve the diversity culture of Magyar Telekom. We
have measured the state of corporate diversity culture through an internal survey in January 2018. After the evaluation of the results we
have defined the strategic steps, targets and result indicators of the effective improvement of our corporate diversity and e qual
opportunities culturethat isgoing to be advanced throughthe complex implementation of operative measures.

3.3.2 Anti-discrimination and labor-market integration actions

As an employer, Magyar Telekom hasissued the following actions in 2018 to improve the conditions of the employee groups marked
inthe 2016-2020 Equal Opportunities plan.

The company continued to support the HRom and Integromlabormarket integration programs aiming to support and enable young
roma talents to connect with large corporations and help themin their job application processes. In 2018 the corporate recr uitment
team received a professional trainingon labor market inclusion practices of vulnerable social groups. Asa member of the Hungarian
Employers Forumon Equal Opportunities we have contributed our experiences and best practices to the paper (HU-only) 'Diverse and
inclusive workplaces for roma and others’ http://mef.forum.hu/ckfinder/userfiles/files/sokszinu_befogado_munkahelyek.pdf

In order to secure the equal opportunities of our currentand future colleagueslivingwith disabilities, we are using a special module on
our online job-applicationsite (http://www telekom.hu/rolunk/ karrier) since 2010, where our applicants are encouraged to state any
accessibility requests they might have in orderto attend the selection process.

3.3.3 Respect of Human Rights, actions against child labor and all kinds of forced labor

As disclosedin the Code of Human Rights and Social Principles the company rejectschild laborand all kinds of forced or com pulsory
labor and fights against all kinds of human trafficking and modern day slavery by all means at its disposal. As the parent company of
Magyar Telekom Deutsche Telekom Group is responsible for supply chain compliance auditing and management on a global level.
More detailed information about the methodology and results of the global supply chainmanagementat
https://www.telekom.com/en/corporate-responsibility/assume-responsibility/assume-responsibility/supply-chain-management
355304

New employees of Magyar Telekom aspart of their orientation process in their first twomonths receive compulsory education about
the company principles, guidelines and practices concerning social issues, labor standards and human rights. All employees mu st
understand and accept these guidelines as the fundaments of their own professional behavior and operations.

In line with the Code of Human Rightsand Social Principles, all Magyar Telekom Group employees and all partners closely related to
our brand representation attended compulsory trainings regardinghumanrights. Fromthe end of 2018 the training is part of the
compulsory trainings of Magyar Telekom.

Moreover, the company is aware of thefact that there could be situations inwhich it is harderto tell appropriate from inappropriate. In
order to assist employeesin making the right choices in these situations, the company offers secure internal whistleblower chanrels,
operated by the Corporate Compliance Department. “Kérdezz!” (“Ask me!”) advice portal has been set up to help resolve uncertainties
as far as compliance-relevant behavioris concemed. Serious misconduct must be announced for prevention purposes and for
appropriate sanctions. For this reason, the “Tell me!” whistieblower portal has been established. The mainprinciples and the detailed
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descriptionof the internal inspection process isdetailed in employee directives available on all employeeson the shared intranet
platform. Throughout the inspection process the whistleblowers' anonymity, personal and data privacy are guaranteed and handled
with utmost discretion.

3.3.4 Relationship of management and employees

At presenttwo unionsand workers’ council operate at Magyar Telekom, communication with themrunson two levels. Central
decisions concerning the whole Company, when the employee representation bodiesneed to be consulted, are deliberated with the
Central Workers Council and the representatives delegated by the trade unions, eitherin the frame of joint consultation(Interest
Reconciliation Council), or separately, depending on the nature of the matter discussed. Central communication is managed both
verbally (negotiation) and inwriting. The Chief HR Officerand the HR Strategic Director are responsible for central level
communication with the employee representation bodies. Interest enforcement issues concerninga given governance areaare also
discussed locally with the representatives of the trade unions and the local workers’ council. The HR Business Partners of the
governancearea areresponsible for communication with thelocal employee representationbodies.

Trade union and the workers’ council (Central Workers Council) must be consulted and their opinion solicited on significant decisions
resulting in organizational changes or changes affecting a large group of employees. In organization restructuring decisions the
collective bargainingbodies have 7 days to submit their comments, in other cases 15 days. The measure inquestion may not be
implemented during this 15-day period. Trade unionsand workers” councils (Central Workers Council) must be consulted with regard
to draft resolutions, aiming at organizational changeswithout regard to the number of employees concerned.

Under the ActV of 2013 on the Civil Code one third of the Supervisory Board shall consist of employee representatives. The e mployee
representatives inthe Supervisory Board are nominated by the Central Workers’ Council considering the opinion of the trade unions
operating at the Company. Personsnominated by the Central Workers’ Council shall be elected by the General Meeting to the member
of the Supervisory Board, except ifdisqualifications exist in respect of the nominated persons. On December 31, 2018, four members
of the Supervisory Board were employee representatives. These memberswere Tamas Lichnovszky, Zsoltné Varga, AttilaBujdos6 and
Sandor Hartai.

3.3.5 Freedom of organization and collective bargaining

Magyar Telekomacknowledgesthe basic rights to freedom of organization and collective agreement inits Social Charter. In line with
an openness and trust that relies on a constructive social dialogue, Magyar Telekom declare s its support to cooperation with the
legitimate representatives of the employees in order to establisha balance of interests.

The Social Charter togetherwith the long history of mutual respect and cooperation of the management and employee representative
councils are the guaranteesthat these rightsare being fully and thoroughly respected. 100% of the employmentcontracts of Magyar
Telekom employees operating in Hungary fall under collective bargaining agreements developed with the Hungarian
Telecommunications Trade Unions (Tavkézlési Szakszervezet, TAVSZAK and Magyar Tavkozési Agazati Szakszevezet, MATASZ). The
agreement, whichcan be terminated by either party with three months' notice, applies to all Magyar Telekom Plc. employees except
the CEOQ, regardless of their union membership status. Wage terms inthe collective bargaining agreement must be renegotiated
annually.Ifthe employment is terminated due to reasons related to the employer'soperation, employees are entitled to a specific
amount of severance pay surplus, which depends on the tenure of the employee.

In addition to the collective bargaining agreement, employees of our Hungarian operations are generally covered by the Act | of 2012
onthe Labor Code, which imposes various restrictions on the involuntarytermination of employment. The Labor Code protects
employee interests through two different labor organizations: the Trade Union and the Workers' Council.

The Trade Union, as the official representative of employee interests in negotiations relating to the terms of employment, has the right
to be informed of all corporate measures that may significantly affect the interests of employees and to commence legal action against
the Company for employment-related conduct that infringesan employment rule. Inaddition, the Workers’ Council directly represents
employee interests indealings with management and decides jointly with management on matters involving employee welfare funds
and institutions. The Workers’ Council must be informed semi-annually on issues affecting our economic performance and changes in
wages, employment conditions and working hours. The Workers’ Council mustalsobe consulted on corporate measures affecting
employees.

We believethat our relations with ouremployees are good. We have not experienced any labor strikes or disruptions since our
formation.
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3.3.6 Workforce Reduction and Redeployment

Magyar Telekom - in orderto ensurethe resources related to the Company’s strategic objectives - has reached anagreement with the
trade unions in 2018 on headcount reductionand wage increase measures for 2019.

According to the terms of the agreement, the Company plansto make ca. 400 parent company employees redundant The majority of
the employees to be made redundant are expected to have left the Company by the end of 2018 or by March 1, 2019. The company
shall provide active job search, labor market training and one-on-one counselling to the colleaguesaid off, inthe framework of
Program Chance, whichhas proven its success in the past years, and truststhat the above support these highly-trained employees of
up-to-date professional expertise in finding employment elsewhere as soon as possible.

[tis plannedto reinvest a significant proportion of the expected employee cost savings in resources related to the Company’s strategic
objectives.

Asfrom April 1, 2019, employee salaries at the Companywill rise by an average of 5%.
3.3.7 Pensions and Benefit Programs

Magyar Telekom'’s welfare and social benefits constitute an exceedingly wide-ranging pool. A part of them is granted to every
employee, while othersare available on certain conditionsor are of an insurance nature. In case of certain benefits, employee’s
individual contributionis a prerequisite of the employer's contribution. The way social benefits and discretionary benefitsare granted is
setoutinthe Collective Agreementand related regulations.

We provide employeeswithtelecommunicationallowances, subsidized meals, interest-free housing loans (such loans are not offered
or extended to the Company's Board of Directors), discount holidayfacilitiesand otherfringe benefits. In additionto our statutory
contributions to governmental health, retirement and unemployment schemes, we contribute to the employees' pension, healthand
self-aid savings, provided he is member of the voluntary fund, which provides private pension and health insurance as well as social
benefits supplementing government pension and health benefits. We do not, however, guarantee payment by the fund to its members.
In December 31, 2018, approximately 55% of employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. patticipated in the pension-, 36% in the self-aid-,
and 43.8% in the health fund.

3.4 Risk management
3.4.1 Providing educational and professional background

The educational pillar of Magyar Telekom's Sustainability Strategy aims to improve the digital competencies of the clientsand the
wider public. It also aims to contribute to the development of industrial succession knowing that a potential throwback inthe amount of
available highlyqualified professionals in theindustry could meana seriousrisk to maintaining, improvement and development of the
quality of our services. Inorderto secure the highest quality service to our clients we need work with the best professionals. To be able
to have them a competitive industrial educational background is necessary.

Upon the initiative and by funding of T-Labs (Telekom Innovation Laboratories, Berlin) the faculty Data Science and Engineering began
to operate at Edtvds Lorand University from September 2016 asthe first pillar of the EU Labs researcher network.

Magyar Telekomalso provides practice opportunitiesfor secondary school pupilsfrom the relevanttechnological industries. In2018
45 students have spent their obligatory practices atour company.

We supported the work of the Environment Protection Committee of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences aswell as the scientific work
ofthe National Adaptation Center. Ourcolleaguesarein close relationship with several higher educationinstitutes and we help the
universitieswithconsultancy for writing theses, expert education and giving lectures.

3.4.2 Employee expectations and equal opportunities

The pillars of our People Strategy are based on the aim to meet the needs of ouremployees, and to live up to the challenges of
maintaining ourcompany status as a highly competitive and future oriented employer. Ouremployees require security, stability,
opportunities foradvancement and competitive compensations. Magyar Telekom, as a company committed to provide equal
opportunities to its employees, finds it especiallyimportant to harmonize wages and to terminate unjust wage gaps. Our tiered wage
system, built on the Hay methodology, serves the above purpose. Ourremuneration system is fullytransparent thus our base wage
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tables and the relevant policies are available for allemployees. We pay extraordinary attention notto differ unreasonably the wages of
the employees performing the same tasksand that the wage differences between the employees reflect real work differences.

As an employer dedicated to diversity asa core value, Magyar Telekom finds it importantto raise the amount of women inleadership
positions. As a member of Deutsche Telekom Group the objectivein 2010 was to increase the proportionof female managers to 30%
by 2020. Along the aim to contributeto reaching the defined target, the company strives to utilize the actual business benefits inherent
to the advancement of corporate diversity culture.

Magyar Telekomconsiders stress, overload and burnout related risk-reduction as its priority dutyin relation to its employees. In order
to take charge of these risks by securing an empowering environment to develop and maintaina healthylifestyle, e mployeesare also
provided with coaching and trainingopportunities that help in the advancement of their task management skills. Efficient work-life
balance of employees with families is further supported by our child-friendly offices and the available, tax-free nurseryand/or
kindergarten support that could be selected from our cafeteria benefit scheme, thus contributing to the reduction of expenses. Taking
notice of the special conditions of employees (ex. illness or the longer term domestic care of a relative) a longer period of unpaid leave
is also available.

3.5 Performance indicators

Education results of the 2016-2020 Sustainability Strategy:
= 48051 smarter brains since 2016 withthe help of digitalinclusion programs eg. Digital Bridge, LTI

More women in leadership positions at Magyar Telekom Plc.
= Percentage of women in overallworkforce: 35.5%

= Percentage of women in senior management: 23.5%

= Percentage of women in executive board: 40%

3.6 ESOP organization

In 2018 the Company continued its incentive program based on the reshaped renumeration policy launchedin 2017. According to the
2018 program the central bonuselement of employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. will be paid through
the ESOP organization. In orderto maintain the program, the company has transferred 8 845 794 Magyar Telekomsharesto the
ESOP organization in two steps. The vesting condition of the 2018 year programis that is the operating free cash flow forthe MT-
Hungary segment for thefinancial year ending December 31, 2018 to exceed that forthe previous yearending December 31, 2017.1n
accordance with the remuneration programthose employees of the Company and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. are rewarded who are
under the personal scope of the Remuneration policyapproved on March 26, 2018 by the Company’s Board of Directors. Forfurther
informationsee Note 20.1.2.5 of the Financial Statements.

4 COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORY BOARD,
AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The aggregate compensation of the members of the Board of Directorsin their capacity asBoard memberswasHUF 13 millionin
2018.

The aggregate compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board in their capacity as Supervisory Board members was HUF 63
millionin 2018,

The total compensation expenses(including social security and other payroll-related taxes aswell ascontractual termination
expenses) of the members of the Management Committee (MC) was HUF 1,116 millionin2018.

OnDecember 31, 2018, five MC members have anemployment contract with indefinite duration. The notice period is two months for
all five of the indefinite contracts. Pursuantto Hungarian legislation, if an employment contract is terminated before the end of its term,
the absence fee received for the remaining period is up to 12 months. In case of one contract the severance paymentis in accordance
with the Labour Code and the Collective Agreement, forthe rest of the contracts the severance paymentisbetween 3 and 16 months.
The employment status of the sixth member of the MC got terminated as of December 31,2018.
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In addition to the above, the affected persons are bound by the non-compete clause, underwhichthe employee is barred from
entering into employment with any Hungarian or international competitor of Magyar Telekom and is required to refrain from providing
direct or indirect servicesor activities of any kind to such companies fora definite period (not longer than one year) upon termination
of his/her employment. Furthermore, such employee isbarred from anyactionaimed to recruit employees of Magyar Telekom forany
other company. This limitation entails certain compensation which is proportional with the above obligation. If the employee isin
breach of the agreement, he/she will reimburse the net amount of compensationto the employer. In addition, the employee will be
liable for a payment of compensation to the employer.

MC members from foreign countriesmay be entitled to housing subsidies. There are no current members affected by this entitlement.

In line with the Company’s remuneration guidelines, the Company provides contribution-based personal pension scheme and
personal insurance scheme on behalf of the MC members. In addition, the MC members are entitled to the use of companycars.

For information aboutthe Share Based Compensation programs see Note 20.1.2 of the Financial Statements.

5 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2018, within the scope of tender obligations, the research and development activities of Magyar Telekom were comprised of
maintaining the R&D tender project funded and awarded by the National Research, Development, and Innovation Fund.

During 2018, in addition to the tender obligation, we have continued the developmentof several project related products and services
that were based on the R&D activities of previousyears.

In addition to the above, in2018 we have continued ourcommon R&D projects with the Hungarian Academy of Sciences in thefields
Big Data. We have investigated the opportunities of modelling and forecasting mobilitytrends in city regions using mobile data.

In addition to innovative domestic SMEs, the research and development tasks are performed by the internal researchers aswell as the
product and services development staff of Magyar Telekom. In addition, the Companyleverages the synergistic effect of an internal
and external knowledge base, and strivesfor partnership with wellknown innovation centers and institutes of higher education. Our
main partners are renowned Hungarian universitiesand research institutes, such as the Budapest University of Technologyand
Economics, the Eotvos Lorand University, the Budapest Corvinus University, the Obuda University, and the Hungarian Academy of
Sciences.

Within the framework of cooperationlaunched in 2016, we have continued our work with the Technische Universitét Berlin, the
Department of Data Science and Data Technology operating at the Faculty of Informatics at the Eétvos Lorand University, the research
and development department of Magyar Telekomand Deutsche Telekom, and the Telekom Innovation Laboratories(T-Labs) in Berlin.

Asthe partner of EIT Digital, Magyar Telekom promotes and supports even closer cooperation between higher education institutions
andtheir industrial partners. Within this framework, the Budapest University of Technologyand Economics and the Eétvds Lorand
University provides professional support to students within the EIT Digital post gradual training system.

In 2018, we have launched the 2nd seasonof our internal idea incubation initiative the Mission T Program. All the applicants were from
the employees of the Magyar Telekomgroup. Within the framework of this program applications are received and after several rounds
of selection, the best fiveideas are realized to prototype level. Thiswill be followed by the go-live and business utilization of stand-alone
prototypes.

In addition to the above, Magyar Telekom also believes it importantto support R&D type knowledgetransfer projects. As a result, ithas
been an active participant of the EIT ICT Labs knowledge transfer program asa professional cooperating partner since 2012, and
cooperates several international R&D tender initiatives.

6 REALESTATE, SITESOF OPERATION

We have one of the largest real estate holdings in Hungary and we are alsoa major real estate owner. We use substantially all of these
properties fortelecommunications installations, offices, warehouses, garagesand shops. Our equipment and machinery primarily
consist of switches, communication towers and othertelecommunications equipment. In orderto increase the utilization of real estates
andincrease efficiency, we make effortsto sell our surplus properties.
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6.

1 The registered office of the Company:

1097 Budapest, Kényves Kalman korit 36.

6.2 Sites of the Company:

117 Budapest, Magyartuddsok krt. 9.
073 Budapest, Dob u. 76-78.

117 Budapest, Kaposvar u.5-7.
117 Budapest, Budafokiu. 103-107.
107 Budapest, Szavau. 3-5.

117 Budapest, Szerémi it 4.

117 Budapest, Budafoki ut 56.*
106 Budapest, Ors vezér tere 25. 1. em.
138 Budapest, Vaciut 178.

195 Budapest, Ull6i it 201.

191 Budapest, Vak Bottyanu. 75. a<c.
024 Budapest, Lovohazu. 2-6.2. em.
123 Budapest, Alkotas ut 53.

152 Budapest, Szentmihalyi Gt 131,
062 Budapest, Vaciut 1-3.

1

1

0

0

0

0

1

1

19 Budapest, Fehérvariut 79.*

33 Budapest, Huszti it 32.

82 Budapest, J6zsef utca 19-23.

95 Budapest, Soroksdri it 166/A.

98 Budapest, Tavird utca 3-5.

56 Budapest, Szaraznad utca 1-3.

48 Budapest, Ors vezér tere 24.
211 Budapest, Rakocz Ferencut 154-170.
1013 Budapest, Krisztinakrt. 55.*

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

*Cancelled from list of sites in the Articlesof Association as of 01.01.2019.

17 Budapest, Oktdber huszonharmadika utca 8-10.
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Out of the number of 1,702 buildings that take place on the 1,490sites of Magyar TelekomPlc, 48% is owned by the company, 5%
is jointly owned andthe rest 47% is leased. Thesefigures do not contain thetechnology sites, fromthesetypes of sites we have
6,128.

The total area of properties used by Magyar Telekom Plc. asof December 31, 2018 was 669,081 m? . The majority of sites used in our
operations are smaller than 100 m?. The largest site is our headquarters building (leased) located at Kényves Kalman krt. 36 in
Budapest, with floor space of over 55,000 m?

7 SUSTAINABILITY

Magyar Telekomhas been addressing the sustainabilityimplications of its operations for close to twenty years, andin 2000, it wasone
ofthe first Hungarian companiesto establish a sustainability unit that managed environmental issues in the beginning and coordinates
sustainability processes now. ltssustainability activitiesare characterized by comprehensive, long-term plans, and the Company is

currentlyimplementing itsfourthfive-year sustainability strategy.

Being a leading ICT provider of the region, we set an example and provide opportunities by our forward-ooking thinking, innovative,
sustainable products and services and responsible conduct, we contribute to the establishment of a renewable society and
environment.

Magyar Telekomcommitted to support the ten principlesset forth by the UN Global Compact since 2009 in the areas of human rights,
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environment and anti-corruption, the results of which are alsoaddressed by our Sustainability Reports.

Magyar Telekom's sustainability activities and achievements are comprehensively discussed in the annual Sustainability Reports,
which aims to makethe Magyar Telekom'’s environmental, social and economic activities transparent to everyone.

The present report includes reference onlyto certain key topics of our sustainability approach, namelyhuman rights, employe es,
environment protection and compliance.

Charters and initiatives of cooperation accepted and signed by Magyar Telekom

Besides professional challenges, Magyar Telekomalso seeks cooperationopportunities forthe solution of social and environmental
problems.

The Company has been an active memberof ETNO’s (European Telecommunications Network Operators Association) Sustainability
Workgroup foryears. The members work closely towards solving all kinds of sustainability-related programs. In addition to the three
meetings held eachyear,an internet portal also helps our joint work and contributes to the sharingof best practices.

Inrespect of the helloholnap! fee package we held variousforums with the involved organizations of people living withdisa bilities
(AOSZ, EFOESZ, MEOSZ, MVGYOSZ). Our cooperation with these bodies is continuous, active and based on the proposalswe
continuouslyimprove our relationship with disabled people and develop our relevant services. The latest version of the fee package
that provides several servicesat the cheap price for disabled people. Thusone living with disability customer can have alltogether
three subscriptions on theirown name.

We supported the work of the Environment Protection Committee of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences. Ourcolleagues are inclose
relationship with several highereducation institutesand we help the universitieswith consultancy for writing theses, expert education
and giving lectures.

OECD-Guidelines - Magyar Telekomhas been the first among the Hungarian companiesto accept OECD Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises and set them up asmandatory guidelines for its operations.

European Union’s Diversity Charter - has beensigned by the companyand considered as a mandatory guideline inherentin the
corporate Human strategy.

UN Global Compacthas beensigned by the companyand the current report also stands to report our achievements in the 10
principles.

UN Sustainable Development Goals - Magyar Telekom hasacknowledged the SDG and throughincorporating them asguidelinesin
its Sustainability strategy 2016-2020 the company finds the contribution to the goals a mandatory elementof its operations.

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) - Magyar Telekom has signed the global initiative and fuffillsits annual reporting obligations
The Groupis a member of several working groups of the Hungarian Business Leaders Forum (HBLF).

https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/society_and_environment/cooperation

Quality guaranteesin the Magyar Telekom Group can be found:
https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/about_magyar_telekom/principles/quality_guarantees

7.1 Sustainability strategy

In2016, Magyar Telekom started its newfive-year sustainability strategic cycle, 2016-2020.

In addition to the results of our Sustainability Strategy 2011-2015, the goals and tasks defined forthe period throughthe end of 2020
have been determined by the goals and directions applied intemationallyin terms of sustainable development (SDG, CDP, GeSl
SMARTer2030, EU2020 climate package), which we, asa Company, adhereto. Whenidentifying our priorities, we have focused on
the expectations of the responsible investors monitoring our companyand the current corporatetrends. Of course, local market

conditions, aswell as consumer behaviorand demand have also been taken into account, so that we be ableto proactivelymeetour
customers’ needs.
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When identifying our strategic goals, we kept in mind that our sustainable operationhas a significantimpact on the society, the
economy and the environment. In additionto being responsible forthe livable future of our several million customersand nearly 10
000 employees, asa market leader ICT provider and alarge enterprise of regional proportions, we are aware that our business and
operational decisionsinfluencethe economy and the society of the future, too. It isour firm belief that we, as a company, are
responsible forall the groups of people whom we can enable by ICT solutions, and that we haveto make social,economic and
environmental responsibility a part of our corporate genetic code to thus promote sustainable developmentand opportunities for
future generations.

The main objective set forth by the fourth Sustainability strategy covering the period through the end of 2020 is to make sustainability
part of Magyar Telekom’s business. Thiscanbe ensured, if considering all three pillars of sustainability, we are comprehensive,
credible and innovative.

Until 2020, climate protection, education and awareness, and digitally enabled sustainability arethe majorfociof the strategy.
Climate protection

Our goal isto make our customers climate-conscious, too, and to be an authentic and responsible companythat helps themalong that
journey. Itis our ambitious objective to generate revenue fromour climate protection activities, as the ICT world offers especially great
potential for that, at the sametime to push Magyar Telekom Group’s actual COz emission below 100,000 tons. In order to achieve the

above, in addition to the emissiondecreasing initiatives, we also need to work on elaborating “green” services specifically.

KPI: push Magyar Telekom Group’s actual CO2 emission below 100,000 tons
KPI: generate revenue from climate protection

Education

We wantto assumea role ineducating the public and our customers. Our goal is to directly orindirectly reach 100,000 people in
Hungary withour trainings by the end of the period covered by the strategy. We shall primarily focus thesetrainings on two areas:
programs aimed at eliminating the digital gap and the succession pool of the industry.

KPI: 1 000,000 digitally educated people in Hungary
Digitally enabled sustainability

Being a sustainable digital company, itisour clear expectationthat our customers should also use sustainable digital services. To that
end, we striveto pursue responsible marketing and activities that enable and inspire others, aswell as are based on sharing. In this
context, our goalis that awareness about Magyar Telekom, as a sustainable company should reach 50%.

KPI: awareness about Magyar Telekom, as a sustainable company should reach 50%

Awards and recognitions achievedin 2018:

= QOekom - B Primecategory, rank #1 in Telecommunication sector
= FTSE4Good Index membership

CEERIUS sustainabilityindexmembership

MSCI ESG rating AA

= Most Appealing Workplace Award
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7.2 Initiatives concerning stakeholders

In order to successfully operatethe company it is essential to have strong relations with stakeholders.
Below you will find a list of our key activities with our stakeholders the details of which are elaborated in the respective chapters of the
Sustainability Report:

= |nvestors - Investor (and responsible investor) assessment

= Customers - Sustainable products and services, hello holnap! mobile app

= Employees - community solar pilot, diversity culture survey, helloholnap! points

= Regulators - conformity, regulatory relations

= Local communities-Telekom Voluntary Day, Autistic Art Strategic Partnership (donations, voluntary, tablets, awareness videos),
Telekom Community Gardens

= Non-profit organizations - Sustainability Roundtable Discussion, 11th Sustainability Day

= Suppliers - sustainable supplier chain, TOP3 sustainable supplier of Magyar Telekom

= Media - Sustainability Media Club, Press Award on the Sustainability Day

= Future generations - Becomean IT expert! sustainable innovation, sustainable innovations

For the year of 2018 we started the communitysolar program pilot. Most of the electricity consumptionof the educational building in
Kékviragstreetis givenby solar panels located on the roof of the building. During the programemployees had the opportunityto adopt
asolar paneland get extra benefit in exchange. 113 solar panels had been adopted in 2 workdays.

In 2018, we organized the Sustainability Roundtable Discussion forthe 19th time, the objective of which is to have an open dialogue
with our stakeholders for the sake of understanding the demands towards Magyar Telekom, discussing the arising problems, and to
provide a suitable background for thinkingtogether and co-operating inbuilding a sustainable future.

In 2008, our Company founded the DELFIN (the word for dolphin in Hungarian) award, which in Hungarian stands for “Award fora
Committed, Sustainable, and Innovative Generation”. With the DELFIN award Magyar Telekom wants to promote the idea of a
sustainable development and recognize efforts made towardsthis goal. The award is given to suppliers offeringoutstanding
performance in thefield of sustainability, in four categories:

= Sustainable innovation;

= Diversity;

= Climate protection;

= Raising sustainability awareness.

Ajury of experts decides which submitted project should receive the award. The eleventh award ceremony took place on June 15,
2018, as part of the Sustainability Roundtable. In 2018, we recognized organizations and businesses promoting climate protection
and awareness raising.

The 11th Sustainability Day event took place on September 29, 2018. Thetopic of the day was liveliness. More than six thousand
visitors attended the event where they participated in panel discussions on thethree pillars of sustainabilityand examined pieces of
works submitted to the creative design exhibition as well as exhibitors.

The event presented an opportunity to hand over the Sustainability Media Award for the eighth time by the members of the
Sustainability Media Club - established by Magyar Telekom. Awards were distributed in three categories: tv/radio/videocontent,
written newspaper (print, online); blog, viog. The award amounted to HUF 300 000 for each category.

In 2018, we continued to sensitize our employees to socialissues by organizing volunteer work events. The strategic targetof the
corporate volunteering is 50,000 hours of voluntary work by Magyar Telekomemployees. To achieve that they had the possibility to
grow the amount of the theoretical contribution to society by educational (eg. Be an IT expert!,) and charity(eg. Itisgood to give!
cookie campaign) voluntary events and the Telekom Voluntary Day. The philanthropic voluntary programs are very popular among our
employees eg.the seasonal blood donation or helpingin caring homes operated by associationsfor youthlivingwith disabilities.
During the year 1059 colleaguesworked 11,991 hours of volunteer work, by means of which a theoretical amount of HUF 42.1 million
was thus donated to the society.

In 2018, the “hello holnap!” employee point collection was transformed. Inthe fifthyear of the initiative (between 1 April 2017 and 31
March 2018). The first three employees whocollected the mostpoints and the TOP 1 employee who collected the most points inthe
five-year period were given a Feldobox voucher. Near than 30,000 points were collected by 11,000 colleagues between 2013 and
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2018. After that employees collect pointsin “helloholnap!” mobile application.

The children’s protection website of Magyar Telekomdedicated to threats caused by children’s media consumption. The website
provides informationto parents not only aboutICT technologies, devicesand content, but also about threats caused by their usage
and consumption, as well as possible preventive measures. More details are available on:

http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/society_and_environment/society/protection_of_our_children.

We launched the “helloholnap!” mobile app on September 27,2014, by whichwe drew attention to Telekom’s sustainability efforts in
particular and sustainable lifestyles in general. By using the app, users can collect “helloholnap!” points and donate them, converted
into real money by Telekom, to non-governmental organizations of their choice. The successof the mobile application in 2018 isbest
represented by the factthat it has more than 17,000 downloads and HUF M 2.4 have been donated to the organizations connected to
the application.

One pillar of atypical staffing is telework, which is one of the most important sustainability aspects of the Future Work project. Working
from home in the framework of the project launched in July 2014 enabled the Company’s employeesto savetime and mileage. Thus,
drivers can relieve the environment of asmuchas 4 million kilometers and twenty years of travel in2018.

7.3 Annual Sustainability Report

Magyar Telekom Group has committed, among otherthings, to publishreports about its sustainability performance annually. Whenthe
reports are compiled the GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) guidelines are applied, thus ensuring compliance with the principle that the
reports have to be the cornerstones ensuring transparency and international comparability. Since 2007 Magyar Telekom has prepared
reports adhering to the highest level of compliance withinternational standards each year, thusthe 2013 SustainabilityReport was the
seventh to meet the requirements of the GRI A+ applicationlevel.

The 2014 and 2015 Sustainability Report was compiled along the Fourth-Generation Principles set forth by the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI G4), whilethe 2016 and 2017 Sustainability report was compiled along the newest requirement, the GRI Standard It was
applied on comprehensive level and includes more information about the Company’s sustainability performance. Theindependent
assuranceand certification of compliance with the GRI Standard criteriawas conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers along the ISAE
3000 international standard. Further details on the sustainability performance of the Company can be found in the annual reports
available on:

https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/society_and_environment/sustainability_reports

The 2018 Sustainability Report isgoing to be published in 2019 spring.

8 ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

8.1 Policies

Magyar Telekom upholds its commitment to sustainable developmentand the environment protection in the environmental policy. The
policy contains obligations forthe members of the Magyar Telekom bothindividuallyand as a Company:
https://www.telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/Magyar_Telekom_environmental_policy.pdf

The Group-level coordination is continued to be implemented underthe auspices of the Group Sustainability Coordination Council
(GSCC). The levels of development and management of the corporate sustainability strategy are separated fromthe operative
implementationlevel withinthe operation of the GSCC, thusthe process of implementing sustainability activities is divided to the
following levels:

1. Strategy development and strategy management level operating underthe auspices of the GSCC: development of strategic
concepts, implementation of the strategy, relevant communication with national and international organizations

2. Operativeimplementation level managed by relevant organisations of the governance areas and business units, actual operative
activities, task management, data provision etc.
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The operative management of Magyar Telekom, the Management Committee receives at least once a yeara report onthe
implementationof the tasks of the Company’s Sustainability Strategy and other ongoing significantsustainability activities, results,
potential exposures and opportunities.

The MC is informed on the latest sustainability trends and may respond to the feedback fromstakeholders through the annual report
and based on the report may decide on the amendment of the strategy. The MC keeps contact with the stakeholders through the
GSCC. Incoming inquiries are received by the respective professional areasand critical commentsregarding sustainabilityare
transferred to the responsible staff membersby the GSCC members. According to the relevant group directive the strategic tasks are
allocated to the respective Chief Officers.

8.2 Results of the policies

As a leading provider of info-communications services in the region, Magyar Telekom’s commitment to sustainable development witha
focus on preserving the environment lies in the centre of itsmission. In our new Sustainability Strategy 2016-2020 we set the ambitious
goal to reduce the level of our carbon dioxide emissionbelow 100 000 tons.

In 2018 we continued our carbonoffset project. We spent half of theincome of our company car policy regulated bonus-malus system
to carbon offset. Ouraim was to become carbon neutral again in 2018 too. We have reached our goal by using 100% renewable
energy for our electricityand we offset the rest of our emissions, by purchasing and retiring 30,000 CER (Certified Emission Reduction)
units. The reductioncame from a Chinese project. In 2018 Magyar Telekom Plc. has purchased 180 GWh of renewable energy that is
equal with 100% of the total amount of electricity used by the Company.

Our highlighted environmental and operational ecoefficiency goals are:

= Reducing our COzemissions (target set below 100 000 tons of CO2 by 2020)

= Energy consumption: saving energy (reduce consumption), increase of energy efficiencylevels, using greenenergy
= |ncreasethe energyefficiency of ourbuildings

= Decrease ourfleet consumption, promotion travel replacement solutions, and dematerialization solutions

= |ntroduction of sustainable and climate friendly products and services

= Waste management: reduction of waste (increased recycling-rate)

= Measure the climate footprint of our customersand suppliers

8.3 Risks

Based on the Business Continuity Management System (BCM) we have identified the critical climate risks(floods, heat waves) that
might affect our operations and we have prepared action plans for possible risk management. According to our annual assessment the
rate of climate damage in the network did not reach the level of intervention (HUF 50 million damage/ month). In 2018 we have
identified 228 climate related cases(storm damage) with the costs of 23.3 million HUF. During heatwaves we allow our colleaguesto
work remotelyin order to reduce the energy consumptionof our offices, and we increasethe core temperature of our datacentersand
base stations.

8.4 Performance indicators

Cumulated CO2 emission - 96,842 tons COz2

Group CO2 emissionby categories - Scope1: 21,783 tons CO2, Scope?2: 75,059 tons COz
Energy efficiency - bits transmitted / energy consumption - 115.47 Gbit/kWh

The average COz emission of thefleet - 114.9 g/km CO2

9 CORPORATE COMPLIANCE

When shaping the compliance program of the Magyar Telekom, the goal was to ensure that the Magyar Telekompursuesits business
activity with maximum awareness of and commitment to the compliance with the applicable laws and legal provisions, inaccordance
with the strictest norms of ethical business conduct. To this end, weissued decrees addressing the potentially arising compli ance-
related risks,and we applythe procedures set out in these decrees and arrange continuous training courses for ouremployees related
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to these procedures. We established clear concise processes to report, examine, follow up and correct suspected casesof non-
compliance.

The Corporate compliance program issupervised by the compliance officer. The compliance officer reports directlyto the Audit
Committee, and cooperates with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the management. The Corporate compliance
program focuses on the Code of Conduct.

Code of Conduct of the Magyar Telekom containsthe summary of the compliance requirementwithin the company, sets common
values of the Company and is a key to the strong position, reputation and successful future of Telekom. The Code of Conduct a pplies
to everyone within the Magyar Telekom from the employees to the members of the Board. In addition, contracted partnersof the
Magyar Telekomalsohaveto knowand accept these values, when registering to the procurementwebsite.

Inthe year 2010 an extemal independent party audited the implementation of the Compliance program, and we were awarded a
certificate of compliance with the external expectations and of the implementation of the system. The programwas revised in 2013,
including other related areas aswell - such as procurement, internal audit, HR, sales. The audit was not aimed onlyat the
implementationand cortrol of the system in the different areas, but it measured the operational efficiency of the control sy stem.
We met the expectations and were awarded by a certificateissued by Ernst&Youngas independent external party. In 2017 again an
external auditor (KPMG) evaluated the effectiveness of the compliance management system of Magyar Telekom, andissued a
certification that the program complieswith the requirements of the new anti-corruption ISO standard.

The first distance learming course addressing compliance was started in 2008 in the topic of “Conscious recognition of fraud and
corruption”. Sincethen we have been providing a general eLearning course for our new employees, mandatoryfor all colleagues
joining to the company. The course is completed with the acceptance of the Code of Conduct. Since the start of the program, 67 955
distance learning courseswere completed by the employees on entity level, related to topics, such as compliance awareness, supplier
due diligence, anti-corruption measures, incompatibility or insidertrading.

On the top of that, our company has arranged personal training sessionsfor employeesworking in professional areas exposed to
compliance and abuse related risks - both within the parent company and Hungarian and international subsidiaries - in thetopics of
organized anti-corruption behavior, screening of contracted partners and rules of giving and accepting gifts.

In 2018 - similarly to the practice of the previous years - risk analyses were conducted with the participation of organizations and
subsidiaries of Magyar Telekom Nyrt. Based on the results of the survey, acomprehensive audit was prepared for the potential
compliance and abuse risks, the result of which was submitted to the Audit Committee of the Company.

During the year we check the soundness of the reports submitted to our company in ¢ onnection with unethical behavior, and if
necessary, weacton thesereports. In case we identify actual abuses, we take care of the necessaryand adequate countermeas ures.
Magyar Telekom published all cases of corruption and the related countermeasures in accordance with the related applicable laws
and legal provisions.

9.1 Fight against bribery and corruption

9.1.1 Policies

Magyar Telekomdes not tolerate any attempts of corruption, so numerous procedures and policieswere introduced to prevent and
fight corruption. Magyart Telekom complies with the anti-corruptionrules the Group, and expects its business partners not engagein
unlawful activities (inlcuding breaching the anti-corruption laws) such as utilize anymoney or other services provided by Magyar
Telekom for unlawful purposes. This also includesdirector indirect payments to individual(s) to improve the perception of Magyar
Telekom (or any partiesacting forMagyar Telekom) or to influence anybusiness decision. Magyar Telekom strictly prohibits anyform
of corruption including (but not only), receiving personal advantages or monetary gains, accepting or providing bribes or promising
facilitating payments. The Company also prohibits employeesto make beneficial decisions towards family, friends or close or distant
acquaintances. Itis not allowed to provide anygift or invitation to anevent to third partiesif it could potentiallyinfluence any business
transaction. Magyar Telekomdoes not support morallyor financially any political parties, organizations or representatives of these.
Magyar Telekomwill not start business relations with third partiesthat violate the anti-corruptionclauses of the Compliance Programor
the basic principlesof the Code of Conduct.

Due Diligence procedures: There are no fixed procedures on howthorough due diligence should be to avoid legal responsibility or any

investigation as perthe anti-corruption laws. The aimof these procedures isto identify high-risk areas, and to provide indication when
further due diligence ore reviewis required.
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9.1.2 Result of the policies

During the year we have verified the plausibility of any complaints we have received about unethical behaviour and initiated internal
investigations if necessary. If we have identified any misconduct we initiated the necessary measures and actions. Anycomplaints
regarding breaches of internal or external rules can be sent to the Tell Me! portal of Magyar Telekom. Any questions regarding
corporate compliance can be asked on the Ask Me! intranet portal.

9.1.3 Risk

The basis and prequisite of the efficient defense against breachesof laws and policies is the register and analysis of compliance risks
and identified other compliance relevant casesat Magyar Telekom. Theyearly Compliance Risk Assessment (CRA) handles active and
passive corruption separately. The risk assessment alwaysincludes Magyar Telekom, T-Systems and Makedonski Telekom. Other
subsidiaries can be included on a case-by-case basis, based on information originating fromintemal investigations. The CRAfully
covers the abovementioned companies. The Compliance Officerinforms the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors, and the
management about the result of the risk assessment and givesan update about the status of the measures in every quarter.

10 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENTS

The telecommunications industryis undergoing a major change globally. Worldwide trends are driving towards an integrated
telecommunications, information, media and entertainment market. The increasing need for mobility and interactivity together with
local specificscreatea newset-up in oureconomic environment in terms of infrastructure, servicing and newtypes of business
models.

Traditional telco markets are shrinking on midterm. Market forvoice services (both mobile and fixed) is saturated and voice services
becoming a utilitywithflattariffs and simple offers. There is an increasing demand for data services driven by content consumption but
strong competition puts pressure on prices. The centre of offering is dataservice both on fixed and mobile focusingon speed infixed
and unlimited on mobile. The fixed market is characterized by fixed-mobile integrated bundles, with broadband becoming a core
element of service offerings. After finalization of Vodafone - UPC merge we still expect Digi - still struggling to launchits ownmobile
service - to enterthe market asa third FMC operator.

Mobile market is characterised by great quality and coverage fromnetwork perspective. The mobile broadband uptake still fuelsthe
overall mobile market. However, the increasing regulation, in particularthe abolishment of roaming fees and the decreasein mobile
termination rates, is putting further pressure on market players. 2019 is the year of introduction for 5G networks as well . 5G networks
is no longer the network with residential segment focus, but ratherthe industrial usage.

The growing economic environment had a positive effecton the households’ budget in recent years. The growing budgets however
are hardto translate into growing telco spending.

11 TARGETSANDSTRATEGY

11.1 Outlook

The telecommunications industryis undergoing significant changes globally. We have observed severallong-term trendswhich are
changing the structure of the telecommunications market. These longterm trends include changes in technology (Digitalization, AR &
VR, Al, autonomous driving, 10T), customer requirements (e.g., media consumptioneverywhere, wearables, eHealth solutions)and
competition and regulation (e.g. low entry barriers, new business models, convergence in the telecommunicationsand media
broadcastindustry).

Each of our business segments is affected by their own unique business environment,and we are subjectto circumstances and e vents
that are unforeseen or are beyond our control. The global economy recovered from the crisisand passed the first shock of Brexit and
the uncertainty of Trump’s appearance. Our business environment largely depends on the monetary policy of the FED, the growth of
the Chinese and European economy and the movements of EU funds. The last 3 years have brought significant prosperity inthe world
economy and that pulled the Hungarian economy too.

The biggest challenges forMagyar Telekom are the intense optical rollout in fixed and the datatraffic increase of the mobile market
while competition is ready to challenge Magyar Telekomon the FMC market on midterm . We aim to keep the leading position on our
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key marketswith the continuously growing number of customers with Magenta 1 offers whichconnect the mobile and fixed services,
and with the improvement & utilization of the HSI (high speed internet) network. In addition, the SI/IT market is expected to grow
further thanksto the developmentof digital economy; our intentionis to increase our market share througha greater focus on high
margin systemintegration projects. On midtermthere is afocus on increasing the income of service based solutions forthe business
segment.

11.2 Strategy

As aresult of our focused strategic efforts, Magyar Telekom maintained itsleading position inits Hungarian fixed voice, broadband,
pay TV, mobile and ICT businessesin 2018, we successfully improved customer retention and delivered strong volumefigures. We
builta word class 4G mobile network and preparing to roll out 5G while massively improving our fixed line optical coverage inthe
comingyears.

Based on our improved network capabilitieswe aim to provide services to all segmentand customer on voice, TV broadband and IT
markets. The strategic objective in the mid-termis to become more agile, enhance efficiency, simplifythe product and services
portfolio, increase process automation and online customer servicing. As an integrated provider, we continueto delivera unique
customer experience supported by our leading brand and best technology.

While anticipating new competencies required by the changing customer behaviour, technological advances, and new business
models, we aim to exploitour abilities to becomea leaderin all digital services around the home for both customers and third parties.

Following our strategy enables us to exploit and develop our extended customer base, improve efficiencyand capture growth
opportunities in an extended marketof information and communicationstechnology and related industries, whichsecures stable cash
generation in the long run.

12 INTERNALCONTROLS, RISKSANDUNCERTAINTIES

12.1 The presentation of the systems of internal controls and the evaluation of the activity in the relevant period

Magyar Telekom’'s management is committed to establish and maintain an adequate internal cortrol system to ensurethe reliability of
the financial reports, and minimize operating and compliance risks. Ourinternal control system is designed to provide reasonable
assuranceregarding thereliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

For the business year 2018 we accomplished control documentation and evaluation inthe IT supported ICS'system. Transaction Level
Controls describe the controls built intoour business processes that have beendesigned and operated to ensure that material
misstatements in eachsignificant financial account and disclosure within the financial statements are prevented or detected in a timely
manner.

Complete evaluation of ourinternal control systemis based on the method established in “Internal Control —Integrated Framework”
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The operation of the internal control
system is supported also by the independent internal audit function. Beyond tasks regarding the risk based intemal audit work plan,
contributes to the enhancement of the intemal control processesand to the reduction of existing risks through ad-hoc audits. The
Internal Audit areafollowsup the implementation of the measures defined on the basisof the audits. The Supervisory Board and the
Audit Committee receive regular reportson the findings of the audits; measures, based on the findings and fulfilment of tasks.

Inline with the criteria of the adopted internal control framework, management evaluates the effectiveness of internal contr ol system
within eachfinancial year. Management’sassessment for 2018 is finished, and based on the collected information internal control
system has been operating effectivelyto prevent potential material misstatements in the financial statements, and minimize o perating
and compliance risks.

The Company’s shareholders are being informed about the operation of ourinternal control system through our public reports.

The management and Board of Directors of Magyar Telekom are committed to conduct all business activities of Magyar Telekom Group
according to the highest legal and ethical standards. Based on this commitment the Board of Directors established the Corporate

"Internal Control System
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compliance program of Magyar Telekom.

The Corporate compliance program is applicable to all bodies, organizations, employees of Magyar Telekom Group, and advisors,
agents, representatives as well as to all persons and organizations that work on behalfof the Companyor itssubsidiary.

The Corporate compliance program of Magyar Telekomensuresthat the business activities of the Group are conducted with observing
and in compliance with the relevant laws to the outmost extent, according to the highest standards of training and commitment. It
requires the realization of guidelinesand processes that manage potential compliance risks and implement specific processes in order
to report, investigate, monitorand correct suspected or actual lack of compliance.

12.2 The utilization of financial instruments, risk management and hedging policies

Itis our policy that all disclosuresmade by us to our security holders and the investment community, are accurate and compl ete,and
fairly present ourfinancial conditionand results of operations in all material respects. Such disclosures should be made on atimely
basis as required by applicable laws, rules and regulations. To achieve these objectives we developed and have continuously
enhanced our risk managementpolicies.

Our risk management includes the identification, assessment and evaluation of risks, the development of necessary action plans, as
well as the monitoring of performance and results. Forthe risk management to be effective, we must ensure that the management
takes business decisions with full understanding of all relevant risks.

In 1999, we established a formal risk management system. This system has beenoperating in anintegrated way with the risk
management system of Deutsche Telekom since 2002.

All risks related to material internal and external operations, financial and legal compliance and certain other risks are evaluated and
managed by a well-defined internal mechanism. A risk management handbook and an internal regulation on risk management were
issued. A risk management course was developed foremployees responsible for risk management inall organizational areas. Risk
items affecting our operations are reviewed quarterly throughout the Company. All of our subsidiaries, business units, divisions and
entities are obliged to identify and report their operational riskson a quarterly basis. After the evaluation of these risks, results are
reported to our management, to the Board of Directors and to the Audit Committee.

For the sake of promptdisclosure of all risk items influencing investors' decisions, we enhanced our risk management procedures by
adding a new element. We complemented our quarterly risk reporting systemwith a continuous reporting procedure which requiresall
of our departments and subsidiaries to report on a real-time basisany new material fact, information or riskthatcomes to their
knowledge. Information thus submitted is monitored and evaluated by the risk management area and the CFO is notified when a new
materialrisk orinformation is identified.

Aninternal regulationhas beenissued to define responsibilities of eachemployee in risk monitoring and management.
12.3 Risk factors

Our financial condition, results of operations or the trading prices of our sharescould be materially adversely affected by any of the
risks described below. These risks are not the onlyrisks we face. Additional risks not currentlyknown to us, orrisks that we currently
regard as immaterial, could alsohave a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or the trading prices of
our shares.

= Qur operations are subject to substantial government regulations, further restrictions related to consumer protection were
published; the change of the price setting methodology of already regulated wholesale products and new type of regulated access
services are probable, which can result in adverse consequences for our business and results of operations;

= Net neutrality regulationhas no defined framework in Hungary yet. Case-by-case decisionsof the Regulatory Authority may hinder
innovation;

= We are subject to more intense competition in the fixed business due to meeting our competitorson more and more areaas a
result of the network roll-outs;

= Hungariantelecommunication market realigns, so we may be subject of more intense competition in the mobile and fixed
business (Digi-Invitel acquisition, Vodafone-UPC acquisition, ownership change of Telenor);

= Beyond current market players in Hungary, DIGl also acquired 2x5 MHz spectrum block in the 1800 MHz band and 1x20 MHz
spectrum blockin the 3400-3600 MHz band, and will most probably enterthe mobile market as a new player ;
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= We may be unableto adapt to newtrends and technological changesin the telecommunications market (loT, Big Data, Al, 5G);
= The future of our current operational model is subjectto currently unforeseeable changesin the future business environment;

= Developments inthe technology and telecommunications sectors mayresult inimpairment of the carrying value of certainof our
assets;

= Qur business may be adversely affected by actual or perceived health risks associated with mobile communicationstechnologies;
= System failures could result in reduced user traffic and revenue and could harmour reputation;
= Lossof key personnel could weakenour business;

= Qurshare price may be volatile, and the abilityto sell our shares may be adversely affected due to the relatively illiquid market for
our shares and ADSs;

= The value of our investments, results of operationsand financial conditioncould be adversely affected by economic developments
in Hungary and other countries;

= Unpredictable changes in the Hungariantax regulations may have anadverse effect on ourresults;
= Fluctuations inthe currency exchange rate could have an adverse effecton our results of operations;
= Disputes and litigation with regulators, competitorsand other parties could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

= The number of cyber attacks have been evolving at an exponential rate recently worldwide. AlthoughMagyar Telekom provides
services withhighest security-standards and constantly tests and updates its cyber security countermeasures, it cannot be fully
excludedthat the Company will be subject of a cyber attack.

12.4 Financial risk management

The classification of the Company’s financial instruments is described in detail in Note 4 and the financial risk management of the
Company is described in detail inNote 5 of the Financial Statements.

13 ANALYSISOF FINANCIALRESULTSFOR 2018

13.1 Revenues

Total revenues increased from HUF 471.5 billionin 2017 to HUF 493.3 billion in 2018 (HUF 491.4 billion excluding the impact of IFRS
15 adoption), driven primarily by the significant growth inequipment and mobile data revenues.

Mobile revenuesincreasedto HUF 310.2 billion in 2018, compared to HUF 291.8 billion in 2017, thanksto the continued dynamic
increasein mobile data revenues and strong demand for smart devices.

= Voice retail revenuesdeclined 5.4%to HUF 120.5 billion in 2018, reflecting the adoption of IFRS 15. Excluding its impact, voice
retail revenues rose by 1.0%driven by a higher post-paid ratio which counterbalanced tariff pressure.

= Voice wholesale revenueswere HUF 6.9 billionin2018 and did not change significantly since the previous year.

= Data revenues grew by 9.3%to HUF 73.8 billionin 2018 or HUF 77.5 billion excluding the impact of IFRS 15 adoption. This trend
was driven by continued growth in subscriber numbers and data usage.

= SMSrevenuesincreased by 12.1% to HUF 18.0 billion in2018 primarily as aresult of further growth in mass messaging revenues.

= Mobile equipment revenuesincreased by 33.7%to HUF 80.0 billionin 2018 (13.4%to HUF 67.9 bilionexcluding the impact of
IFRS 15 adoption) driven primarily by higher average handset prices.

Fixed line revenues increased to HUF 175.9 billion in 2018, up fromHUF 165.7 billion in the previousyear. The continued decline in
voice revenues wasfully offset by improvements in TV, broadband and equipment revenues.

= Voice retail revenuesdecreased by 7.6%to HUF 37.3 billion in 2018, primarily due to a further reduction in average tariff | evels,
combined with theimpactof lower customerbase.

= Broadband retail revenues increased by 6.3%to HUF 42.0 billionin 2018 (8.4%to HUF 42.8 billion excluding theimpact of the
IFRS 15 adoption)thanks to the customer base expansion was coupled with someincrease in the broadband ARPU level.

= TVrevenuesincreased by 3.4%to HUF 38.9 billion in 2018 (4.8%to HUF 39.4 billion excluding the impact of the IFRS 15
adoption), thanksto higher revenues from the dynamic growth of the customer base and stable ARPU.
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= Fixedequipment revenues rose fromHUF 8.7 billion in 2017 to HUF 17.1 billion in 2018 (HUF 14.2 billion excluding the impact of
IFRS 15 adoption). The significantincrease was largely attributable to a strong sales of smartdevices to retail customersrose
substantially.

= Data retail revenues declined by 13.9%to HUF 8.3 billion in 2018. This was primarily due to the absence of one-off revenue
recordedin 2017, delivered by a major projectrelated to the 2017 Swimming Word Championship (FINA).

= Wholesale revenuesincreased by 12.6%to HUF 14.8 billionin 2018, driven by higherwholesale voicetransit revenues.

System Integration (SI) and IT revenues amounted to HUF 7.2billion in 2018, compared to HUF 9.4 billion in 2017, dueto a higher
volume of equipment delivery projects in 2017 comparing to 2018.

Energy Services were discontinued following the exit fromthe residential segment of the electricity market, as of November 1, 2017.

13.2 Directcosts

Direct costsincreased from HUF 174.6 billion in 2017 to HUF 197.2 billion in 2018 (HUF 195.6 billion excludingthe impactof IFRS 15
adoption), mainly due to higher other direct costs.

= Interconnect costs grew 14.6% to HUF 16.3 billion in 2018, driven by a highervolume of off-net maobile traffic that led to higher
payments to other mobile operators.

= SI/IT service related costs decreased by 21.6%to HUF 6.4 billion in 2018, due to a highervolume of equipment delivery projects
in2017 comparingto 2018.

= Energy services were discontinued following the exit from the residential segmentof the electricity market, as of November 1,
2017,

= Baddebt expensesincreased fromHUF 5.0 billionin 2017 to HUF 8.2 billion in 2018 (HUF 7.2 billion excluding the impact of IFRS
9and 15 adoption). This was driven by a higher bad debt expense resulting fromthe strong growth in revenues aswell asthe
absence of the positive one-off impact recorded in2017 which stemmed fromthe application of lower impairment rates.

= Telecomtaxincreasedby 1.7%to HUF 25.4 billion in 2018, driven by higher mobile voice trafficin both residential and business
segments attributable to the growingshare of flat rate packages.

= QOtherdirectcostsincreased by 20.0%to HUF 141.0 billionin 2018 primarily dueto the higher cost of equipment sales, inline with
higher salesvolumes. TV and other content related costs and roaming paymentsalsogrew.

13.3 Gross profit

Gross profit decreased to HUF 296.1 billionin 2018, from HUF 296.9 billion in 2017.

13.4 Employee-related expenses

Employee-related expenses grew 0.5% year-onyearto HUF 56.9 billion, as a combined result of changed trainee employment form
and a 5% average wageincrease.

13.5 Other operating expenses

Other operating expensesdeclined from HUF 85.9 billionin 2017 to HUF 85.7 billion. Cost saving measures implemented during the
year resulted in lower HR-related, IT maintenance and energy costs which less thanoffset increased rental fees and maintenance
costs. Utilitytax was also 3.5% lowerin 2018. This reflected the positive effects of Magyar Telekom’s tax credit relating to new network
investments and upgrades, to enable internet access at speeds of at least 100 Mbps.

13.6 Other operatingincome

The increase of Other operating income reflects the one-off gain realized on the sale of the old headquarters.

13.7 EBITDA

EBITDA grew by 1.4% to HUF 155.1 billion in 2018, thanks to the higher other operating income.
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13.8 Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization (D&A) expenses increased by 6.8% to HUF 93.8 billion in2018. The higher D&A expenses resulted
from the shortened useful lives of customer connections related network equipment.

13.9 Operating profit

Operating profit decreased moderately from HUF 65.1 billionin 2017 to HUF 61.3 billion in 2018 asincreases in EBITDA were offset
by the higher D&A expenses.

13.10 Netfinancial result

Net financial loss narrowed from HUF 20.9 billion in2017 to HUF 16.9 billion in 2018, thanksto the lower average debt level, as well as
areduction in losses on the fairvaluation of derivatives versus2017. Thisoccurred due to different EUR-HUF exchange rate and yield
developments between the two periods.

13.11 Income tax

Income tax decreased from HUF 13.1 billionin 2017 to HUF 10.9 billion in 2018. The decline reflects one-off corrections made in
2017, whichresulted in the increase of the 2017 incometax.

14 SUBSEQUENTEVENTSBETWEEN THEEND OF THE YEARAND THE RELEASE OF THE
REPORT

InJanuary 2019, the sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings was completed, representing the last remaining transaction of the
comprehensivereal estate agreement signed with WING Group on May 19,2015. The salesprice amounted to EUR 11.3 million.

Budapest, February20, 2019.

—

| —— =
L / 4
Tibor Rékasi Jano$ Szabd
Chief Executive Officer, Board meber ChiefFinancial Officer
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Declaration

We the undersigned declarethat

= the attached annualfinancial statements which have been prepared inaccordance withthe applicable set of accounting
standards and to the best of ourknowledge, gives a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss
of Magyar Telekom Plc. and

= the business report gives a fairview of the position, development and performance of Magyar Telekom Plc., together with a
descriptionofthe principalrisks and uncertainties of its business.

Budapest, April 9, 2019
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Tibor Rékasi ‘ }a'nb'é/SZabd
Chief Executive Officer, ChiefFinancial Officer

Member of the Board
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